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NASDAQ Global Market on that date of $4.09 per ghdhis number is provided only for the purposénhaf report on Form 1-K and does nc
represent an admission by either the registraahgrsuch person as to the status of such person.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly irm 1. “Business” and Item 7. “Management’s Discossand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” and the doents incorporated by reference, include forwardking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section Z1BeoSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amerAlestatements, other than statements of
historical fact, are statements that could be defeward-looking statements, including, but natited to, statements regarding our future
financial position, business strategy and plans ahpctives of management for future operationseiMiised in this Annual Report, the wo
“believe,” “may,” “could,” “will,” “estimate,” “con tinue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statementellan our current expectations and projectionswtfature events and financial
trends that we believe may affect our financialditian, results of operations, business strategpristerm and long-term business operations
and objectives, and financial needs. These forwaolting statements are subject to certain risks andertainties that could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those reflectextie forward-looking statements. Factors that dozduse or contribute to such differences
include, but are not limited to, those discussethig report, and in particular, the risks discudasnder the heading “Risk Factors” and those
discussed in other documents we file with the $gesiand Exchange Commission. Except as requiydds, we do not intend to update these
forward-looking statements publicly or to update the ressactual results could differ materially from tleasnticipated in these forward-
looking statements, even if new information beccaweagable in the future.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuorj the forward-looking events and circumstanéssugsed in this report and in the
documents incorporated in this report may not ocaud actual results could differ materially and adsely from those anticipated or implied
in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly,dees are cautioned not to place undue relianceuwrhdorward-looking statements.

PART I.

Item 1. BUSINESS

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formgddsmetech plc, or Osmetech, in Delaware in Ferd@t0, and had no operations pi

to its initial public offering which was completé@dJune 2010. Immediately prior to the closingtdd tnitial public offering, GenMark acquired
all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Osmeteehreorganization under the applicable laws eflnited Kingdom. As a result of the
reorganization, all of the issued ordinary shane®$metech were cancelled in consideration oh@)issuance of common stock of GenMark to
the former shareholders of Osmetech and (ii) theasce of new shares in Osmetech to GenMark. Fioigpthe reorganization, Osmetech
became a subsidiary controlled by GenMark, anddiraer shareholders of Osmetech began to hold slwir@enMark. Any historical
discussion of GenMark relates to Osmetech anditsalidated subsidiaries prior to the reorganizatio

References herein to “we,” “us” or “our” refer te@@ark Diagnostics, Inc. unless the context speadiff requires otherwise.

Overview

We are a molecular diagnostics company focusedeoaldping and commercializing our proprietary e®eietection technology. Our
proprietary electrochemical technology enables fasturate and highly sensitive detection of up2dalistinct biomarkers in a single sample.
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance fromRbed and Drug Administration, or FDA, and is desigito support a broad range of
molecular diagnostic tests with a compact and éasyse workstation and self-contained, disposaddedartridges. Within 30 minutes of

1
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receipt of an amplified DNA sample, our XT-8 systproduces clear and accurate results. Our XT-&sysupports up to 24 independent test
cartridges, of which each can be run independergguylting in a highly convenient and flexible wibokv for our target customers, which are
hospitals and reference laboratories.

We have developed four diagnostic tests for usk aitr XT-8 system and expect to expand this testuny introducing two to four new tests
annually. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, Wihiletects pre-conception risks of cystic fibrosis, Warfarin Sensitivity Test, which
determines an individual's ability to metabolize tral anticoagulant warfarin, and our Thrombophiisk Test, which detects an individual's
increased risk of blood clots, have received FD#aince. Our eSensor technology has demonstrad8é 4€curacy in clinical studies
compared to DNA sequencing in our Cystic Fibroseh@yping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and dhrombophilia Risk Test. We have
also developed a Respiratory Viral Panel Test, hietects the presence of major respiratory virasess labeled for investigational use o

or IUO. We intend to seek FDA clearance for ourpgi@sory Viral Panel Test in the second quarte?@f1. We also have a pipeline of several
additional potential products in different stagéd@velopment or design, including diagnostic téstsan individual’s sensitivity to Plavix, a
commonly prescribed anti-coagulant, and for mutetim a gene known as K-ras, which is predictivarofndividual’s response rates to certain
prescribed anti-cancer therapies.

We are also developing our next-generation platfahm NexGen system. We are designing the NexGstesy(formerly referred to as the
AD-8 system) to integrate DNA amplification withroeSensor detection technology to enable techridiaplace a minimally prepared patient
sample into our test cartridge and obtain resuitisout any additional steps. This sample-to-ansvegability is enabled by the robust nature of
our eSensor detection technology, which is not inegaby sample impurities that we believe hindeanpeting technologies. We are designing
our NexGen system to further simplify workflow apbvide powerful, cost-effective molecular diagnossolutions to a significantly
expanded group of hospitals and reference labadeator

Our XT-8 system and planned menu of tests are digigého improve patient care and physician practigegroviding high value, clinically
useful information that aids in the diagnosis aedise and the selection of treatments tailored todividual's genetic profile. We believe that
these improvements in patient care are economia#tiigictive to our customers who are generally beirsed for these tests by third-party
payors and managed care providers through esteligimbursement codes. Given historically positeismbursement levels and because the
XT-8 system is designed to be flexible and easys®e; we believe that our customers will choosestéopm a broad range of tests on our
platform, in some cases providing our customerh waturces of diagnostic test revenue previouslyaiteble to them. By focusing our prod
development and commercialization efforts on highug, clinically useful opportunities in genetidanfectious diseases, cancer and
personalized medicine, we believe we will drive @gdread clinical adoption of our products.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become the market leading providerubomated, multiplex molecular diagnostic testiygtems. We intend to expand the use of
our XT-8 system and diagnostic tests targeting @afig those reference laboratories and hospitateé United States which perform a high
volume of molecular diagnostic tests. To achieve dbjective, we intend to:

» Expand our Menu of Clinical Diagnostic Products. We intend to develop a broad menu of moleculaguibstic tests that v
believe satisfy important medical needs and wilalieactively reimbursed by third-party payors. @e pursuing and intend to
continue to pursue FDA clearance or approval fortests. We intend to explore tests that are edtready in high demand or
projected to experience rapid growth. We plan fo gacess to these tests by in-licensing, whereired|, the appropriate
biomarkers that have shown correlations to diseast#eerapeutic respons

» Growour Installed Base of Customers. We have identified those laboratories and holspitethe United States that we believe will
be high volume customers and who will benefit froamn eSensor technology. We intend to leverage ommeercial organization to
drive placements of our >-8
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system. We anticipate expansion of our installexelad customers will drive sales of our test cdgeis, from which we anticipa
generating the majority of our revenu

* Increase Utilization of Tests. We intend to increase the use of our diagnostitstby developing and offering tools and support
tailored to our products such as accredited phgrsieducation programs and seminars, product tgafioinour customers and
reimbursement support. These activities will ai@stablishing the clinical utility of multiplex medular diagnostic tests, which we
believe will increase adoption of our produt

» Develop our NexGen System . We are developing our NexGen system to providenaplete sample to answer solution for our
customers. The NexGen system will retain all thet@mer benefits of our XT-8 system while also inédigng automated nucleic
acid extraction and amplification. These featurdseliminate the need for time consuming and coex@ample preparation steps
and allow technicians to place a raw or minimalggared patient sample into our test cartridge hé&te already demonstrated
feasibility of direct sample to answer on a NexGgstem prototype using diluted blood. We believs #uvancement will make c
technology attractive to a broader range of holpétad laboratories that lack the technical or ectic resources to perform
molecular diagnostic testing with existing produatsl technology. We believe such workflow enhancemmay expand our target
user base from some 1,000 customers to over 50@bial customers in the United Stat

» Expand Internationally and Explore Out-Licensing Opportunities . We plan to offer our molecular diagnostic produotEuropea
and other international markets in the future. Wcgpate using marketing partners and distribursve expand internationally.
We are developing a distribution strategy for E@apand other international markets. We expeapplement marketing
partnerships with specialists who will train ourtpars’ sales forces and provide technical suppdet.also intend to explore
opportunities to leverage our intellectual propgrgition in detection technologies through ougtising or the establishment of
partnerships

Our Products
Out XT-8 System

Our XT-8 system is an automated molecular diagoaststem that enables reference laboratories aspithts to perform fast, accurate and
easy-to-use molecular diagnostic tests. The XTsBesy, which employs our proprietary electrochemiledéction technology, consists of a
compact bench-top workstation with an integrateathoscreen computer and an analyzer module intohathie self-contained, disposable test
cartridges are inserted. The XT-8 system is usendity, intuitive, requires minimal maintenance gmdvides laboratories with the ability to
perform multiplex molecular diagnostic tests inedficient and cost-effective manner. Specificallig believe that our XT-8 system and related
diagnostic tests will offer reference laboratordesl hospitals the following benefits:

» Versatile Platform for a Broad Menu . Our XT-8 system has broad application across a numbeea$ @ molecular diagnost
testing. In addition to our FDA&leared Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, WarfaemsStivity Test and Thrombophilia Risk Test,
our Respiratory Viral Panel Test, which is labdi@dlUO, we have a pipeline of several additionaddqucts in development or
design in the fields of pharmacogenetics, genasieades, infectious diseases and cancer. We asntiyrdeveloping a Plavix
Sensitivity Test and a K-ras Mutation Test, andhaee a pipeline of potential products in variougss of development or design.
Laboratories using our system will be able to humadditional tests we offer without any additiocapital investment or operator
training.

» FDA-Cleared Products .. We have received FDA clearance for our Cystiedsts Genotyping Test, Warfarin Sensitivity Testl
Thrombophilia Risk Test, while our Respiratory ViRanel Test is labeled for [IUO. We intend to sutwor Respiratory Viral Pan
Test to the FDA for clearance in 2011. We intendttize IUO-labeled products in clinical studieghin the broader process of
seeking FDA clearance for our diagnostic te
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* Easeof Use. Our XT-8 system eliminates the need to use complex ingintation to generate test results. Ou-8 systerr
minimizes manual processing steps and streamlia@sahalysis, making molecular diagnostic testirgjlable to a broad spectrum
of laboratories without the need for highly skillegthnicians. As a result, our XT-8 system can igi@wational reference
laboratories with the ability to perform our merfunlecular diagnostic tests across all of thetakions. We also designed our XT-
8 system to require minimal maintenan

» Accuracy and Reliability . Our XT-8 system provides accurate and reliabléemdar diagnostic test results. We have demorestrat
100% accuracy in clinical studies compared to D4uencing in our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Teat, Warfarin Sensitivity
Test and our Thrombophilia Risk Test. Our XT-8 sysiimits technician contact with a patient samfilereby reducing
contamination risk. It also provides clear repam#imizing the risk of human error and increasihg repeatability of test resul

» Enhanced Laboratory Work Flow . Our unique platform allows for random accesgherability to initiate tests while other tests
in progress, resulting in a highly convenient aedible workflow. Our XT-8 system provides randowotass for up to 24
independent test cartridges. In addition, our gesary electrochemical detection technology stré@es|the sample preparation
process and eliminates the need for the additimashing steps required by some other detectionadstlsuch as optical or
fluorescent detection. Laboratories using our X3y8tem can expect to obtain test results withim8tutes of receipt of the
amplified DNA sample, resulting in a total turnanduime of generally under four hou

*  Multiplex Capability . Our XT-8 system can detect up to 72 separate biomarkersiimgle test cartridge. This allows laboratotie
run multiple tests or panels on an individual pateample in a one-step detection process. Thighility reduces the time required
for a laboratory to perform a diagnostic analykat involves multiple genetic markers or infectiaisease pathogens, which
otherwise would require the laboratory to run npiétj separate molecular diagnostic te

Our XT-8 system consists of a compact bench-togkstation with an integrated touch screen computdram analyzer module into which the
self-contained, disposable test cartridges aratedeThese features make the XT-8 system userdigeintuitive and virtually maintenance-
free. With a footprint of approximately 16-by-1&ires in its standard configuration, the 8 Bystem takes up less bench top space than n
our competitors’ systems, and its standalone desigws it to be installed and used without anyuieef laboratory modifications.

Prior to performing a test, a laboratory technidies isolated DNA from the patient sample andopers a DNA amplification step with
materials supplied with our test cartridge. In sarases, the technician also performs a routineraatig treatment before adding our
proprietary signal probes and transferring thetfmiunto the sample compartment in our test adgi The technician enters sample
identification and reagent information into our XTsystem using the supplied bar code wand or ogesdkeyboard and inserts the test
cartridge into an open slot on the analyzer modihe. on-board computer automatically assimilatpstiinformation and test cartridge
information from the memory chip on the test cdgg and initiates the specified test protocol. THsting process takes under four hours to
complete, and the test results can be viewed ohuliein touch screen monitor 30 minutes afteriteertion of test cartridges into the XT-8.
Test results can also be printed out or reportealitih the laboratory’s computer information system.
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The key features of our XT-8 system include:

Key Features Characteristics

Ease of Usi Intuitive touct-screen interface and clear repc

Multiplex Capability Detects up to 72 distinct biomarkers in a singlaga

Accurate Results Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our WarfarenSitivity Test and our Thrombophilia
Risk Test demonstrated 100% accuracy in cliniaadiss compared to DNA sequenc

Fast Turnaroun 30 minutes to result from amplified DNA sample witfinimal technician time need:

Random Acces Each of up to 24 test cartridge slots can be aeddsslependentl

Minimal Maintenanc No routine maintenance or calibration requi

Small Footprin Approximately 16 inches in width and depth in i@r&lard configuratio

Our Test Menu

We have developed four diagnostic tests for usk autr XT-8 system, three of which have receivedrm@ace from the FDA and one of which
is currently labeled for IUO. During the fiscal yemded December 31, 2010, sales of our CystioBibiGenotyping Test represented
approximately 43% of our revenues, and sales of/danfarin Sensitivity Test represented approximal&l% of our revenues.

Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping . Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test is a multipigenotyping test that detects a panel of mutatimseciated
with cystic fibrosis based on guidelines publishgdhe American College of Medical Genetics andAheerican College of Obstetricians and
Gynecologists for screening of adult couples coplating pregnancy. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotypimgtldemonstrated 100% accuracy in
clinical studies compared to DNA sequencing and/ded results within 30 minutes of receipt of tmepdified DNA sample. Test results are
summarized in an easy-to-interpret report thatidet a summary “carrier” or “non-carriet&termination as well as individual carrier steftar
each of the 23 recommended markers. Our CystioibGenotyping Test received FDA clearance in 2009.

Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test addresses &eh#nat was estimated in 2009 at over $70 miliiothe United States alone. More than
10 million Americans are carriers of one mutatidéth@ cystic fibrosis gene. The American Colleg&distetricians and Gynecologists sugg
that all couples who are considering having a chifdhose who are expecting a child, should haretic carrier testing for cystic fibrosis.
Much of current cystic fibrosis testing is perfominigy national reference laboratories. With the labdity of highly accurate, easy to use cystic
fibrosis tests, we expect that the market will gne to decentralize through regional referenceratories and hospitals now capable of
offering this test.

Warfarin Sensitivity. Our Warfarin Sensitivity Test is a multiplex phaicogenetic test for the detection of three genetickers that are knov
to play a critical role in metabolism of, and sémgy to, warfarin. Warfarin, offered under thedmd name Coumadin, is the most widely
prescribed oral anticoagulant in North America &udope and is used to prevent heart attacks, strakel blood clots in veins, arteries and
lungs. Through detection of an individual’'s sendiyi to warfarin, doctors are better able to actelygand efficiently determine the appropriate
warfarin dosage level on an individual patient 8aSiur Warfarin Sensitivity Test demonstrated 1@G%uracy in clinical studies compared to
DNA sequencing and delivers results within 30 masudf receipt of the amplified DNA sample. Our Véairi Sensitivity Test received FDA
clearance in July 2008.

According to the Medco-Mayo Warfarin Effectiven&isidy, there were approximately two million newigat prescriptions of warfarin in the
United States in 2009. According to Biotechnologgalihcare 2008, a health-care focused journaletivere approximately 20 million patients
on warfarin therapy in 2008. The FDA recently apai a labeling change that provides dose recomntiendébased on genetic test results.
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Thrombophilia Risk . Thrombophilia is a condition where a person’blalots easily or excessively placing them at dEkeveloping clots.
Thrombophilia is a particular concern for high rightients, including patients who are pregnantmafeugoing certain surgeries. Our
Thrombophilia Risk Test is a multiplex test for tthetection of four common inherited genetic risét@as of thrombophilia: Factor V Leiden,
Factor Il prothrombin and two genetic markers ia thethylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) g&ue.Thrombophilia Risk Test
demonstrated 100% accuracy in clinical studies @reghto DNA sequencing and delivers results wigtinminutes of receipt of the amplified
DNA sample. Our Thrombophilia Risk Test receivedd&earance in April 2010.

Thrombophilia is one of the most common types obllcoagulation disorders affecting 1 in 1,000vidtials. We believe the U.S. market is
approximately $55 million based on statistics pded by Kalorama Information 2009, a market reseéiroh

Respiratory Viral Pand (RVP) . Our Respiratory Viral Panel Test, currently lagefor IUO, covers approximately 20 viruses, inahgd
influenza A (H1N1 and seasonal), influenza B, negtpry syncytial virus, or RSV, and numerous otlygper respiratory viruses. We have
initiated clinical studies on our RVP panel andreatly plan to submit it for FDA clearance in 2011.

Respiratory pathogens are a major source of illaadgscan lead to hospitalizations and death. Adegrd the Centers for Disease Control,
each year in the United States on average, 5%%d&@he population gets the flu; more than 200,080ple are hospitalized from flu-related
complications; and about 36,000 people die fromrdliated causes. RSV is the most common causepnthitis; and pneumonia in infants and
young children, with up to 125,000 children hodpitad annually in the United States. The challetogéhe physician assessing a patient wi
respiratory iliness is determining what the undedycause is so that an effective treatment planbeadetermined.

Our Testsin Development and Design

We have a pipeline of potential products in varistagjes of development or design. We consider iagndstic tests to be in the design phase
once they have advanced beyond the conceptual Stgperform market research, clinical publicatiemiews, customer interviews, technical
feasibility and freedom to operate assessmentstermiine if a potential diagnostics test is a \@gioduct candidate. We believe that all of our
tests in the design stage have viable market gatemd are technically feasible to develop usingeSensor technology. While we do not
currently license biomarkers for all products ie ttesign phase, we believe we will be able to aldach licenses, if needed, on commercially
reasonable terms.

We intend to introduce two to four new tests aniyusmhd currently expect that our Plavix Sensitivitgst, our Hepatitis C Viral Genotyping t
and our K-ras test will be our first tests in deypghent and design to be introduced. We select tleste based upon what we believe are
clinically relevant products which address unmetkatineeds. Laboratories using our XT-8 system lvéglbble to run the additional tests we
offer without any additional capital investmentomerator training. We are currently developing esigning the following diagnostic tests:

Plavix Sensitivity . Plavix is the most commonly prescribed anti-gédtdrug with more than 25 million patients takitg drug in the United
States each year. According to the Cheuvreux S&&port, a market research report, over 1.6 milliew patients were prescribed Plavix in
2009. In order for Plavix to be effective, it mbst metabolized by the body using an enzyme reféorag 2C19. Patients with impaired 2C19
functionality will see reduced metabolism and tleme reduced benefits from taking Plavix. We arerently in late stage development for a
2C19 multiplex genetic test that detects a pangkoietic markers associated with poor metabolisPl@afix. The FDA has recently revised the
label for Plavix with a “black box” that warns dfe reduced effectiveness of Plavix in patients @tepoor metabolizers and informs
physicians of the existence of genetic tests tatiflethese at-risk patients.
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Plavix’s patents are expected to expire in latel2@hd we believe this expiration will lead to sfgrant generic competition which will drive
down the cost for Plavix and increase overall defanthe drug. According to the Plavix label, 28614% of patients do not respond to
Plavix. As a result, we believe there will be irased demand for the Plavix Sensitivity Test agltharty payors will have an added incentive
to reimburse for a test that can reduce or avaidude of expensive next-generation anti-platekibies.

Infectious Disease Test Panels. The infectious disease diagnostics market isnegéd to reach over $6 billion in the United Stdtg2012,

with substantial growth expected in the moleculagdostic segment. We are currently designing dtifectious disease test panels that would
align strategically with our existing respiratoriyal panel test offering by leveraging our currand future XT8 system placements in the ac
care setting. The test panels we are designingtéittwo categories: Genotyping tests for viruseshsas hepatitis C virus (HCV) and human
papillomavirus (HPV) or detection tests for pardlsiruses, bacteria or fungi such as central nes\aystem infections or lower respiratory
tract infections. Genotyping tests are run througitoe year whereas many detection tests havesarsgacomponent. In order to maximize the
value of systems installed for infectious diseaststlike our RVP product, we intend to developaad range of detection assays which have
distinctly different seasonal peaks in prevalemcaliow our customers to utilize our system foettfous disease testing throughout the year.
Currently, several infectious disease panels andtgping tests are in the design or developmegesthese include: Lower Respiratory Tract
Infections (LRTI); Central Nervous System InfecBai€NS); and Hepatitis C Virus Genotyping (HCVQg).

K-ras Mutation . Anti-EGFR therapy is a type of cancer treatmbat interferes with the growth of cancer cellsysig their growth and
subsequent spread in the body. Anti-EGFR therapurisently approved by the FDA to treat colorecthcer as well as head and neck cancer.
Scientific studies have demonstrated that patwhtsse tumors have genetic variations in the K-exgegwill not respond to anBEGFR therapy
Currently approved anti-EGFR therapies are marketet®r the brand names Erbitux and Vectibix. Thieseapies are approved for use in
colorectal cancer and more recently head and reger in the case of Erbitux.

According to the American Cancer Society, thereoaer one million new cases of colorectal cancebally each year with approximately
150,000 cases in the United States alone. We arently developing a multiplex K-ras test that a@¢$ea panel of common genetic markers in
the K-ras gene. The FDA requires K-ras testinghenlabels of the two approved aBGFR antibody therapeutics, Vectibix and Erbitwor, dis¢
in colorectal cancer.

Oncology and Personalized Medicine Tests. Given the trend in oncology towards tailoringatreent to an individual’s tumor type and the
emerging interest in personalized medicine, wecareently researching and evaluating the developroktest panels in these areas. Expan
our product offering into these two areas wouldraktrategically with our existing products as vealldevelopment stage products by
leveraging our current and future XT-8 system piaeets in these laboratories. Examples of testslpémat are under design include 2D6 for
Tamoxifen Metabolism, which can affect the effeetiess of a drug used for the treatment and preveafibreast cancer, and EGFR Pathway,
which detects mutations in genes other than Kmaglved in EGFR signaling.

Our NexGen System

We are developing our next-generation testing systeintegrate automated nucleic acid extracticsh @amplification. We are designing the
NexGen system (formerly referred to as our-8 system) to allow a technician to place a patsamtple into our test cartridge and then insert
the cartridge in the NexGen system with no furtheer interventions. The NexGen system is desigmeghieve full sample to answer
capability. The NexGen system will provide the samastomer benefits of the XT-8 system and furtiramce workflow by reducing the level
of sample processing required and incorporatinglificgiion. We believe this advancement will make& @Sensor technology attractive to the
broad range of institutions that currently lack the
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technical or economic resources to perform moledaikgnostic testing. We believe the NexGen systeay expand our target user base from
1,000 to over 5,000 potential laboratories and halkspin the United States.

The NexGen system is currently in development withstantial technical feasibility completed usiilgtdd blood in our Warfarin Sensitivity
Test. The NexGen system leverages the base tegynaial system hardware from our XT-8 system tocedisk and accelerate the
development of the sample preparation and ampiificdeatures. We believe our approach to a satopdeswer system will achieve benefits
over other competitive multiplex systems, whichuieg extensive sample processing procedures iriaddd other complex sample
manipulations throughout their test process.

Our Technology
Our eSensor Technology

Our proprietary eSensor technology is based optimeiples of competitive DNA hybridization and efeochemical detection. DNA naturally
forms a double-stranded structure, with each stbamding with high affinity, or hybridizing, onlyota complementary strand. Our technology
takes advantage of this highly specific bindindfibst creating two types of single-stranded DNAg ttapture probe and the signal probe. The
capture probe and signal probe are each complemgdnta different segment of the target DNA, orrharker, that is a focus of the diagnostic
test. Using our proprietary technology and procgsse attach our capture probes to a proprietanyatager on the surface of a gold electrode
within our proprietary test cartridge. We sepasagatach ferrocene, an electrochemically activellaio our signal probes.

Before placing the sample into our test cartridbe,technician mixes the amplified DNA sample vatir signal probe. If the target biomarker
is present in the prepared patient sample, a seighéime biomarker DNA will hybridize with a soleth containing our signal probe. This
solution is then run past an electrode, againsthvbur capture probes have been immobilized. Theetanbound segment of the target
biomarker binds to our capture probe, creating@etsDNA, signal probe, capture probe complex atdwface of the electrode. This complex
produces an electrochemical signal analyzed aedpreted by the XT-8 system. Our test cartridgeseatly have 72 distinct electrodes, each
of which can be configured to detect a differengéa biomarker, enabling multiplex testing.

Our eSensor technology is highly specific for theyét biomarker, and is not based on optical @mréiscent detection. As a result, our
diagnostic tests are less prone to sample contaimingsk and do not require many of the time-canswyg washing and preparation steps
required by competing technologies. The only samppdparation step required before using our tastidges is a PCR amplification, which
involves amplifying, or generating billions of cepiof, the target DNA molecules, followed by tramsif the sample to our test cartridge and
insertion of the test cartridge into any open slaiur XT-8 system. In some tests, amplified DNAiigject to an additional enzymatic
treatment to produce a single-stranded-DNA.

Our Test Cartridges . Our test cartridges are self-contained devicesifipally programmed and configured for a giveagtiostic test. Each
test cartridge includes a sample compartment gidstic cover that forms a hybridization chambére Test cartridge is fitted with a diaphra
pump and valves that circulate the hybridizatioluton, including the signal probe and preparedgmatsample, when inserted into the XT-8
system. The test cartridge also includes a priatedit board chip consisting of an array of 72dyplated working electrodes, a silver/silver
chloride reference electrode, and two gold-platedliary electrodes. Each electrode is customizét & proprietary monolayer that
immobilizes the DNA capture probes specific forletarget of a test panel. The test cartridge absains an electrically erasable
programmable read-only memory component that siafesmation related to the cartridge such as agdawtifier, cartridge lot number and
expiration date.

Our XT-8 System . Our XT-8 system is a multiplex workstation thasta modular design consisting of an integratedisareen workstation
and up to three analyzer modules each capableabfzng eight individual test cartridges. The testtridge slots operate independently of ¢
other allowing up to 24 independent test
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cartridges to be loaded at one time, with the raingislots available for use at any future timele/kiie system is running. Each slot contains a
test cartridge connector, a precisioontrolled heater, an air pump and electronics. dihpumps drive the diaphragm pump and valve ays$b
the test cartridge, eliminating fluid contact beséwahe system and the cartridge. The pneumatic ggmables recirculation of the
hybridization solution allowing the target DNA atitk signal probes to efficiently hybridize with tbemplementary capture probes on the
electrodes. The diaphragm pump in the test cagrisgonnected to a pneumatic source from the XysBm and provides unidirectional
pumping of the hybridization mixture through thetddge during hybridization.

The touch screen workstation controls each analywetule, provides power and analyzes and stores @iathnicians can load patient
identification numbers and reagent lot codes byirtbkided bar code scanner, the touch screen oadplg a text file from a USB memory
stick.

Advantages of Our eSensor Electrochemical Signal Detection
We believe our proprietary electrochemical sigretkdtion technology has several advantages over sitinal detection platforms:

* Robust Signal. Our capture probes are highly target specific, ceduthe binding of non-target DNA and, therebygédy
eliminating interference from other components jadient’s sample, such as blood, saliva or uiSimilarly, constituents of blood
that would normally interfere with fluorescenceeatditon, such as hemoglobin or bilirubin, have Heafon the processed electrc
signals produced by our eSensor technology. THigsofunctionality will, we believe, facilitate tltevelopment of integrated
amplification and sample to answer systems fordlmod other sample type

* High Sensitivity and Accuracy. Our eSensor technology is highly sensitive in tatedtion of nucleic acids. Each electrode can
routinely detect approximately 1 nanomolar of thigRA, and a sensitivity of 10 picomolar of tard#ilA has been achieved. Such
concentrations are readily produced from patientdas using several commercially-validated amgdiiien technologies such as
PCR. Our eSensor technology has demonstrated 166&tazy in clinical studies compared to DNA seqirem@ our Cystic
Fibrosis Genotyping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivigst and our Thrombophilia Risk Te

« Streamlined Sample Preparation. Our technology directly detects the target DNA see with highly specific signal probes ¢
electrode-bound capture probes. As a result, atistamples do not require many of the washing stgysally required to remove
unbound target DNA and labels. We believe thateensor technology can minimize sample preparatigunirements. We have
already demonstrated direct PCR-based genotypimy éliluted whole blood without the need for DNA gdenpreparation or
washing out of interfering substanc

» Efficient Multiplexing. Each of the 72 electrodes in our test cartridgdigoration acts independently of the others andipoes a
comprehensive and informative signal. For exanmgkEngle eSensor electrode can measure the preseabsence of control DN
which we use for quality control, and simultanegusticate whether a patient sample contains zmve,or two copies of a
particular sequence, corresponding to mutant, beygous or wild type genotypes. As a result, owenssr technology eliminates
the need for redundancy and the averaging of nieltipasurements commonly required by competingitEobies.

» Small Footprint with Low Maintenance. Our eSensor technology enables users to performdigdtion and detection in a low-cost
system with relatively few moving parts. In contra®nventional microarray systems require robiotitrumentation to automate
multistage fluidic handling processes. As a reshése systems are often bulky, complicated andresipe and require frequent
calibration and maintenance. Our XT-8 system, kanaple, requires no calibration and virtually noimenance and is self-
contained in a small footprint of approximately-by-16 inches in its standard configurati
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Cost-Effective Development. The use of electrochemical technology allows ou-8 system to leverage th-party advances i
microelectronics such as miniaturization and mactuféng efficiencies. Many electronic componentsogsated with our core
processes are produced in large volumes at lowegwksize for use in numerous fields including egtive, aerospace, informati
technology and medical devices. By avoiding theafdtiidic handling and optical or fluorescent eletion, we believe our eSensor
technology can be applied at low cost to numerestirtg environments in addition to our current ¢amgarkets, including field
testing and poir-of-care applications

Straightforward Development of New Tests. Our eSensor technology is highly flexible, and weédye the main design
consideration in developing new diagnostic testofo XT-8 system is our ability to access and lsgaize the appropriate capture
and signal probes. Our versatile platform allowsouadd new diagnostic tests to our menu or toresyd content to existing
diagnostic tests without modifying the XT-8 systérhis ease of assay development and our verséitiopn allows us to focus
our research and development resources on devglapin commercial test produc

Functionality Outside of Molecular Diagnostics. Our eSensor technology has broad applicabilityetec a range of biomolecule
Independently, and through collaborative researith wniversity and industry partners, we have destrated eSensor detection of
proteins and small molecule drugs. This versatdjpgns the possibility of developing mixed analgesors, such as tests that can
detect antibodies to a certain pathogen plus ttieogen itself, or genetic variations in drug metamo plus monitoring of the drug
level itself.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2010, we had 20 employees focoseesearch and development. In 2010, we movedesaarch and development
activities to our new 31,000 square foot headqumiteCarlsbad, California. Our research and dgraknt expenditures were approximately
$6.5 million, $5.6 million and $13.4 million forehyears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 20@@&ctecly. The overall reduction from
2008 in research and development expenses wa® diue completion of our XT-8 system in 2009. Theréase from 2009 to 2010 was due to
higher payroll costs, relocation and recruitmergts@nd higher facility allocations.

In addition to expanding the diagnostic test mesrwfir XT-8 system and developing our NexGen systemresearch and development team
is focused on the following initiatives:

Improving the Clinical and Practical Utility of our Tests. An important role of our research and developmeart is to hel,
establish the clinical utility and value of our raclilar diagnostic tests. We have and intend tamaeato partner with academic and
reference laboratories to perform validation anadichl studies on our tests. Key aspects of owreffare aimed at improving
workflow in the laboratory setting, positively coammng our tests to historical or “gold standardstseand demonstrating that our
tests can help improve patient care and lower disi;mand medical treatment costs. We intend tdiglukhe results from these
clinical studies in peer-reviewed or trade journalgmit them to regulatory bodies and present taeimdustry conferences in
support of our commercialization strate

Developing New Test Capabilities. We are developing capabilities for utilizing oure@Sor technology in protein and srr

molecule detection, both independently and thraeglearch collaborations. These capabilities magmeedour future menu
offerings or provide us with out-licensing oppoiities. We are also exploring direct gene expresaitalysis opportunities through
collaboration with oncology specialists in industiyd academia. These opportunities may allow develop quantitative tests that
are competitive with the “gold standard” real-tiR€R tests but that are simple to perform in a mplei manner with our XT-8
system.
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Manufacturing

We manufacture our proprietary test cartridgesaradllary reagents at our approximately 8,400 sejfiaot facility in Pasadena, California.
began the transfer of our manufacturing operatiormir new 31,000 square foot headquarters in RadlsCalifornia and expect to complete
the move in March 2011. Our reagent formulatiost tartridge manufacturing and packaging of fimahponents and cartridges are performed
by us in accordance with applicable guidelinesriedical device manufacturing. We outsource manufag of our XT-8 system, as well as
the oligonucleotide raw materials and much of tispasable component molding and sub-component ddgdon our test cartridges. In
particular, our XT-8 system is manufactured byrgks source supplier that specializes in contrastgh and manufacturing of electronic and
electromechanical devices for medical use. We behee can secure other suppliers on commerciadlgamable terms for the products and
parts we outsource.

We have implemented a quality management systeigrogsto comply with FDA regulations and 1SO staddagoverning diagnostic medical
device products. These regulations carefully coniv® design, manufacture, testing and releaséaghdstics products as well as raw material
receipt and control. We also have controlled mettfod the consistent manufacturing of our proprietast cartridges and reagents at our
facilities. All key outsourcing partners are getigreE5O-certified to help assure a continual suppifigh quality components.

We plan to continue to manufacture componentswieadetermine are highly proprietary or highly custm produce, while outsourcing more
commodity-like components. We are likely to eststbidditional outsourcing partnerships as we matwfa additional products. We believe
our existing facilities as well as our new facilityCarlsbad, California will be adequate to maataurrent and future manufacturing needs.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing strategy is to expanditalied base and utilization of the XT-8 platfoamd consumables. Our products are sold in
the United States through a geographically disgkessgen person direct sales and technical speadaligice organization. They are supported
by a centralized team of Product Managers, Marget@ustomer and Technical Support personnel.

Our sales representatives typically have extersiperience in molecular diagnostics and a netwbt&bmratory contacts within their
respective territories. We utilize our represemtsi knowledge along with market research databtastsget and qualify our customers. We
execute a variety of sales campaigns and strategi@eet the buying criteria of the different cusey segments we serve. To support our
expanding molecular test menu, growth in our custobase and launch plans of our next generatietten platform, we continue to make
investments in these customer facing organizations.

We believe the XT-8 platform competes largely om Ibasis of improved performance and reliabilityseeaf use and streamlined laboratory
workflow, a high value IVD menu with multiplexingpabilities, and a superior return on investmehesk and other advantages conferred by
our chemistry are enabling us to provide cliniciand researchers with superior molecular solutiOnus.sales cycle typically includes
customer evaluations and validations of our progludpon successful validation, a customer can aeaquir XT-8 system and consumables in
the following ways:

* Reagent Rental: The reagent rental agreement requires a customangment to purchase a minimum number of cartridyes
the term of the agreement, and a portion of thegehfor each cartridge is a rental fee for the piopgint. Our reagent rental
agreements do not typically provide for any camtilh rights by the customer. The reagent rentaegents do allow us to
remove, change or upgrade the-8 system at any tim

» Capital Purchase: The XT-8 system is paid for upfront, and in its entirdty the customer. Customers are also eligible teivex
structured pricing incentives if they enter intoaptional annual minimur
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cartridge commitment. Through December 31, 2010sole ten X-8 systems to customers which include the saleidéén
analyzers to customers with each analyzer capdlalealyzing eight test cartridges at one tii

In the second half of 2011, we anticipate commemnpianning for commercialization of our molecul@aghostic products in Europe and other
international markets. We anticipate our salesraatketing strategy will involve a select networkpairtners and distributors. A distribution
strategy is being developed for each relevantmatissnal market. It is expected that we will augirtéis effort with a team of our specialists
who will enable our partners’ sales forces and jg®technical support. We also intend to explorpasfunities to leverage our intellectual
property position in molecular diagnostics throwgtt-licensing or the establishment of partnerships.

Customers

In 2010 and 2009, 28% and 38% of our revenueseotisely, were attributed to our three largest acosdrs during the year. In 2010, one
customer accounted for approximately 12% of owaltigvenues. We do not believe the loss of onaedd customers would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operation.

During 2010, we redefined the XT-8 system to bgstesn consisting of one control system and upreetlanalyzers, with each analyzer
capable of analyzing eight test cartridges at theetone. Placements are defined in terms of thebmurof analyzers sold to a customer,
reflecting a direct correlation between the reagesitrevenue opportunity and the number of tastidges that can analyzed at any one time.
As of December 31, 2010, there were 82 analyze#3 anique customer sites, or approximately 1.2yapes per customer. This compares \
38 analyzers at 32 unique customer sites, or appeigly 1.2 analyzers per customer as of Decembg2(09.

The increase in analyzers and related revenueeisalan increase in the number of new customersmbuwur products and growth in additiol
tests from existing customers. We expect our dinigolecular diagnostic revenues to continue toeiase in 2011.

Competition

We primarily face competition in the molecular diagtic testing markets with testing products arstesys developed by public and private
companies such as Cepheid, Gen-Probe, Inc., Sietdetwgic, Inc., Innogenetics, Inc, Luminex Corpiiwa, Nanosphere, Inc., Qiagen NV,
Roche Diagnostics and Abbott Diagnostics. Our diagjn tests also face competition with the labasatieveloped tests developed by national
and regional reference laboratories and hospiésbelieve that the XT-8 system competes largeltherbasis of accuracy and reliability,
enhanced laboratory workflow, multiplex capabiliéase-of-use and return on investment for custamers

Many of our competitors have substantially greéiteancial, technical, research and other resousoeslarger, more established marketing,
sales and distribution organizations than we donyvta our competitors also offer broader produstd and have greater brand recognition
than we do. Moreover, our existing and new competinay make rapid technological developmentsrttaat result in our technologies and
products becoming obsolete before we recover thereses incurred to develop them or before theyrgémsignificant revenue.

Intellectual Property

To establish and protect our proprietary technasgind products, we rely on a combination of pataqtyright, trademark and trade-secret
laws, as well as confidentiality provisions in @antracts. We have implemented a patent strategjgmied to protect our technology and
facilitate commercialization of our current
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and future products. As of December 31, 2010, atemnt portfolio included 100 U.S. patents, 44 fgngdatents (predominantly in Europe and
Japan) and 49 pending domestic and foreign papptications, all of which are either owned by usaoe exclusively licensed to us. Our
intellectual property portfolio for our core elemthemical technology was built through the combarmadf our acquisition of the Clinical Mici
Sensors business from Motorola, licensing pateots third parties and the issuance of new patents to protect our ongoing development
activities. Many of our issued and pending patergse exclusively licensed from the California Ihgte of Technology and Harvard University
and generally cover our core technology relatingupXT-8 system.

We believe that our patent portfolio and licenses/jgle us with a robusst intellectual property giosifor our electrochemical detection
techniques, chemical insulators and attachmentgpom electrode surfaces and other technologyctiictively form the staple of our eSensor
platform.

In general, patents have a term of 20 years framapiplication filing date or earlier claimed prigrilate. Our issued and exclusively licensed
patents will expire between 2013 and 2021 or latéh several of our pending applications having plotential to mature into patents that
might expire in 2027, 2028 and 2029. Our succepsm#s to a significant degree upon our abilitydtige infringement, derive licensing
revenues and continue to develop proprietary prisdared technologies without infringing on the itgetual property rights of others.

We also rely in part on tradeecret protection of our intellectual property. Weempt to protect our trade secrets by enteritgdonfidentiality
agreements with third parties, employees and ctarstgl Our employees and consultants also sigreagmets requiring that they assign to us
their interests in intellectual property such atepts and copyrights arising from their work for A employees sign an agreement not to
compete unfairly with us during their employmentlaipon termination of their employment through isuse of confidential information,
soliciting employees and soliciting customers.

Government Regulation

The design, development, manufacture, testing atedas our diagnostic products are subject to ratiph by numerous governmental
authorities, principally the FDA, and correspondatgte and foreign regulatory agencies.

Regulation by the FDA

In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug, amght&tic Act, or FDCA, FDA regulations and otherdiead and state statutes and regulations
govern, among other things, medical device desimghdevelopment, preclinical and clinical testinggmarket clearance or approval,
registration and listing, manufacturing, labelisthrage, advertising and promotion, sales andilligion, export and import, and post-market
surveillance. The FDA regulates the design, mariufang, servicing, sale and distribution of medidavices, including molecular diagnostic
test kits and instrumentation systems. Failureotomy with applicable U.S. requirements may subgecompany to a variety of administrative
or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to apprpending applications, warning letters, prodecttls, product seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injunosgfines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution

Unless an exemption applies, each medical deviceigle to distribute commercially in the United S&tvill require marketing authorization
from the FDA prior to distribution. The two primatypes of FDA marketing authorization applicableatdevice are premarket notification,
called 510(k) clearance, and premarket approvsd, ehlled PMA approval. The type of marketing atittagion is generally linked to the
classification of the device. The FDA classifiesdical devices into one of three classes (Cladsok, lll) based on the degree of risk the FDA
determines to be associated with a device ancetret bf regulatory control deemed necessary torerthe device’s safety and effectiveness.
Devices requiring fewer controls because they asnd to pose lower risk are placed in Class Il. @léss | devices are deemed to pose the
least risk and are subject only to
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general controls applicable to all devices, suctegsirements for device labeling, premarket nedifion and adherence to the FDA'’s current
Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, and Qu&itgtem Requirements, as reflected in its QSR. Clakessices are intermediate risk
devices that are subject to general controls andats® be subject to special controls such as pegnce standards, product-specific guidance
documents, special labeling requirements, patigistries or postmarket surveillance. Class lllides are those for which insufficient
information exists to assure safety and effectigersmlely through general or special controls actiide life-sustaining, life-supporting or
implantable devices, devices of substantial impman preventing impairment of human health, oicivipresent a potential, unreasonable

of illness or injury.

Most Class | devices and some Class Il devicesx@@mpted by regulation from the 510(k) clearancgeirement and can be marketed without
prior authorization from the FDA. Some Class | degithat have not been so exempted and Classitiedeare eligible for marketing through
the 510(k) clearance pathway. By contrast, deyitased in Class Il generally require PMA approvab10(k) de novo clearance prior to
commercial marketing. The PMA approval processasenstringent, time-consuming and expensive tharbflO(k) clearance process,
however, the 510(k) clearance process has alsarteowreasingly stringent and expensive. The FD#\di@ared our XT-8 system with our
eSensor Warfarin Sensitivity Test, Cystic Fibrasenotyping Test and Thrombophilia Risk Test as £lbdevices via the 510(k) clearance
process.

510(k) Clearance. To obtain 510(k) clearance for a medical devicegagplicant must submit a premarket notificationhi® FDA demonstrating
that the device is “substantially equivalent” tdevice legally marketed in the United States thatat subject to PMA approval, commonly
known as the “predicate devicé’device is substantially equivalent if, with respt the predicate device, it has the same intnde and hi
either (i) the same technological characteristicgipdifferent technological characteristics ahe information submitted demonstrates that the
device is as safe and effective as a legally madkdévice and does not raise different questiossif@lty or effectiveness. A showing of
substantial equivalence sometimes, but not alwaggliires clinical data. Generally, the 510(k) cdeae process can exceed 90 days and may
extend to a year or more.

After a device has received 510(k) clearance fapexific intended use, any change or modificatiat significantly affects its safety or
effectiveness, such as a significant change iml#stgn, materials, method of manufacture or intdngee, may require a new 510(k) clearance
or PMA approval and payment of an FDA user fee. détermination as to whether or not a modificationld significantly affect the device’s
safety or effectiveness is initially left to the mdiacturer using available FDA guidance; howevss,EDA may review this determination to
evaluate the regulatory status of the modified povét any time and may require the manufactureetse marketing and recall the modified
device until 510(k) clearance or PMA approval isadieed. The manufacturer may also be subject tufgignt regulatory fines or penalties.

Before we can submit a medical device for 510(kaince, we may have to perform a series of geyetairt studies over a period of mont
including method comparison, reproducibility, ifézence and stability studies to ensure that ussangerform the test successfully. Some of
these studies may take place in clinical envirortsydyut are not usually considered clinical triflst PMA submissions, we would generally
be required to conduct a longer clinical trial osgveriod of years that supports the clinical tytiif the device and how the device will be used.

Although clinical investigations of most deviceg aubject to the investigational device exemptiwsriDE, requirements, clinical investigatic
of molecular diagnostic tests, including our praduand products under development, are generadlignpkfrom the IDE requirements. Thus,
clinical investigations by intended users for imted uses of our products generally do not regbhee-DA’s prior approval, provided the
clinical evaluation testing is non-invasive, does require an invasive sampling procedure thatgrssa significant risk, does not intentionally
introduce energy into the subject and is not useal diagnostic procedure without confirmation bgtaer medically established test or
procedure. In addition, our products must be labpkr FDA regulations “for research use only-RU®"for investigational use only-lUO,”
and distribution controls must be established sueesthat our products distributed for researchthotecomparisons or clinical evaluation
studies are used only for those purposes.
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PMA Approval . A PMA application requires the payment of sigrafit user fees. PMA applications must be suppdayedhlid scientific
evidence, which typically requires extensive dateluding technical, preclinical, clinical and mdacturing data, to demonstrate to the FDA’s
satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of thécde A PMA application must also include, amonpestthings, a complete description of the
device and its components, a detailed descriptidheomethods, facilities and controls used to nfiacture the device, and proposed labeling.

The FDA has 45 days from its receipt of a PMA ttedmine whether the application will be acceptadfifing based on the agency’s threshold
determination that it is sufficiently complete termit substantive review. Once the submission égpied for filing, the FDA begins an in-
depth review. During this review period, the FDAymaquest additional information or clarificatiohioformation already provided. In
addition, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval insfien of the manufacturing facility or facilities ensure compliance with the QSR, which
requires manufacturers to follow design, testimmtol, documentation and other quality assuramoequlures.

FDA review of an initial PMA application is requidy statute to take between six to ten monthispafih the process typically takes
significantly longer, and may require several yearsomplete. The FDA can delay, limit or deny apal of a PMA application for many
reasons, including:

* itis not demonstrated that there is reasonablerasse that the device is safe or effective underconditions of use prescribed,
recommended, or suggested in the proposed lab:

» the data from preclinical studies and clinicallgimay be insufficient to support approval; ¢

» the manufacturing process, methods, controls dlitfes used for the manufacture, processing, pagkir installation of the device
do not meet applicable requiremer

If the FDA evaluations of both the PMA applicatiand the manufacturing facilities are favorable,FReA will either issue an approval letter
or an approvable letter, which usually containsimber of conditions that must be met in order tuse final approval of the PMA. If the
FDA'’s evaluation of the PMA or manufacturing fatids is not favorable, the FDA will deny approvétive PMA or issue a not approvable
letter. A not approvable letter will outline thefidéencies in the application and, where practieall identify what is necessary to make the
PMA approvable. The FDA may also determine thaitamthl clinical trials are necessary, in which €dlse PMA approval may be delayed for
several months or years while the trials are cotatland then the data submitted in an amendmehetBMA. Once granted, PMA approval
may be withdrawn by the FDA if compliance with pagproval requirements, conditions of approvaltbeoregulatory standards is not
maintained or problems are identified followingtial marketing.

Approval by the FDA of new PMA applications or PM#pplements may be required for modifications &rttanufacturing process, labeling,
device specifications, materials or design of adkethat is approved through the PMA process. PMpgptements often require submission of
the same type of information as an initial PMA é&gtion, except that the supplement is limitednfmimation needed to support any changes
from the device covered by the original PMA apgiima and may not require as extensive clinical datdne convening of an advisory panel.

Regulation After FDA Clearance or Approval. Any devices we manufacture or distribute pursuamiéarance or approval by the FDA are
subject to pervasive and continuing regulationigyEDA and certain state agencies. We are reqtoradhere to applicable regulations setting
forth detailed cGMP requirements, as set forthen®@SR, which include, among other things, testiogtrol and documentation requirements.
Non-compliance with these standards can result in,rgnodher things, fines, injunctions, civil penadtieecalls or seizures of products, total or
partial suspension of production, refusal of theegoment to grant 510(k) clearance or PMA approvalevices, withdrawal of marketing
approvals and criminal prosecutions. We have desigmd implemented our manufacturing facilitiesarttie FDA’'s cGMP requirements.
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Because we are a manufacturer of medical devicesnust also comply with medical device reportinguisements by reviewing and reporti

to the FDA whenever there is evidence that readgsaiggests that one of our products may have daniseontributed to a death or serious
injury. We must also report any incident in whialr product has malfunctioned if that malfunctionulblikely cause or contribute to a death
or serious injury if it were to recur. Labeling apimotional activities are subject to scrutinytbg FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the
Federal Trade Commission. Medical devices appravedeared by the FDA may not be promoted for umaypgd or uncleared uses, otherwise
known as “off-label” promotion. The FDA and othgyeacies actively enforce the laws and regulatiagniipiting the promotion of off-label
uses, and a company that is found to have imprppeomoted off-label uses may be subject to sigaift liability, including substantial
monetary penalties and criminal prosecution.

We are also subject to numerous federal, statéoamadilaws relating to such matters as safe workmditions, manufacturing practices,
environmental protection, fire hazard control argpdsal of hazardous or potentially hazardous smiess. Some of these laws require us to
obtain licenses or permits to conduct our operatidvie have numerous policies and procedures ire ptaensure compliance with these laws
and to minimize the risk of occupational exposaredzardous materials. We do not expect the opesatf our products to produce signific
guantities of hazardous or toxic waste or radiatiart would require use of extraordinary disposatpices. Although the costs to comply with
these applicable laws and regulations have not tredarial, we can not predict the impact on ouiiress of new or amended laws or
regulations or any changes in the way existingfahde laws and regulations are interpreted or ef®, nor can we ensure we will be able to
obtain or maintain any required licenses or permits

Export of Our Products. Export of products subject to the 510(k) notificatrequirements, but not yet cleared to markegieimitted with FD#
authorization provided certain requirements are tdeapproved products subject to the PMA approgglirements may be exported if the
exporting company and the device meet certainr@jtercluding, among other things, that the dexdomplies with the laws of the receiving
country and the company submits a “Simple Notifaatto the FDA when the company begins to expléthe company or device does not
comply with such criteria, FDA approval must beaibéd for export. To obtain FDA export approvake§uired, we must meet certain
requirements, including, among other things anth witme exceptions, documentation demonstratinghlegtroduct is approved for import
into the country to which it is to be exported aimdsome instances, safety data to demonstratexpatrt of the device will not be contrary to
the public health or safety.

Clinical Laboratory I mprovement Amendments of 1988. The use of our products is also affected by CLIA eglated federal and state
regulations, which provide for regulation of labmry testing. Any customers using our productsctarical use in the United States will be
regulated under CLIA, which is intended to enstieedquality and reliability of laboratory testingtime United States. In particular, these
regulations mandate that clinical laboratories nestertified by the federal government or a felieegpproved accreditation agency, or must
be located in a state that has been deemed exammptILIA requirements because the state has irctatievs that provide for requirements
equal to or more stringent than CLIA requirementsreover, these laboratories must meet qualityrasee, quality control and personnel
standards, and they must undergo proficiency @stivd inspections. The CLIA standards applicablditical laboratories are based on the
complexity of the method of testing performed bg taboratory, which range from “waived” to “moderaibmplexity” to “high complexity.”
We expect that most of our products will be catemgar as “high complexity,” since most moleculargiiastic tests are currently FDA-cleared
as CLIA “high complexity” devices.

Other Legislation. On September 27, 2007, the President signed the &wd Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007FBAAA.
Among other significant changes and requiremerispbses, the new legislation expands the federatignment’s clinical trial registry and
results databank maintained by the NIH to inclullénath limited exceptions) medical device trials. particular, it requires certain informati
about device trials, including a description of thal, participation criteria, location of triaites, and contact information, to be sent
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to NIH for inclusion in a publicly accessible dadsbk. In addition, the results of clinical trialattfiorm the primary basis for efficacy claims or
are conducted after a device is approved or cleangst be posted to the results databank. UnddfE#eAA, companies that violate these and
other provisions of the new law are subject to gl civil monetary penalties.

Foreign Government Regulation. We intend to market our products in European ahdratelected international markets. Before doingv&o

or our partners and distributors will need to reegiegulatory approval. The regulatory review pescir medical devices varies from country
to country, and many countries also impose prodigetdards, packaging requirements, labeling reepgings and import restrictions on devic
Each country has its own tariff regulations, dutied tax requirements. Failure to comply with aggidie foreign regulatory requirements may
subject a company to fines, suspension or withdrafveegulatory approvals, product recalls, seizufreroducts, operating restrictions and
criminal prosecution.

Third-Party Payor Reimbursements

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a health paogluct or service from a government or other tpiagty payor is a time consuming and
costly process that could require us to providegsujng scientific, clinical and health economidaléor the use of our products to the payor.
We may not be able to provide data sufficient tm gaceptance with respect to reimbursement. Evenva payor determines that a product or
service is eligible for reimbursement, the payoyimapose coverage limitations that preclude paynfi@nsome uses that are approved by the
FDA or comparable authorities. In addition, thera irisk that full reimbursement may not be avéédbr high-priced products. Moreover,
eligibility for coverage does not imply that anyguct or service will be reimbursed in all caseata rate that allows our customers to make a
profit or cover their costs. Initial or interim rebursements for products and services, if availabley also not be sufficient to cover costs and
may not be made permanent.

Successful sales of our products in the UnitedeStahd other countries will depend on the avaitgitwf reimbursement from third-party

payors such as private insurance plans, manageduganizations, and Medicare and Medicaid. Outornsrs have obtained reimbursement
for our eSensor Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Teste®ensor Thrombophilia Risk Test for the XT-8 systand we believe that each of our tests
in development are covered by existing CPT codédsnalh be eligible for coverage by Medicare and Medd and most third-party payors.
However, Medicare and Medicaid generally do nantmirse providers who use our Warfarin Sensitivigg(T In 2010, the American Medical
Association formed a molecular pathology workingugy to provide recommendations for modernizationaafes for molecular diagnostic and
genetic tests. This group is expected to issuemetandations in 2011 that will be considered forlempentation in 2012. Outside of the Uni
States, health care reimbursement systems varydoamtry to country, and to the extent we begigeth our products outside the United
States, we may not be able to obtain adequate vegeiment coverage, if any, for our products.

In addition, we may develop tests in the futurd ttmnot relate to previously established CPT caieswe may need to obtain new CPT codes
in order to obtain reimbursement. Reimbursemersd third-party payor depends on a number of factociding applicable coverage policies
and limitations, the level of demand by health qaaviders and the payor’s determination that the af a new product is medically necessary
and represents a clinical advance. In additior) boivernment and non-government third-party payauginely limit reimbursement coverage
and reimbursement amounts for diagnostic testaudfcustomers can not receive sufficient leveleghbursement when using our products,
our ability to sell them will be significantly comained.

Fraud and Abuse Regulations

We are subject to numerous federal and state healéhanti-fraud laws, including the federal antkkack statute and False Claims Act, that
are intended to reduce waste, fraud and abuse inghlth care industry. These laws are broad anj@dcito evolving interpretations. They
prohibit many arrangements and practices that are
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lawful in industries other than health care, inahgdcertain payments for consulting and other peabeervices, some discounting
arrangements, the provision of gifts and businesstesies, the furnishing of free supplies andisesy and waivers of payments. In addition,
many states have enacted or are considering laatdintit arrangements between medical device mantufars and physicians and other health
care providers and require significant public disdre concerning permitted arrangements. Thesedevgigorously enforced against medical
device manufacturers and have resulted in manufastpaying significant fines and penalties anddgsubject to stringent corrective action
plans and reporting obligations. We must operatébasiness within the requirements of these lavas #inve were accused of violating them,
could be forced to expend significant resourcesgastigation, remediation and monetary penalties.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

Our operations will also be impacted by the fedBwatient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 20d9®modified by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, which we refie as the Health Care Act. The Health Care Agtdaes a 2.3% excise tax on sales of
medical devices by manufacturers. Taxable deviodsde any medical device defined in section 20&ftihe FDCA and intended for use by
humans, with limited exclusions for devices pur@ubBy the general public at retail for individuakuThere is no exemption for small
companies, and we expect to begin paying the t20¥8. The Health Care Act also requires manufacsuo report to the Department of
Health and Human Services detailed information &Einancial arrangements with physicians and tesghiospitals. These reporting
provisions preempt state laws that require repgmifithe same information, but not those that nexgréports of different or additional
information. Failure to comply subjects the mantfeer to significant civil monetary penalties. Weect compliance with the Health Care .
to impose significant administrative and finandiatdens on us.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 79 employees. Aqmiattely 20 are involved in research and develogn®&hin operations, manufacturing
and quality assurance, 18 in sales and marketirdy14 in finance, legal and other administrativections. Our success will depend in large
part upon our ability to attract and retain empks/e/Ve face competition in this regard from otl@mpanies, research and academic
institutions, government entities and other orgatiins. None of our employees are covered by aadle bargaining agreement.

Executive Officers
Our executive officers and their ages as of Decer@be2010, are as follows:

Christopher Gleeson, age 61, has served as Chéfufixe Officer, on an interim basis, since Aug2t0. Mr. Gleeson has also served as
Chairman of the Board of GenMark Diagnostics siM@ech 2010 and chairman of the board of Osmetecisipte July 2009. Prior to this
time, Mr. Gleeson was President and Chief Execuiffecer of Ventana Medical Systems, Inc., a legdnpplier of automated diagnostic
systems to the anatomical pathology market from®18%ebruary 2008. Following the acquisition oftana by Roche Diagnostics in
February 2008, Mr. Gleeson became a member ofdhediof directors of Roche Diagnostics. Prior toijgg Ventana, Mr. Gleeson was Ser
Vice-President of Bayer Diagnostics, the diagnsdiiiwision of Bayer Healthcare Pharmaceuticalsgerteral manager of the U.S. commercial
operations for Chiron Diagnostics, the diagnodtiession of Chiron Corporation. Prior to that tintee was the founder, owner, and managing
director of Australian Diagnostics Corporation. Mhleeson attended the Pharmacy and Business Satddlsnash University in Australia.

Jon Faiz Kayyem, Ph.D., age 47, has served ingpadity of Chief Scientific Officer of GenMark Diagstics, Inc. since August 2010 and as
Director since March 2010. Dr. Kayyem previouslyeel as President and Chief Executive Officer ofdark Diagnostics, Inc. between
March 2010 and August 2010. Prior to his role at
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GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. Dr. Kayyem served asiBeed and Chief Executive Officer of Osmetech phcs August 2009 and chairman of
the board of directors of Osmetech plc from Jan2@&g0 to August 2009. In 2004, Dr. Kayyemfoonded Efficacy Capital Limited and sen
as managing partner until September 2009. Dr. Kawfeinded Clinical Micro Sensors Inc. in 1995 wheoenmercialized technological
innovations he developed at Caltech. Dr. Kayyemntheddevelopment and growth of Clinical Micro Sesssthrough its acquisition by
Motorola, Inc. Dr. Kayyem attended Yale Universatyd received his combined Master and Bachelor @nSes in Molecular Biophysics and
Biochemistry in 1985. He received his Ph.D. in Mall@r Biology in 1991 at The California InstituteTeechnology.

Jeffrey Hawkins, age 33, has served as Senior Riesident, Marketing and Business Development of\@ek Diagnostics, Inc. since
November 2010. Prior to his appointment in 2010, Nawkins served as Vice President of Business Dpwaent for GenMark Diagnostic
since May 2010 and in the same capacity for Osrhefechnology, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of @$ech plc, since December 2009.
Prior to Osmetech, Mr. Hawkins served as Execubivector, Laboratory Marketing of Hologic Inc. froduly 2008 to December 2009 and as
Executive Director of Marketing of Third Wave Tedhbogies Inc. (acquired by Hologic) from NovembefgQo July 2008. Mr. Hawkins has
previously served in various roles of increasirgpomsibility in marketing, product development apeérations with Sysmex America and
Abbott Laboratories. Mr. Hawkins received a B.AGhemistry with honors from Concordia Universitydaan M.B.A from Keller Graduate
School of Management.

Pankaj Singhal, age 39, was appointed Senior Miesitkent, Product Development of GenMark Diagnestitc. in July 2010. Previously,

Dr. Singhal served as Senior Vice President, Probagelopment and Manufacturing of Osmetech Tedahglinc, a whollyewned subsidiar
of Osmetech plc, since March 2010. Dr. Singhalegias Chief Operating Officer of Osmetech Techngldne. from May 2008 through
March 2010. Prior to that time, he served as Viasident of Operations of Osmetech Technology fdamuary 2007 to April 2008 and
Director of Manufacturing Operations from July 2@09ecember 2006. Dr. Singhal joined Clinical Mi&ensors in 2000 and remained with
Osmetech plc following Osmetech’s acquisition ahielal Micro Sensors from Motorola in 2005. Dr. §lral received a B.S. in Chemical
Engineering, and a Ph.D. in Chemistry from Univgref California, Riverside. He also conducted goatiuate fellowship work at the
University of California, Berkeley in the areasflA chips, electrochemical detection and signatpssing.

Jennifer Williams, age 38, was appointed Senioe\Recesident of Global Operations in November 2@h@, is responsible for Manufacturing
Operations, Human Resources and Asia Pacific Coaiad@perations. Prior to joining GenMark, Jennifietd the position of Senior Human
Resource Executive with Cerberus Operations andsédy Company, a private equity firm, from Februaf08 to May 2010, responsible for
human resources oversight and transformation dfajloompanies in the portfolio. From January 2@3anuary 2008, Jennifer was Vice
President Human Resources at HD Supply, a wholessti#bution company serving the infrastructurenstruction, and maintenance markets,
initially as part of The Home Depot organizatiomaubsequently spun off in 2007. Previous to tkiat, Williams led Talent Management for
The Home Depot including organization design, sssios planning, leadership programs, and execdéwvelopment. Jennifer began her
career at Honeywell (formerly AlliedSignal) and diglositions of increasing responsibility in Quali@perations, Program Management, and
Organization Effectiveness. Ms. Williams receivedt MBA from Case Western Reserve in Organizati®@®davior and an undergraduate
degree in Industrial and Operations Engineeringftbe University of Michigan. Ms. Williams holdscartification in Organization Design a
is a Six Sigma greenbelt.

Corporate and Available Information

Our principal corporate offices are located at 5R&4lace Court, Suite 100, Carlsbad, Californid aar telephone number is (760) 448-4300.
We were incorporated in Delaware in February 2010.

Our Internet address is www.GenMarkdx.com. Theranag&e available, free of charge, our annual repoftorm 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any aimants to those reports,
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as soon as reasonably practicable after we elécalbnfile such material with, or furnish it tdhé Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC. We also make available on our Internet sitdipéinancial information for which a report is ni@quired to be filed with or furnished to
the SEC. Our SEC reports and other financial infdiom can be accessed through the investor refasieation of our Internet site. The
information found on our Internet site is not pafrthis or any other report we file with or furnishthe SEC.

The public may read and copy any materials thatilewevith the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference iRdocated at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SEC at (202) 551-
8090. The SEC also maintains electronic versioramuofeports on its website at www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should consider each of the following fact@svell as the other information in this Annual Re:fi evaluating our business and our
prospects. The risks and uncertainties describéovbare not the only ones we face. Additional riskd uncertainties not presently knowr
us or that we currently consider immaterial mayoaisipair our business operations. If any of théofeing risks actually occur, our business
and financial results could be harmed. In that gabe trading price of our common stock could dexliYou should also refer to the other
information set forth in this Annual Report, inciogl our financial statements and the related notes.

Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of net losses, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We have a history of significant net losses arichdadd history commercializing our molecular diagtio products. We obtained FDA cleara
for our first generation molecular diagnostic sysia 2006, and commenced a limited marketing effarthis system. We commenced offel
our XT-8 system and our Warfarin Sensitivity Testluly 2008. We commenced offering our Cystic Fisd@enotyping Test in July 2009 and
our Thrombophilia Risk Test in April 2010. Our Resgpory Viral Panel Test is currently labeled faf®. Our net losses from continuing
operations were approximately $18.4 million for thelve months ended December 31, 2010, $20.0amili 2009 and $28.4 million in 2008.
At December 31, 2010, we had an accumulated deficipproximately $144.5 million. We will continge incur significant expenses for the
foreseeable future for our sales and marketingares and development and regulatory activitiesmaaihtaining our existing and obtaining
additional intellectual property rights. We can patvide you any assurance that we will ever aghj@ofitability and, even if we achieve
profitability, that we will be able to sustain orcrease profitability on a quarterly or annual baBurther, because of our limited
commercialization history and because the marketi@lecular diagnostic products is relatively nawd aapidly evolving, we have limited
insight into the trends that may emerge and affactousiness. We may make errors in predictingraadting to relevant business trends, w
could harm our business and financial condition.

We will need to raise additional fundsin the future, and such funds may not be available on a timely basis, or at all. | f additional capital is
not available, we may have to curtail or cease operations.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sultisfaproduct revenues, we will be required to fioa our operations with our existing cash
resources. We will need to raise additional fumdhe future to support our operations. We carbeatertain that additional capital will be
available as needed or on acceptable terms, dir Htvae require additional capital at a time whierestment in molecular diagnostics
companies or in the marketplace in general is échitve may not be able to raise such funds airtieethat we desire, or at all. If we do raise
additional funds through the issuance of equitganvertible securities, the percentage ownershhimtifers of our common stock could be
significantly diluted and these newly issued sdmgimay have rights, preferences or privilegesosda those of holders of our common stock.
If we obtain debt financing, a substantial portadrour operating cash flow may be dedicated tgodnement of principal and interest on such
indebtedness, and the terms of the debt secuis8asd could impose significant restrictions on@perations. If we raise additional funds
through collaborations and licensing arrangememgscould be required to relinquish significant tggto our technologies, products or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

If our products do not perform as expected or the reliability of the technology on which our products are based is questioned, our operating
results and business will suffer.

Our success depends on the market’s confidencevihaain provide reliable, high-quality diagnossgstems and tests. We believe that
customers in our target markets are likely to hti@darly sensitive to product defects and errérs a result, our reputation and the public
image of our products or technologies will be imnediif our products fail to perform as expectedhaugh our diagnostic systems are desic
to be user-friendly, the functions they perform quée complex, and our products may develop otainrundetected defects or errors.
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If we experience a sustained material defect argthis could result in loss or delay of revenuesteased costs to produce our tests, delayed
market acceptance, damaged reputation, diversidewd#lopment and management resources, legal ¢laiareased insurance costs or
increased service and warranty costs, any of wtneid materially harm our business.

We also face an inherent risk of product liabiétyposure related to the sale of our products. Wiently carry product liability insurance that
covers us against specific product liability claiopsto an annual aggregate limit of $7.0 millione so carry a separate general liability and
umbrella policy that covers us against certainnetabut excludes coverage for product liability. Aotgim in excess of our insurance coverage
would have to be paid out of our cash reserves;iwiviould have a detrimental effect on our financiadition. It is difficult to determine
whether we have obtained sufficient insurance tecpotential claims. Also, we can not assure Y@ tve can or will maintain our insurance
policies on commercially acceptable terms, or lattaproduct liability claim could have a materedverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may fail to successfully expand the menu of diagnostic tests for our XT-8 system, or effectively predict the types of tests our existing and
target customers want.

We currently market three FDA-cleared diagnostits@and have developed one other diagnostic tesintly labeled for IUO. In addition, we
have several diagnostic tests in the developmedésign stage. Some hospital-based and refereborataries may not consider adopting our
XT-8 system until we offer a broader menu of diagjitotests. Although we are developing additioeats to respond to the needs of these
laboratories, we cannot guarantee that we willlile o license the appropriate technology, or dgveind obtain required regulatory clearal

or approvals, for enough additional tests quicklpwegh or in a manner that is cost-effective. Theettgpment of new or enhanced products is a
complex and uncertain process requiring the aceumnaticipation of technological and market treradsyell as precise technological execution.
In addition, in order to commercialize our produetse are required to undertake time consuming astlycdevelopment activities, including
clinical studies for which the outcome is uncert@®roducts that appear promising during early dgrakent and preclinical studies may,
nonetheless, fail to demonstrate the results needsapport regulatory approval or, if approvedymat generate the demand we expect. If we
are unable to successfully develop and commereialiditional diagnostic tests for use with our X$y8tem, our revenues and our ability to
achieve profitability will be impaired.

We face intense competition from established and new companiesin the molecular diagnostics field and expect to face increased competition
in thefuture.

The markets for our technologies and products arg #ompetitive, and we expect the intensity of petition to increase. We compete with
many companies in the U.S. engaged in the developroemmercialization and distribution of similaiogducts intended for clinical molecular
diagnostic applications. Categories of competioctude:

» Companies developing and marketing multiplex mdeecdiagnostics system

» Large hospite-based laboratories and reference laboratories windde larg-scale testing using their own proprietary tes
methods; an

» Healthcare companies that manufacture labor-based tests and analyze

Such competitors classified in the above categamiglade: Cepheid; Gen-Probe, Inc.; Siemens; Haldgic.; Innogenetics, Inc.; Luminex
Corporation; Nanosphere, Inc.; Qiagen NV; Rochggbastics; and Abbott Diagnostics. Our diagnostitstalso face competition with the
laboratory-developed-tests (LDT's) developed byamet! and regional reference laboratories and talspiSuch laboratory-developed tests
may not be subject to the same requirements foiceli trials and FDA submission requirements thaympply to our products.

We anticipate that we will face increased compmtiin the future as new companies enter the mavitetnew technologies and our
competitors improve their current products and egp@ieir menu of diagnostic tests. Many
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of our current competitors, as well as many of matential competitors, have greater name recognititore substantial intellectual property
portfolios, longer operating histories, signifidgrgreater resources to invest in new technologiese substantial experience in new product
development, greater regulatory expertise, morensite manufacturing capabilities and the distidsuthannels to deliver products to
customers. The impact of these factors may reswtir technologies and products becoming obsokeftaréd we recover the expenses incurred
to develop them or before they generate significaneénue.

We arereliant on the commercial success of our XT-8 system and our diagnostic tests.

We have primarily placed our XT-8 systems with oustrs at no initial charge through “reagent rené@lfeements, under which customers
commit to purchasing minimum quantities of testrdges over a period of one to three years, witbrmponent of the reagent cartridge price
allocated to recover the instrument cost. Whileatg® offer our XT-8 systems for sale, we had soly ten of our systems. We expect sales of
our diagnostic tests associated with our XT-8 ggstéll account for the vast majority of our revesder at least the next several years. We
intend to dedicate a significant portion of ouron@ses to the commercialization of our XT-8 systemd our existing FDA-cleared diagnostic
tests. Although we intend to develop a broad rasfgelditional diagnostic tests for use with the EBystem and our NexGen system, we can
not assure you when or if we will obtain FDA cleares for the tests we intend to develop in ther&tar whether the market will accept such
new products. As a result, to the extent that otw8&ystem and our existing FDA-cleared diagnastits are not commercially successful or
are withdrawn from the market for any reason, evenues will be adversely impacted and our busiopsgating results and financial
condition will be harmed.

We may not be successful in developing our NexGen system.

We are developing a sample to answer platformNeneGen system. We are designing this system tgiiate automated nucleic acid extrac
and amplification with our eSensor technology tovaltechnicians to be able to place a patient sanmb our test cartridge and obtain results
with no additional steps. The development of the®kn system is a complex process, and we may natdmessful in completing the
development of all the currently intended featured benefits of the system, which may limit its kegability. In addition, before
commercializing the NexGen system we will be reggito obtain regulatory approval for the systerwel as each of the diagnostic tests tc
used on the system, including those tests thaiqusly received approval for use with our XT-8 gyst If we are unable to successfully
develop and obtain regulatory approval for our NemGystem and related diagnostic tests, our busplas will be impaired.

Our financial resultswill depend on the acceptance among reference laboratories and hospitals, third-party payors and the medical
community of our molecular diagnostic technology and products.

Our future success depends on the acceptance ligirget customers, third-party payors and the na¢dimmmunity that our molecular
diagnostic products are a reliable, accurate astieffective replacement for other molecular diagitotesting methods.

Physician offices and many hospitals outsource thelecular diagnostic testing needs to nationakgronal reference laboratories. Our
business success depends on our ability to contiirese target laboratories and hospitals to replagie current testing platforms and/or send-
out tests, with our XT-8 system and related diatjodssts. We must also continue to increase thhswmable volume on our installed systems.

Many other factors may affect the market acceptamcecommercial success of our molecular diagntesticnology and products, including:
» relative convenience and ease of testing of owgrdiatic systems over competing produ

» the introduction of new technologies and compefirgducts that may make our technologies and predutgss attractive solutic
for our target customer

» the breadth of our menu of available diagnostitstesdative to our competitor
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e our success in training reference and hos-based laboratories in the proper use of our prad
» the acceptance in the medical community of our mdég diagnostic technology and produs

» the extent and success of our marketing and sHtetse and

» general economic conditior

Manufacturing risks and inefficiencies may adversely affect our ability to produce products.

We must manufacture, or engage third parties toufiaature, components of our products in sufficigumntities and on a timely basis, while
maintaining product quality, acceptable manufaogigosts and complying with regulatory requiremeilmsletermining the required quantities
of our products and the manufacturing schedulemust make significant judgments and estimates baseadventory levels, current market
trends and other related factors. Because of tierémt nature of estimates and our limited expedgen marketing our products, there could be
significant differences between our estimates aedattual amounts of products we require.

We currently manufacture our proprietary test adges at our Pasadena, California manufacturinidjitfgaintil our transfer to the Carlsbad
facility is complete in the first quarter 2011. Wetsource manufacturing of our XT-8 system and nafahe disposable component molding
and component assembly for our test cartridges XQu8 system is manufactured by Aubrey Group loar, single source supplier that
specializes in contract design and manufacturinglextronic and electromechanical devices for nedise. The components are custom-made
by only a few outside vendors. Reliance on thirdypmanufacturers entails risks to which we woutd lbe subject if we manufactured these
components ourselves, including:

» reliance on third parties for regulatory compliaacel quality assuranc
» possible breaches of manufacturing agreementsebthttd parties because of factors beyond our obr
» possible regulatory violations or manufacturinglpemns experienced by our suppliers;

» possible termination or non-renewal of agreemewtthind parties, based on their own business g at times that are costly or
inconvenient for us

We may not be able to meet the demand for our mtsdiione or more of these third-party manufagsiere not able to supply us with the
necessary components that meet our specificatiomgy be difficult to find alternate suppliersartimely manner and on terms acceptable to
us.

The manufacturing operations for our test cartridigePasadena, California use highly technical ggses involving unique, proprietary
techniques. In addition, the manufacturing equipmenuse would be costly to repair or replace amdd:require substantial lead time to re
or replace. Any interruption in our operations ecckase in the production capacity of our manufagjfacility or the facilities of any of our
suppliers because of equipment failure, naturasiéss such as earthquakes, tornadoes and ficdkeswvise, would limit our ability to meet
customer demand for the XT-8 system and tests andiddave a material adverse effect on our busjriggsicial condition and results of
operations. Other possible disruptions may inclpower loss and telecommunications failures. Inethent of a disruption, we may lose
customers and we may be unable to regain thosemass thereafter. Our insurance may not be sufficcover all of our potential losses |
may not continue to be available to us on acceptins, or at all.

We plan to move our existing manufacturing operatim Pasadena, California to a new facility loddteCarlsbad, California in the first
guarter of 2011. Our new manufacturing facilityMasié subject to the risks discussed above relatedit Pasadena manufacturing facilities. In
addition, we will need to get the appropriate ratpiy clearances for our new facility before comnieg manufacturing operations. We may
experience unexpected delays and costs in openingesv manufacturing facilities, which would haveadverse effect on our business and
financial condition.
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If we are unableto retain key members of our senior management and scientists or hire additional skilled employees, we may be unable to
achieve our goals.

Our performance is substantially dependent on énfopnance of our senior management and key sfieeatid technical personnel. Our senior
managers and other key employees can terminateréiafionship with us at any time. We have a smathber of senior managers, and the

of services of any of these managers or our séiewti technical personnel could have a materiakaske effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We do not ma@inkey-man life insurance on any of our employees

In addition, our product development and markeéffgrts could be delayed or curtailed if we arehlado attract, train and retain highly
skilled employees and scientific advisors. To expaar research, product development and saleg®ffoe will need to retain additional
people skilled in areas such as electrochemicahawldcular science, information technology, mantufideg, sales, marketing and technical
support. Because of the complex and technical eatfiour systems and the dynamic market in whicltemapete, any failure to attract and
retain a sufficient number of qualified employeesld materially harm our ability to develop and eoercialize our technology. We may not
be successful in hiring or retaining qualified mensel, and any failure to do so could have a maltadverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our success may depend upon how we and our competitors anticipate and adapt to market conditions.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidty changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, changes in customer needs,
emerging competition and new product introductidtesw technologies, techniques or products couldrgen&ith similar or better performar
or may be perceived as providing better value tharsystems and related tests and could exerngrimiessures on our products. It is critice
our success that we anticipate changes in techyalod customer requirements and successfully inte@nhanced and competitive
technology to meet our customers’ and prospectigtotners’ needs on a timely basis. We will neege$pond to technological innovation in a
rapidly changing industry and may not be able tantaén our technological advantages over emergaegriologies in the future. If we fail to
keep pace with emerging technologies, our systemselated tests will become uncompetitive andmarket share will decline, which would
have a material adverse effect on our businessndial condition and results of operations.

We may be unsuccessful in our long-term goal of expanding sales of our product offerings outside the United States.

Assuming we receive the applicable regulatory aygs) we intend to market our diagnostic productside the United States through third-
party distributors. These distributors may not cdtrihre necessary resources to market and sellragiupts to the level of our expectations. If
distributors do not perform adequately or in cowrptie with applicable laws and regulations in paléicgeographic areas, or we are unable to
locate distributors in particular geographic areas,ability to realize long-term international emwe growth would be materially adversely
affected.

In order to market our products in the Europearodr@ind many other foreign jurisdictions, we, or distributors or partners, must obtain
separate regulatory approvals and comply with noogeend varying regulatory requirements of othemntides regarding safety and efficacy
and governing, among other things, clinical studied commercial sales and distribution of our potsluThe approval procedure varies among
countries and can involve additional testing. Tégutatory approval process outside the United Staty include all of the risks associated
with obtaining FDA approval, as well as additioriaks. In addition, in many countries outside thated States, it is required that the product
be approved for reimbursement before the produtbesapproved for sale in that country. We mayafdin approvals from regulatory
authorities outside the United States on a timabid if at all.
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Our Respiratory Viral Panel Test and other menu items that we develop in the future may have sales that fluctuate on a seasonal basis and,
asaresult, our results of operations for successive quarters may not accurately reflect full-year trends.

Our Respiratory Viral Panel Test and other menmstéhat we develop in the future that assist indilagnosis of ilinesses may have sales that
fluctuate on a seasonal basis. As a result, ouitsesf operations for successive quarters maynotrately reflect full-year trends. For
example, we expect volume of testing for our Regpiy Viral Panel Test generally will decline d@githe spring and summer season and
accelerate during the fall and winter season. Assalt, comparison of our results of operationssfmwcessive quarters may not accurately
reflect trends or results for the full year.

We may not be able to correctly estimate or cordgtmlfuture operating expenses, which could leazh&h shortfalls.

Our operating expenses may fluctuate significaintlyhe future as a result of a variety of factongny of which are outside of our control.
These factors include:

» the time and resources required to develop, cordimital studies and obtain regulatory cleararfoeshe additional diagnost
tests we develoyg

» the expenses we incur for research and developraguoired to maintain and improve our technologgluding developing ou
nexi-generation molecular diagnostic syste

» the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, defagdand enforcing patent claims and other patdated costs, including litigation
costs and the results of such litigati

» the expenses we incur in connection with commaeeiibn activities, including product marketinglesaand distribution

» the expenses we incur in licensing biomarkers ftioind parties to expand the menu of diagnostics t@e plan to offer

» our sales strategy and whether the revenues frtem sfour test cartridges or -8 system will be sufficient to offset our expens
» the costs to attract and retain personnel withsHilés required for effective operations; a

» the costs associated with being a public comp

Our budgeted expense levels are based in partroexpectations concerning future revenues fromssall®ur XT-8 system and diagnostic
tests. We may be unable to reduce our expenditaur@simely manner to compensate for any unexpestedtfall in revenue. Accordingly, a
significant shortfall in demand for our productailtbhave an immediate and material adverse effecuw business and financial condition.

If we expand sales of our products outside the United States, our business will be susceptible to risks associated with international
operations.

If we execute our plan to expand our operationsidatthe United States, our inexperience in opagati foreign countries increases the risk
that our international expansion will not be susfgls Conducting international operations wouldjeabus to new risks that, generally, we
have not faced in the United States, including:

» fluctuations in currency exchange rat
» unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirés,
» longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdiffes in collecting accounts receivak
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« difficulties in managing and staffing internatiomgderations

» potentially adverse tax consequences, includingtimeplexities of foreign value added tax systemus jefficiencies related to ol
corporate structure and restrictions on the regtn of earnings

» the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and different legal standar
* increased financial accounting and reporting buscer complexities
» political, social and economic instability abrogetrorist attacks and security concerns in general
» reduced or varied protection for intellectual pndpeights in some countrie
The occurrence of any one of these risks couldthed affect our business, results of operationd prospects. Additionally, operating

internationally also requires significant managenagtention and financial resources. We can natdrsin that the investment and additional
resources required in establishing operationsheratountries will produce desired levels of revenar profitability.

We have limited experience in sales and marketing and may be unable to successfully commercialize our XT-8 system and related diagnostic
tests.

We have limited marketing, sales and distributinpegience and capabilities. In connection with XWk8 system, we commenced offering our
Warfarin Sensitivity Test in July 2008, our Cydfibrosis Genotyping Test in July 2009 and our THyophilia Risk Test in April 2010. We &
currently in varying stages of development of 4itoidal tests:

* KRAS-BRAF: Designed for the multiplexed detectiordagenotyping of 12 mutations in codons 12 andflII8RAS and the V600E
mutation in BRAF

* Hepatitus C Virus Genotyping: Designed to deted subtype the different genotypes for the Hepatitigirus (HCV).

e 2C19: For the multiplexed detection and genotymifithe *2, *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8, *9, *10, *13 and17 alleles of the cytochrome
P450 (CYP450) 2C19 gene locus);

* Respiratory Viral Panel: A qualitative nucleic acndiltiplex test designed for the simultaneous d&ir@nd identification o
multiple respiratory virus nucleic acids and mutas)

As of December 31, 2010, we had 82 analyzers dgtinaise with customers. Our ability to achievefjiability depends on attracting
customers for the XB-system and building brand loyalty. To succesgfpdirform sales, marketing, distribution and custosupport functior
ourselves, we will face a number of risks, inclgdin

» Our ability to attract and retain the skilled suggeam, marketing staff and sales force necedsartgmmercialize and gain market
acceptance for our technology and our prodt

» The ability of our sales and marketing team to fifgand penetrate the potential customer basdydireg hospitals, national ar
regional reference laboratories; ¢

» The difficulty of establishing brand recognitiondaloyalty for our products

In addition, we may seek to enlist one or moredtpirties to assist with sales, distribution anst@mer support globally or in certain region
the world. If we do seek to enter into these areamgnts, we may not be successful in attractingalasi sales and distribution partners, or we
may not be able to enter into these arrangementsvanable terms, or at all. If our sales and mtnkgeefforts, or those of any third-party sales
and distribution partners, are not successfultettnologies and products may not gain market aanep, which would materially impact our
business operations.
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Providing XT-8 systemsto our customers through reagent rental agreements may adversely affect our liquidity.

The majority our XT-8 systems are sold to custommé&@sreagent rental” agreements, under which austs commit to purchasing minimum
guantities of test cartridges over a period of anthree years. We also offer our XT-8 systemséde. In 2010, we sold ten XT-8 systems to
customers which included the sale of thirteen areatly. The amount of additional capital we may rteedise depends on the amount of our
revenues from sales of test cartridges sold thraligbe reagent rental agreements. We do not clyrssit enough test cartridges to recover all
of our fixed manufacturing expenses associated thighproduction of our systems and test cartridged,therefore we currently have a high
cost of sales relative to revenue, resulting imasg loss. If we continue not to sell a sufficieatber of test cartridges to offset our expenses
associated with these reagent rental agreementsqoidity will be adversely affected.

We use hazardous chemicals, biological materials and infectious agentsin our business. Any claimsrelating to improper handling, storage
or disposal of these materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our research, product development and manufactpriocesses involve the controlled use of hazardmitsrials, including chemicals,
biological materials and infectious disease agédts.operations produce hazardous waste produasaf' not eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or discharge and any resultant inftogn these materials. We may be sued for any ympurcontamination that results from our
use or the use by third parties of these mate@ald,our liability may exceed our insurance coveragd our total assets. Federal, state and
laws and regulations govern the use, manufacttomge, handling and disposal of these hazardotsriala and specified waste products, as
well as the discharge of pollutants into the enwinent and human health and safety matters. Conggliasith environmental laws and
regulations may be expensive and may impair owgare$, development and production efforts. If wietacomply with these requirements,
we could incur substantial costs, including civilcoiminal fines and penalties, clean-up costsapital expenditures for control equipment or
operational changes necessary to achieve and rimagatapliance. In addition, we can not predictithg@act on our business of new or
amended environmental laws or regulations or aaynghs in the way existing and future laws and aguis are interpreted and enforced.

Our corporate structure may create tax inefficiencies.

As a result our reorganization in 2010, Osmetedaime a subsidiary controlled by GenMark and a odlatt foreign corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. This organizatiorrattiire may create inefficiencies, as certain tygféeacome and investments of Osmetech
that otherwise would not be currently taxable urgiareral tax rules, may become taxable. In additonveyance of intellectual property
rights from one subsidiary to another could créaxable income. Distributions from GenMark to ifgecating subsidiaries or amongst the U.S.
operating subsidiaries of GenMark may be subjeatdtitional U.S. and foreign income tax withholdengd result in lower profits. It is our
intention in the first half of 2011 to streamliner@orporate structure and, by doing so, we mag smsne, if not most, of our tax loss carry
forward benefits and/or certain activities of tlestructuring could become taxable transactionscéveot predict the outcome of such
transactions and the impact such reorganizationtmsg on U.S. and foreign tax liability and finadaiondition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards might be limited.

As of December 31, 2010, we had net operatingdasyforwards of approximately $77.9 million for&J.federal tax purposes. These loss
carryforwards will expire in varying amounts thréug030. To the extent these net operating losgfcawards are available, we intend to use
them to reduce the corporate income tax liabilggaeiated with our operations. Section 382 of ttf lhternal Revenue Code generally
imposes an annual limitation on the amount of petrating loss carryforwards that might be usedfsebtaxable income when a corporation
has undergone significant changes in stock owneréts a result, prior or future changes in
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ownership could put limitations on the availabilitiiour net operating loss carryforwards. In additiour ability to utilize the current net
operating loss carryforwards might be further lgdiby the issuance of common stock in the futuoeth€ extent our use of net operating loss
carryforwards is significantly limited, our inconseuld be subject to corporate income tax earlien ftywould if we were able to use net
operating loss carryforwards, which could resuloiver profits.

We have determined that we have experienced mailbiwiership changes under Section 382. We havaast that approximately $24.7
million of federal net operating losses can bdagd in the future based on limitations that weehaealculated under Section 382. We are
currently analyzing alternative positions and dddal factual information that may increase the ammf net operating losses that could
subsequently be utilized. To the extent that tHditeonal information becomes available and coulctéase net operating losses available for
use, we will adjust our deferred tax assets acnghgi with a corresponding adjustment to our vabraallowance. We also had non-U.S. net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $3@illion as of December 31, 2010. As a result af planned corporate restructuring, thel
a significant risk these non-U.S. net operating leesrryforwards may not be utilized.

Risks Related to Regulation

Theregulatory clearance or approval process is expensive, time consuming and uncertain, and the failure to obtain and maintain required
clearances or approvals could prevent us from commercializing our future products.

We are investing in the research and developmenéwfdiagnostic tests to expand our menu of testpipns, as well as to develop our next-
generation NexGen system, which we anticipateedluce the need for sample preparation when ugingystem. Our products are subject to
510(Kk) clearance or pre-market approval by the FbiAr to their marketing for commercial use in theited States, and to any approvals
required by foreign governmental entities priothieir marketing outside the United States. In adidjtany changes or modifications to a de
that has received regulatory clearance or apptbaalcould significantly affect its safety or effeeness, or would constitute a major change in
its intended use, may require the submission afve application for 510(k) clearance, pre-marketrapal, or foreign regulatory approvals.

The 510(k) clearance and pre-market approval psesesis well as the process of obtaining foreigmayals, can be expensive, time
consuming and uncertain. It generally takes froor fo twelve months from submission to obtain 5)@{karance, and from one to three years
from submission to obtain pre-market approval; haveit may take longer, and 510(k) clearance errparket approval may never be
obtained. Delays in receipt of, or failure to ohtailearances or approvals for future productduding tests that are currently in design or
development, would result in delayed, or no, redi@n of revenues from such products and in subiatadditional costs which could decrease
our profitability. We have limited experience itirffg FDA applications for 510(k) clearance and prarket approval. In addition, we are
required to continue to comply with applicable FBAd other regulatory requirements once we haveraualearance or approval for a
product. There can be no assurance that we wiliolor maintain any required clearance or approwad timely basis, or at all. Any failure to
obtain or any material delay in obtaining FDA cheaze or any failure to maintain compliance with FEgulatory requirements could harm
our business, financial condition and results afrafions.

If third-party payors do not reimburse our customersfor the use of our clinical diagnostic products or if reimbursement levels are set too low
for usto sell our products at a profit, our ability to sell our products and our results of operations will be harmed.

We sell our products to hospital-based and referdaizoratories, substantially all of which receiggnbursement for the health care services
they provide to their patients from third-party pes; such as
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Medicare, Medicaid, other domestic and foreign goreent programs, private insurance plans and mahege programs. Reimbursement
decisions by particular third-party payors depepdrua number of factors, including each third-pg@idyor’s determination that use of a
product is:

» acovered benefit under its health pl

» appropriate and medically necessary for the speiciflication;
» cost effective; an

» neither experimental nor investigation

Third-party payors may deny reimbursement for cedgrroducts if they determine that a medical proeas not used in accordance with cost-
effective diagnosis methods, as determined byhind-party payor, or was used for an unapprovedatobn. Third-party payors also may
refuse to reimburse for procedures and devices déeémbe experimental.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval fooduct from each government or third-party paga time consuming and costly
process that could require us to provide supporaigntific, clinical and cost-effectiveness datathe use of our product to each government
or thirdparty payor. We may not be able to provide datficsent to gain acceptance with respect to covesgtreimbursement. For examy
Medicare and Medicaid generally do not reimburseisiers who use our Warfarin Sensitivity Test. tidigion, eligibility for coverage does r
imply that any product will be covered and reimlgarén all cases or reimbursed at a rate that allmwgotential customers to make a profit or
even cover their costs.

In the United States, the American Medical Assdmmassigns specific Current Procedural TerminolagyCPT, codes, which are necessary
for reimbursement of diagnostic tests. Once the €&k is established, the Centers for MedicareMexdicaid Services establish
reimbursement payment levels and coverage rulesruviddicaid and Medicare, and private payors estalbhtes and coverage rules
independently. We can not guarantee that any ofests are or will be covered by the CPT codeswiedbelieve may be applied to them or-
any of our tests or other products will be approfgectoverage or reimbursement by Medicare and badior any third-party payor. Third-
party payors may nonetheless choose to reimburseustomers on a per test basis based on individaaiarker detection, rather than on the
basis of the number of results given by the telsis Thay result in reference laboratories, publialtieinstitutions and hospitals electing to use
separate tests to screen for each disease shidlyatdn receive reimbursement for each test theghu. In that event, these entities may
purchase separate tests for each disease, rasimeptbducts that can be used to return multipleréssilts.

Third-party payors are increasingly attemptingdatein health care costs by limiting both coveragd the level of reimbursement for medical
products and services. Increasingly, Medicare, ktidiand other third-party payors are challengirggrices charged for medical services,
including clinical diagnostic tests. In additionglicare’s current freeze on its clinical laboratf@y schedule may adversely affect the growth
of the molecular diagnostics market for patientshim United States who are over 65 or have spatigabilities. Levels of reimbursement may
decrease in the future, and future legislationulagpn or reimbursement policies of third-partypes may adversely affect the demand for and
reimbursement available for our products, whictuim, could negatively impact pricing. If our custers are not adequately reimbursed for
products, they may reduce or discontinue purchafsesr products, which would cause our revenuatetine.

We and our suppliers, contract manufacturers and customers are subject to various governmental regulations, and we may incur significant
expenses to comply with, and experience delays in our product commercialization as a result of, these regulations.

Our manufacturing processes and facilities, andetad some of our contract manufacturers, are redquo comply with the federal Quality
System Regulation, or the QSR, which covers thegmtores and documentation
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of the design, testing, production, control, qyadissurance, labeling, packaging, sterilizatiooregfe and shipping of our devices. The FDA
enforces the QSR through periodic announced angiv@nnounced inspections of manufacturing faciliti¥e and our contract manufacturers
have been, and anticipate in the future beingextiltp such inspections, as well as to inspectignsther federal and state regulatory agencies.
We intend to complete the move of our manufactuapgrations, to a new facility in Carlsbad, Califiarin March 2011. Any delay in
establishing our manufacturing operations at ow fagility or obtaining any required licenses ogu&atory approvals for our manufacturing
facilities could delay our ability to develop odlsaur products or cause us to incur more expetteas currently anticipated in our operating
budget.

We must also file reports of device corrections eerdovals and adhere to the FDA's rules on labedimg) promotion. The FDA and other
agencies actively enforce the laws and regulagwahkibiting the promotion of off-label uses, andanpany that is found to have improperly
promoted off-label uses may be subject to sigmifidiability, including substantial monetary pefedtand criminal prosecution.

Failure to comply with applicable FDA requiremertds)ater discovery of previously unknown problewith our products or manufacturing
processes, including our failure or the failurené of our contract manufacturers to take satisfgatorrective action in response to an adverse
QSR inspection, can result in, among other things:

« administrative or judicially imposed sanctio

» injunctions or the imposition of civil penaltie

» recall or seizure of our produc

» total or partial suspension of production or digition;

» the FDA' s refusal to grant pending future clearance c-market approval for our produc
» withdrawal or suspension of marketing clearancespprovals

» clinical holds;

e warning letters

» refusal to permit the import or export of our proti anc

e criminal prosecutior

Any of these actions, in combination or alone, dquievent us from marketing, distributing or seliour products and would likely harm our
business.

In addition, a product defect or regulatory viadaticould lead to a government-mandated or voluntegll by us. We believe that the FDA
would request that we initiate a voluntary recidl product was defective or presented a risk jofynor gross deception. Regulatory agencies
in other countries have similar authority to recilices because of material deficiencies or defeatesign or manufacture that could
endanger health. Any recall would divert managenagiention and financial resources, could caus@tioe of our shares of common stock to
decline and expose us to product liability or ottlaims, including contractual claims from partiesvhom we sold products and harm our
reputation with customers. A recall involving ouf>8 system or either of our FD&leared diagnostic tests would be particularly Hatto out
business and financial results.

The use of our diagnostic products by our custonseatso affected by the Clinical Laboratory Impeavent Amendments of 1988, or CLIA,
and related federal and state regulations thatigeedor regulation of laboratory testing. CLIA isténded to ensure the quality and reliability of
clinical laboratories in the United States by mamdgspecific standards in the areas of personnelifications, administration, participation in
proficiency testing, patient test management, giaksurance and quality control and inspectionstedt or future CLIA requirements or the
promulgation of additional regulations affectingdaatory testing may prevent some laboratories fusing some or all of our diagnostic
products.
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Legidative or regulatory healthcare reforms may make it more difficult and costly for usto obtain regulatory clearance or approval of our
products and to produce, market and distribute our products after clearance or approval is obtained.

From time to time, legislation is drafted and inlnged in Congress that could significantly charngestatutory provisions governing the
regulatory clearance or approval, manufacture aacketing of regulated products or the reimbursertterieof. In addition, FDA regulations
and guidance are often revised or reinterpretetth&yDA in ways that may significantly affect ourdiness and our products. For example, in
the future, the FDA may require more burdensomenpriket approval of our system or diagnostic testisar than the 501(k) clearance process
we have used to date and anticipate primarily usirtge future. Any new regulations or revisiongeinterpretations of existing regulations
may impose additional costs or lengthen review simfeour products. Delays in receipt of or failtwmaeceive regulatory clearances or
approvals for our new products would have a mdtadaerse effect on our business, financial coaditind results of operations.

Federal and state governments in the United Staitealso undertaking efforts to control growingltieeare costs through legislation,
regulation and voluntary agreements with mediceg paoviders and thirgarty payors. In March 2010, Congress enacted ceingmsive heall
care reform legislation known as the Patient Ptaie@nd Affordable Care Act of 2010, or the PPA®#hile the PPACA involves expanding
coverage to more individuals, it includes new ratpdy mandates and other measures designed ta@ionstedical costs. The PPACA also
imposes significant new taxes on medical deviceufaturers that are expected to cost the medicateéndustry up to $20 billion over the
next decade. There are also stringent new repariqgirements of financial relationships betweevidemanufacturers and physicians and
teaching hospitals. Complying with PPACA could sfigantly increase our costs and adversely affectiusiness and financial condition.

Our operations will also be impacted by the fedBwatient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 20d9modified by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, which we refie as the Health Care Act. The Health Care Agtdaes a 2.3% excise tax on sales of
medical devices by manufacturers. Taxable deviodsde any medical device defined in section 20&fthe Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and intended for use by haspavith limited exclusions for devices purchasgdHhe general public at retail for
individual use. There is no exemption for small pamies, and we expect to begin paying the tax ¥820he Health Care Act also requires
manufacturers to report to the Department of Heattth Human Services detailed information aboutniied arrangements with physicians and
teaching hospitals. These reporting provisionsmppestate laws that require reporting of the samf@rination, but not those that require
reports of different or additional information. keie to comply subjects the manufacturer to sigaifit civil monetary penalties. We expect
compliance with the Health Care Act to impose digant administrative and financial burdens on us.

We are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback, self-referral, false claims
and fraud laws, and any violations by us of such laws could result in fines or other penalties.

Our commercial, research, and other financial i@tahips with healthcare providers and institutians subject to various federal and state
intended to prevent health care fraud and abusefdderal anti-kickback statute prohibits the knayvoffer, receipt or payment of
remuneration in exchange for or to induce the rafef patients or the use of products or servibas would be paid for in whole or part by
Medicare, Medicaid or other federal health carggpams. Remuneration has been broadly defined todaanything of value, including cash,
improper discounts, and free or reduced price itantsservices. Many states have similar laws thplyao their state health care programs as
well as private payors. Violations of the anti-kielck laws can result in exclusion from federal thee&re programs and substantial civil and
criminal penalties.

The federal False Claims Act, or FCA, imposes lighon persons who, among other things, presectase to be presented false or fraudt
claims for payment by a federal health care progreime FCA has been used to
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prosecute persons submitting claims for paymeritateinaccurate or fraudulent, that are for sewicot provided as claimed, or for services
that are not medically necessary. The FCA includesistieblower provision that allows individuatskiring actions on behalf of the federal
government and share a portion of the recoveryioéessful claims. If our marketing or other arrangats were determined to violate anti-
kickback or related laws, including the FCA, them cevenues could be adversely affected, which dvbkély have a material adverse effec
our business, financial conditions and resultsperations.

State and federal authorities have aggressivedyetad medical device companies for alleged viatetiof these anti-fraud statutes, based on
improper research or consulting contracts with odieggtcertain marketing arrangements that rely darae-based pricing, off-label marketing
schemes and other improper promotional practicesigainies targeted in such prosecutions have pagtantial fines in the hundreds of
millions of dollars or more, have been forced tpiement extensive corrective action plans, and loftem become subject to consent decrees
severely restricting the manner in which they candbeir business. If we become the target of sucnvestigation or prosecution based on
our contractual relationships with providers ottitasions, or our marketing and promotional pragsicwe could face similar sanctions which
would materially negatively affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We rely on third-party license agreements for patents and other technology related to our products. The termination of these agreements
could delay or prevent us from being able to commercialize our products and the failure to negotiate new licenses could prevent us from
expanding our menu of diagnostic products.

We depend on licenses to certain patents and papefitations that are related to electrochemiestction technology and other technology
used in our molecular diagnostic systems and testidges. These licenses include both exclusiveram-exclusive arrangements. Many of
these exclusive licenses obligate us to use coniatigreeasonable efforts to commercialize the scbijeventions of the licensed patents, ar
we fail to meet this obligation, we could lose @memore of those licenses. If, following such aemy any of our licensors were to provide a
license to these patents to one or more of our etitops, our ability to compete in the market maydiminished. Furthermore, if we fail to
comply with our material obligations under any aof patent license agreements, the licenses magriméniated and we could lose license ri
that are important to our business.

The exclusive and non-exclusive licenses expisagbus times, corresponding to the subject patenpatent applications, the expirations of
which currently range from 2013 to 2028. We exptkeat we will need to license other technology depts to commercialize future products,
including licenses to additional biomarkers to exghaur menu of diagnostic tests. These licensesnobpe available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, which could advera#fgct our results of operations and growth protpec

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to the protection of our patents and other intellectual
property rights and we may be unable to protect our rightsto our technology.

If we or any of our licensors choose to go to conidtop a third party from using the inventiorairtied in our owned or licensed patents, that
third party may ask the court to rule that the pttare invalid and should not be enforced agalivagtthird party. These lawsuits are expensive
and would consume time and other resources ewee Vfiere successful in stopping the infringemenhesge patents. In addition, there is a risk
that the court will decide that these patents atevalid and that we do not have the right to sithgers from using the inventions.

There is also the risk that, even if the validifytteese patents is upheld, the court will refussttp the other party on the ground that such ¢
party’s activities do not infringe our patents.aadition, the U.S. Supreme Court and the Courtmieals for the Federal Circuit have recently
changed some tests regarding granting patentsssedsing the validity of patent claims. As a consage, issued patents may be found to
contain
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invalid claims according to the newly revised andently evolving standards. Some of our own olidensed patents may be subject to
challenge and subsequent invalidation or significeanrowing of claim scope in a re-examination pexing before the Patent and Trademark
Office (“PTO"), or during litigation, under the rised criteria which make it more difficult to obtgdatents.

We may also not be able to detect infringementresgaiur own or in-licensed patents, which may leeeiglly difficult for methods of use.
While we intend to take actions reasonably necgdsaenforce our patent rights, we depend, in martpur licensors and collaborators to
protect a substantial portion of our proprietaghts.

Our products could infringe patent rights of others, which may require costly litigation and, if we are not successful, could cause usto pay
substantial damages or limit our ability to commercialize our products.

Our commercial success depends on our ability ¥elde, manufacture and market our systems anddestsise our proprietary technology
without infringing the patents and other proprigtaghts of third parties. As the molecular diagmosdustry expands and more patents are
issued, the risk increases that there may be paitented to third parties that relate to our preglaad technology of which we are not aware or
that we must challenge to continue our operatiensuarently contemplated. Our products may infringenay be alleged to infringe these
patents.

In addition, some patent applications in the Unii¢ates may be maintained in secrecy until thensiere issued, because patent applications
in the United States and many foreign jurisdictians typically not published until eighteen mondifter filing and because publications in the
scientific literature often lag behind actual digeoes, therefore we can not be certain that othave not filed patent applications for
technology covered by our issued patents or oudipgrapplications or that we were the first to inv#he technology. Another party may have
filed, and may in the future file, patent applicat covering our products or technology similaoties. Any such patent application may have
priority over our patent applications or patenthjck could further require us to obtain rightsgsued patents covering such technologies. If
another party has filed a U.S. patent applicatioimeentions similar to ours, we may have to pte in an interference proceeding declared
by the PTO to determine priority of invention iretbinited States. The costs of these proceedindd bewsubstantial, and it is possible that
such efforts would be unsuccessful if the othetyplaad independently arrived at the same or sinmkagntion prior to our own invention,
resulting in a loss of our U.S. patent positionhwiéspect to such inventions.

There is a substantial amount of litigation invalyipatent and other intellectual property rightthiem medical device, biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries generally. If a thirdtpataims that we or any collaborator infringesiiteellectual property rights, we may face a
number of issues, including, but not limited to:

» infringement and other intellectual property claiwtsich, regardless of merit, may be expensive ané-consuming to litigate an
may divert our managem¢'s attention from our core busine

» substantial damages for infringement, which we mmaye to pay if a court decides that the produitsate infringes on or violates
the third party’s rights, and if the court findsthhe infringement was willful, we could be ordi#te pay treble damages and the
patent owne's attorney’ fees;

» acourt prohibiting us from selling or licensingrguoduct unless the third party licenses its pobdights to us, which it is n
required to do

» if alicense is available from a third party, weyneve to pay substantial royalties, upfront feegrant crosdicenses to intellectu
property rights for our products; a

» redesigning our products or processes so they timinmge, which may not be possible or may requubstantial monetary
expenditures and tim
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Some of our competitors may be able to sustaidises of complex patent litigation more effectivéign we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, amettainties resulting from the initiation and donation of any litigation could have a matel
adverse effect on our ability to raise the fundsassary to continue our operations.

We may be infringing on the patent rights of third parties, which could prevent us from selling our current or future products .

From time to time we may become engaged in litoggatwith third parties having patent or other irgetal property rights alleging that our
products or proprietary technologies infringe theiellectual property rights. These third partesl others who may in the future threaten us
with such litigation, are or may be better capitadi and have more resources than us. In additiardier to commercialize certain new or
existing tests including our Thrombophilia Risk T ege may be required to license certain biomarkessk that a third party may claim that
the use of certain biomarkers in our tests infrinthesir intellectual properly rights. We have reeeli correspondence in the past bringing to our
attention certain patent rights held by third pestand offering to discuss licensing terms to #iteqts. Some of these letters relate to patents
that are important to our products. Independemtbyhave also identified patents held by third parthat cover one or more of our products or
planned products. Although we have taken licensesimerous such third-party patents, we have adsbrebd to license certain patents in
instances where we do not believe our existing yeteinfringe valid claims. A license may not baidable to us or any collaborator on
acceptable terms, or at all, which could potentiptevent us from selling our current products eveloping new tests. In addition, during
litigation, the patent holder could obtain a prefiary injunction or other equitable relief whichutd prohibit us from making, using or selling
our products, technologies or methods pendingahdri the merits, which could be years away. Funtioee, such litigation is costly and could
affect our results of operations and divert therdton of managerial and technical personnel.

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection covering our products, others may be able to make, use, or
sell products substantially the same as ours, which could adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.

Our commercial success is dependent in part orirdhgga maintaining and enforcing intellectual prageights, including patents. If we are
unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellechraperty protection covering our products, othraeg be able to make, use or sell products
that are substantially the same as ours withouwiriing the sizeable development and licensing dbstswe have incurred, which would
adversely affect our ability to compete in the nedrk

We seek to obtain and maintain patents and othelidntual property rights to restrict the abildfothers to market products that compete with
our products. Currently, our patent portfolio isrqwised, on a worldwide basis, of 144 issued Un8.fareign patents which we own directly

for which we are the exclusive licensee and thatrexoetween 2013 and 2021. However, patents magenssued based on any pending or
future patent applications owned by or licenseds@nd, moreover, issued patents owned or licetesesi now or in the future may be found

a court to be invalid or otherwise unenforceablisoAeven if our patents are determined by a doure valid and enforceable, they may not be
sufficiently broad to prevent others from marketprgducts similar to ours or designing around atepts, despite our patent rights, nor
provide us with freedom to operate unimpeded bypttent rights of others.

We have also licensed certain intellectual propfdsn third parties related to our products, andrelg on them to file and prosecute patent
applications and maintain patents and otherwisteptohe licensed intellectual property. We havehaa and do not have primary control over
these activities for certain of our patents or pasgplications and other intellectual propertyhtggy We can not be certain that such activities by
third parties have been or will be conducted in pliamce with applicable laws and regulations ot vabult in valid and enforceable patents
and other intellectual property rights. Pursuanthterms of the license agreements
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with some of our licensors, the licensors may hheeright to control enforcement of our licensetepts or defense of any claims asserting the
invalidity of these patents and even if we are pechto pursue such enforcement or defense, weeagjlire the cooperation of our licensors.
We can not be certain that our licensors will adtecsufficient resources or prioritize their or eaforcement of such patents or defense of suct
claims to protect our interests in the licensec piat

The patent positions of medical device companiesbeahighly uncertain and involve complex legal &atual questions for which important
legal principles remain unresolved. No consisteticp regarding the breadth of claims allowed inepas in these fields has emerged to date in
the United States or in many foreign jurisdictioBsth the U.S. Supreme Court and the Court of Alspiea the Federal Circuit have made, i
will likely continue to make, changes in how thequa laws of the U.S. are interpreted. In additi@ongress is currently considering legisla:
that would change provisions of the patent law.d&fenot predict future changes in the interpretatiopatent laws or changes to patent laws
which might be enacted into law. Those changes maigrially affect our patents, our ability to olbt@iatents or the patents and applications of
our collaborators and licensors. The patent sibnati the medical device and disease diagnostitsfieutside the United States is even more
uncertain.

Future protection for our proprietary rights is artain because legal means afford only limitedgetidon and may not adequately protect our
rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitdvantage. For example:

» others may be able to make systems or devicesiteaimilar to ours but that are not covered bycthans of our patent:

* we may not be able to identify potential infringefour technology due in part to the large nundfezrompetitors in the fielc

* we might not have been the first to make the ineastcovered by our issued patents or pending pappiications

* we might not have been the first to file patentlapgions for these invention

» our pending patent applications may not resulssuéd patent:

* ourissued patents may not provide us with any agitiye advantages or may be held invalid or unesgfable as a result of legal
challenges by third partie

» the claims of our issued patents or patent apphicatwhen issued may not cover our device or prodaicdidates

» there may be dominating patents relevant to oudyrbcandidates of which we are not awi

» there may be prior public disclosures that couldilitate our inventions or parts of our inventiafisvhich we are not awar
» the laws of foreign countries may not protect ounppietary rights to the same extent as the lawtk@United States; ar

* we may not develop additional proprietary techn@eghat are patentabl

We have a number of foreign patents and applicatibiowever, the laws of some foreign jurisdictioiesnot protect intellectual property rigl
to the same extent as laws in the United Statespsmny companies have encountered significantdities in obtaining, protecting and
defending such rights in foreign jurisdictionswié encounter such difficulties or we are othervgsecluded from effectively protecting our
intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictis, our business prospects could be substantiatinéd.

We also rely on trade-secret protection to prodectinterests in proprietary knolew and for processes for which patents are difficuobtair
or enforce. We may not be able to protect our tsseets adequately. We
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have limited control over the protection of tragerets used by our licensors, collaborators anglgup. Although we use reasonable efforts to
protect our trade secrets, our employees, congsjtaontractors, outside scientific collaboratard ather advisors may unintentionally or
willfully disclose our information to competitorEnforcing a claim that a third-party illegally obtad and is using any of our trade secrets is
expensive and time consuming, and the outcomepeedittable. In addition, courts outside the Uniftdtes are sometimes less willing to
protect trade secrets. We rely, in part, on nocldgire and confidentiality agreements with our lxyges, consultants and other parties to
protect our trade secrets and other proprietatyntglogy. These agreements may be breached and waohhave adequate remedies for any
breach. Moreover, others may independently devetpgvalent proprietary information, and third pastmay otherwise gain access to our 1
secrets and proprietary knowledge. Any disclostieaofidential data into the public domain or tardhparties could allow our competitors to
learn our trade secrets and use the informati@oimpetition against us.

We may be subject to claims that our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

As is common in our industry, we employ individualso were previously employed at other moleculagdostics or medical device
companies, including our competitors or potent@hpetitors. Although no claims against us are ailygpending, we may be subject to cla
that these employees or we have inadvertentlytmratise used or disclosed trade secrets or otlo@riptary information of their former
employers. Litigation may be necessary to deferainsg these claims. Even if we are successful fandkng against these claims, litigation
could result in substantial costs and be a distnacdb management.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Future sales of our common stock may depress our share price.

As of December 31, 2010, we have 11,728,233 sludir@sr common stock outstanding. Sales of a nurabeommon shares in the public
market could cause the market price of our comntockgo decline. In addition, our 2010 Plan progider annual increases in the number of
shares available for issuance under the plan. Weatsa sell additional common stock in subsequebtip offerings, which may adversely
affect market prices for our common stock.

Wewill incur costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companiesin the
United States, which may adversely affect our operating results, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could cause investorsto lose confidence in our operating resultsand in
the accuracy of our financial reports and could have a material adverse effect on our business and on the price of our common stock.

As a public company in the United States, we wéllrbquired, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarb@xdsy Act of 2002, or Section 404, to
furnish a report by management on, among otheg#hithe effectiveness of our internal control diaincial reporting. Our first report on
compliance with Section 404 is expected to be imeation with our financial statements for the yeading December 31, 2011. The controls
and other procedures are designed to ensure fhatniation required to be disclosed by us in therepthat we file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, is disclosed accyratel is recorded, processed, summarized and egpwithin the time periods specified
SEC rules and forms. We are in the early stagesmfiorming our internal control procedures to tbguirements of Section 404 and we may
not be able to complete our evaluation, testingamdrequired remediation needed to comply withtiSeet04 in a timely fashion. Our
independent registered public accounting firm watsemgaged to perform an audit of our internal m@rdver financial reporting. Our
independent registered public accounting firm’sitimdluded consideration of internal control o¥igancial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the cistantes, but not for the purpose of expressingarian on the effectiveness of our
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internal control over financial reporting. Accordlg, no such opinion was expressed. Even if we ldgveffective controls, these new controls
may become inadequate because of changes in aoreddi the degree of compliance with these policigrocedures may deteriorate. Even
after we develop these new procedures additionakmesses in our internal control over financiabréipg may be discovered. In order to fu
comply with Section 404, we will need to retain gidthal employees to supplement our current finaste#f and/or to engage a third party
consulting firm to assist in risk assessment, dantation and testing of controls. In addition,hie process of evaluating our internal control
over financial reporting we expect that certairof internal control practices will need to be updato comply with the requirements of
Section 404 and the regulations promulgated thelenand we may not be able to do so on a timedisbar at all. In the event that we are not
able to demonstrate compliance with Section 4Qtimely manner, or are unable to produce timelganurate financial statements, we may
be subject to sanctions or investigations by reégeyaauthorities such as the SEC or NASDAQ and stmes may lose confidence in our
operating results and the price of our common stoekd decline. Furthermore, if we or our auditars unable to certify that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective amddompliance with Section 404 we may be subjestttctions or investigations by regulatory
authorities such as the SEC or NASDAQ and we ctmsd investor confidence in the accuracy and corapéss of our financial reports, wh
would have a material adverse effect on our busiaes on the price of our common stock and ouitgltdl access the capital markets.

Furthermore, as a public company listed in the éthBtates, we will incur significant additional #gaccounting and other expenses. In
addition, changing laws, regulations and standeelddging to corporate governance and public dissksincluding regulations implemented by
the SEC and NASDAQ, may increase legal and findciapliance costs and make some activities mame tonsuming. These laws,
regulations and standards are subject to varyiggpretations and, as a result, their applicatiopractice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governindié® We intend to invest resources to comply witblving laws, regulations and standa
and this investment may result in increased germgrdladministrative expenses and a diversion ofagement’s time and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance adigitlf notwithstanding our efforts to comply witlew laws, regulations and standards, we fail
to comply, regulatory authorities may initiate legeoceedings against us and our business mayrieeka

Failure to comply with these rules might also mikeore difficult for us to obtain certain typesinsurance, including director and officer
liability insurance, and we might be forced to gtaeduced policy limits and coverage or incur saially higher costs to obtain the same or
similar coverage. The impact of these events caldd make it more difficult for us to attract amdain qualified persons to serve on our board
of directors, on committees of our board of direstar as members of senior management.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We currently intend to invest our future earnirigany, to fund the development and growth of ousibess. In addition, our credit facility
restricts our ability to pay dividends. The paymehdividends will be at the discretion of our bov&f directors and will depend on our results
of operations, capital requirements, financial dbad, future prospects, contractual arrangemertgrictions imposed by applicable law, any
limitations on payments of dividends present in dapt agreements we may enter into and other faotarboard of directors may deem
relevant. If we do not pay dividends, your abitibyachieve a return on your investment in our campaill depend on any future appreciation
in the market price of our common stock. Theredgnarantee that our common stock will appreciatealue or even maintain the price at
which our holders have purchased their common stock
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove the current members of our board and
management.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorpasatand bylaws could discourage, delay or preventeger, acquisition or other change of
control that stockholders may consider favoralmeluding transactions in which you might otherwiseeive a premium for your shares.
Furthermore, these provisions could prevent ortfabs attempts by our stockholders to replace moree members of our board of directors.
These provisions also could limit the price thatistors might be willing to pay in the future farra&common stock, thereby depressing the
market price of our common stock. Stockholders wigh to participate in these transactions may awetthe opportunity to do so. These
provisions:

» allow the authorized number of directors to be geahonly by resolution of our board of directc
* provide that our stockholders may only remove arteatfors for cause
» establish a classified board of directors, suchrbaall members of the board of directors magleeted at one time

» authorize our board of directors to issue withaatkholder approval up to 100,000,000 shares ofrcomstock, that, if issued,
would dilute our stock ownership and could opeest@ “poison pill” to dilute the stock ownershipaopotential hostile acquirer to
prevent an acquisition that is not approved bykmard of directors

» authorize our board of directors to issue withaatkholder approval up to 5,000,000 shares of prefiestock, the rights of which
will be determined at the discretion of the boafrdicectors that, if issued, could operate as daspo pill” to dilute the stock
ownership of a potential hostile acquirer to préve@macquisition that is not approved by our bardirectors;

* require that stockholder actions must be effectedaduly called stockholder meeting or by unanimatitten consent

» establish advance notice requirements for stocldnaidminations to our board of directors or forcktwlder proposals that can
acted on at stockholder meetin

« limit who may call stockholder meetings; a
* require the approval of the holders of 80% of thistanding shares of our capital stock entitleddi® in order to amend certe
provisions of our certificate of incorporation amglaws.

In addition, we are governed by the provisions @ft®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporation hatich may, unless certain criteria are
met, prohibit large stockholders, in particularsgb@wning 15% or more of the voting rights on cammon stock, from merging or combining
with us for a prescribed period of time.

Iltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We currently operate from two facilities locatedHasadena, California and Carlsbad, California. Bagadena manufacturing facility
approximates 8,400 square feet. The lease on @adeaa manufacturing facility expires in July 2QhlJuly 2010, we moved our headqual
to a new facility in Carlsbad, California and beghe transfer of our manufacturing operations is pant. The move will be completed in
March 2011.

We do not own any real property. We believe thatleased facilities are adequate to meet our niedbe foreseeable future.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time subject to various claams legal actions during the ordinary course oflmuginess. We believe that there are
currently no claims or legal actions that woulds@@ably be expected to have a material adverset @fficour results of operations or financial
condition.

ltem 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED
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PART II.

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted on The NASDAQ d@dlarket under the symbol “GNMK” since May 28, 20Prior to that time, our
stock traded under the ticker symbol “OMH” on thendon Stock Exchange. The following table setshfddr the periods indicated, the
quarterly high and low sales prices per share otommon stock as reported on The NASDAQ Globalkdar

Period from May 28, 2010 to December 31, 2010:

High Low
Second Quarte $6.0C $4.02
Third Quartel $5.1¢F $3.27
Fourth Quarte $5.2C $2.97

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total $tolcler returns on our common stock for the periatidated with the cumulative total
stockholder returns on the NASDAQ Composite Indect he NASDAQ Biotechnology Index for the same peériThe graph assumes that
$100 was invested on May 28, 2010 in our commocksamd in each index and that all dividends weievessted. No cash dividends have b
declared on our common stock. Stockholder retuves the indicated period should not be considemditative of future stockholder returns.
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Stockholders

The last reported sale price of common stock onciMar 2011 as reported on the Nasdaqg Global Mavket$4.28. As of March 1, 2011, there
were 9,131 holders of record of common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not expect to pay angelnds for the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain any future earningsund the operation, development and expansion obuosiness. Any future determination to pay
dividends will be at the sole discretion of our Bbaf Directors and will depend upon a number efdes, including our results of operations,
capital requirements, financial condition, futuregpects, contractual arrangements, restrictiop@s®d by applicable law, any limitations on
payments of dividends present in our current ahgréudebt arrangements, and other factors our BafaBdrectors may deem relevant.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stéc

On June 3, 2010, we closed our initial public affgr in which we sold 4,600,000 shares of commouoksat a price to the public of $6.00 per
share. The aggregate offering price for sharesiadle offering was $27.6 million. The offer aralesof all of the shares in the initial public
offering were registered under the Securities Agspant to a registration statement on Form S+ (0. 333-165562), which was declared
effective by the SEC on May 28, 2010. The offerdognmenced as of May 28, 2010 and did not termibatere all of the securities registered
in the registration statement were sold. Piperdgficted as sole book-running manager for theinffeWilliam Blair & Company and
ThinkEquity LLC acted as co-managers of the offgrifihere were no selling stockholders in the offigriWe raised approximately $22.6
million in net proceeds after deducting underwgtifiscounts and commissions of $1.9 million an&ptiffering expenses of $3.0 million. No
payments were made by us to directors, officefgeosons owning ten percent or more of our commackstr to their associates, or to our
affiliates, other than payments in the ordinaryrsewf business to officers for salaries and to-@mployee directors as compensation for b
or board committee service. There has been no imbtéange in the planned use of proceeds fromnitigl public offering as described in ¢
final prospectus filed with the SEC on June 1, 2ptfsuant to Rule 424(b). We invested the fundsived in registered money market funds.

Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial daiates to GenMark and its consolidated subsidiafibe selected consolidated statement of
operations data presented below of GenMark foy#ze ended December 31, 2010 and Osmetech plodgrdars ended December 31, 2009
and 2008 and the selected consolidated balancé ddaeof GenMark as of December 31, 2010 and G=rhgtlc as of December 31, 2009
have been derived from the audited consolidatexhfifal statements of GenMark, which have been peelga accordance with U.S. GAAP,
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

The selected consolidated financial statementpefations data of Osmetech plc presented beloth&year ended December 31, 2007 and
the selected consolidated balance sheet data oé®smplc as of December 31, 2008 have been ddrivedaudited consolidated financial
statements of Osmetech plc, not included in thisnFb0-K, which have been prepared in accordande Wis. GAAP.

The selected consolidated financial statement efatjpns data presented below for the year endedrbieer 31, 2006 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@08Z,and 2006 have been derived from unauditedotidased financial information, not
included in this Form 10-K, and have been prepase@enMark in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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The results for the periods shown below are noés&arily indicative of the results to be expectedahy future periods. The selected
consolidated financial data should be read togetiithr“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Ficial Condition and Results of
Operations” and with the consolidated financiatestzents and unaudited condensed consolidated falastatements of GenMark and related
notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Revenue:
Product sale $ 2,340,990 % 910,520 $ 559,59 $ 234,09¢ $ 50,50(
License and other reven 163,87: 87,88¢ 87,50( 107,50( 41,06
Total revenue 2,504,86:! 998,41¢ 647,09: 341,59¢ 91,56:
Cost of sale: 4,377,70. 4,332,29! 3,237,86! 2,624,58! 2,331,43
Gross loss (1,872,83) (3,333,88) (2,590,77) (2,282,99)) (2,239,86)
Operating expenses
Sales and marketir 4,282,52. 3,181,76: 3,393,66! 2,220,09: 905,96:
Research and developm: 6,522,11. 5,633,71 13,423,67 12,554,23 10,606,56
General and administrati\ 7,353,80: 8,288,76. 9,632,70: 8,895,79 9,781,50!
Total operating expense: 18,158,43 17,104,24 26,450,05. 23,670,13 21,294,03
Loss from operations (20,031,26) (20,438,12) (29,040,82)  (25,953,12) (23,533,90)
Other (expense) income
Foreign exchange (loss) ge (1,110 303,52: 504,92: — —
Interest income (expens (582) 33,22 420,01 1,715,211 522,29:
Therapeutic Discovery Crec 1,645,29: — — — —
Total other income 1,643,601 336,74! 924,93. 1,715,211 522,29:
Loss before income taxe (18,387,66) (20,101,37) (28,115,89)  (24,237,90) (23,011,60)
(Provision) benefit for income tax (15,329 138,77( (246,73 300,21 231,63
Net loss from continuing operations $ (18,402,99) $ (19,962,60) $ (28,362,63) $(23,937,69) $(22,779,97)
Net loss per common share from continu
operations (basic and dilute $ (1.8¢) % 4.4y $ (28.17) (27.19) $ (31.69)
Weighted average shares used in net loss per cor
share 9,796,58: 4,526,75! 1,008,38! 882,32! 719,37¢
As of December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalel $ 18,329,07 $ 16,482,81 $ 8,822,45 $27,619,71 $13,874,79
Total asset 24,925,50 19,333,47 15,175,21 33,233,62 26,718,73
Long-term liabilities 612,93. 795,33« 769,23" 720,35! 339,14
Total liabilities 3,858,09. 4,008,65! 5,237,941 3,265,93. 8,359,36.
Accumulated defici (144,492,88)  (126,089,88)  (106,127,28) (77,764,64)  (88,309,44)
Total stockholder’ equity 21,067,41 15,324,81 9,937,26! 29,967,68 18,359,37
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONSAND FINANCIAL CONDITION

You should read the following in conjunction witle t'Selected Consolidated Financial Information”dithe consolidated financial statements
of GenMark and the related notes thereto that appésewhere in this report. In addition to hist@lénformation, the following discussion &
analysis includes forward looking information thavolves risks, uncertainties and assumptions. &aesults and the timing of events could
differ materially from those anticipated by theseaard looking statements as a result of many factocluding those discussed under “Risk
Factor<” elsewhere in this prospectus. See also “SpecatieNRegarding Forward Looking Statements” inclugéégewhere in this filing.

Overview

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc., or GenMark, was formgddsmetech plc, or Osmetech, in Delaware in Felpr2@t0 and had no operations prior
to its initial public offering which was completédJune 2010. Immediately prior to the closinghaf tnitial public offering, GenMark acquired
all of the outstanding ordinary shares of Osmetechreorganization under the applicable laws efliimited Kingdom. As a result of the
reorganization, all of the issued ordinary shane®s$metech were cancelled in consideration ohé)issuance of common stock of GenMark to
the former shareholders of Osmetech and (ii) theaisce of new shares in Osmetech to GenMark. Fioitpthe reorganization, Osmetech
became a subsidiary controlled by GenMark, anddhaer shareholders of Osmetech began to hold sludr@enMark. Any historical
discussion of GenMark relates to Osmetech anditsaidated subsidiaries prior to the reorganizatio

We are a molecular diagnostics company focusedewaldping and commercializing our proprietary e®eietection technology. Our
proprietary electrochemical technology enables fasturate and highly sensitive detection of up2dlistinct biomarkers in a single sample.
Our XT-8 system received 510(k) clearance fromRbed and Drug Administration, or FDA, and is desigito support a broad range of
molecular diagnostic tests with a compact and éasyse workstation and self-contained, disposaddedartridges. Within 30 minutes of
receipt of an amplified DNA sample, our XT-8 systproduces clear and accurate results. Our XT-&sysupports up to 24 independent test
cartridges, which can be run independently, resgilith a highly convenient and flexible workflow four target customers, which are hospitals
and reference laboratories.

We have developed four diagnostic tests for usk aitr XT-8 system and expect to expand this testunty introducing two to four new tests
annually. Our Cystic Fibrosis Genotyping Test, Wihiletects pre-conception risks of cystic fibrosis, Warfarin Sensitivity Test, which
determines an individual’s ability to metabolize tbral anticoagulant warfarin, and our ThrombophRisk Test, which detects an individual's
increased risk of blood clots, have received FD#adnce. Our eSensor technology has demonstrad8é 4€curacy in clinical studies
compared to DNA sequencing in our Cystic Fibroseh@yping Test, our Warfarin Sensitivity Test and dhrombophilia Risk Test. We have
also developed a Respiratory Viral Panel Test, vidietects the presence of major respiratory viragess labeled for investigational use ol
or IUO. We intend to seek FDA clearance for ourpiasory Viral Panel Test in 2011. We also haveépeline of several additional potential
products in different stages of development orgtesincluding diagnostic tests for an individuadensitivity to Plavix, a commonly prescribed
anti-coagulant, and for mutations in a gene knosviKaas, which is predictive of an individual’'s pesise rates to certain prescribed @aftice
therapies.

We are also developing our next-generation platfah@ NexGen system. We are designing the NexGstersyto integrate DNA amplification
with our eSensor detection technology to enablertieans using the NexGen system to be able teea@aw or minimally prepared patient
sample into our test cartridge and obtain resuitisout any additional steps. This sample to anssapability is enabled by the robust nature of
our eSensor detection technology, which is not inegaby sample impurities that we believe hindeanpeting technologies. We are designing
our NexGen system to further simplify workflow apibvide powerful, cost-effective molecular diagnossolutions to a significantly
expanded group of hospitals and reference labaoestor
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Since inception, we have incurred net losses frontiouing operations each year, and we expectntirage to incur losses for the foreseeable
future. Our losses attributable to continuing opere for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2662808 were approximately $18.4
million, $20.0 million and $28.4 million, respeatly. As of December 31, 2010, we had an accumuldedidit of $144.5 million. Our
operations to date have been funded principallyutih sales of capital stock and sales of our pusviisinesses. We expect to incur incree
expenses over the next several years, principalievelop additional diagnostic tests, as welbdsitther increase our spending to
manufacture, sell and market our products.

Financial Results Overview
Revenue

Revenue from continuing operations includes prodat#s, principally of our eSensor Cystic Fibr@senotyping Test and, to a lesser extent,
our Warfarin Sensitivity Test, for use with our )8lsystem and our predecessor eSensor 4800 Systemritvarily place our XT-8 system
with customers through a reagent rental agreemeadgr which customers commit to purchasing mininguantities of test cartridges over a
period of one to three years. We also offer our83ystem for sale, however, for the year ended Dbee 31, 2010, we had sold only ten 8T-
systems to customers which included the sale dttm analyzers.

Revenue also includes licensing revenue from thdicensing of our electrochemical detection techggldn addition, revenue generated fr
service agreements recognized using the propottaeréormance method of accounting is includecdhis tategory. We may enter into
additional sub-licenses of our technology genegatidditional revenue, but do not anticipate tht will provide a significant portion of our
future revenue.

Our growth plans focus on both reagent rental agesgs and system sales of our current XT-8 systahoar next-generation NexGen system
that is currently under development. We plan toaexpour base of customers and systems as welldazgathore tests for use with our syste
We believe these developments will drive accelerase of our test cartridges, which we expect tolrgrimary source of revenue.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of materials, tiedmr and manufacturing overhead costs usedeimi@inufacture of our consumable test kits
for our XT-8 system and our predecessor eSensdr 8g6tem, including royalties on product sales.t@bsales also includes depreciation on
revenue generating systems that have been platiedwi customers under a reagent rental agreemuethiamortization of licenses related to
our test cartridges.

Our XT-8 systems are procured from a contract megiufer and generally capitalized as fixed asselglapreciated on a straight line basis
over their useful life as a charge to cost of salés expect our costs of sales to increase as aee gidditional XT-8 systems and manufacture
and sell an increasing menu of accompanying didgniests.

We manufacture our test cartridges in our factityl have significant capacity for expansion. Thidarutilized capacity results in a high cost
of sales relative to revenue, resulting in a gtoss. We believe cost of sales as a percentagavefue will decrease as our sales of test
cartridges grow.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing include those costs associateaur direct sales force, sales management, etiak technical support and business
development departments. These expenses primarilist of salaries, commissions, benefits, shasedaompensation, travel, advertising
and promotions. We expect sales and marketing tosterease as we scale up our commercial effortive an increased customer base.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses primarily in@xpgenses related to the development of ou@€lstem and its predecessor eSensor
System, including the detection system and thectastidges. These expenses also included clistcaly expenses incurred in the process of
preparing for FDA clearance for these systems asidcartridges. The expenses primarily consisteshiairies, benefits, share-based
compensation costs, outside design and consukingces, laboratory supplies, contract researchrargtions, clinical study supplies and
facility costs.

We expense all research and development costg ipethiods in which they are incurred. We expeaassh and development costs to increase
as we develop more advanced systems and increasetklopment of new tests for our XT-8 system.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includerecutive, accounting and finance, informatiormiedogy, legal, intellectual property,
human resource and investor relations departmé&hese expenses consist primarily of salaries, litsnehare-based compensation costs,
independent auditor costs, legal fees, consulténatgel, insurance, relocation, and public compaxgenses such as stock transfer agent fees
and listing fees for AIM and NASDAQ.

Foreign Exchange Gains and L osses

Transactions in currencies other than the functionaency are translated at the prevailing ratethe dates of the transaction. Foreign
exchange gains and losses arise from differencesdhange rates during the period between theadatssaction denominated in a foreign
currency is consummated and the date on whichsitided or translated. Exchange gains and logsesreluded those arising on cash balal
held by Osmetech denominated in currencies otlaer itls functional currency, the British pound. ®inkce initial public offering, the function
currency of GenMark has been the U.S. dollar.

I nterest | ncome (expense)
Interest income (expense) includes interest eapnealir cash and cash equivalents less intereateton other liabilities.

Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8@ic 740,Income TaxesUnder ASC Topic 740, deferred taxes are provigedn asset
and liability method whereby deferred tax asset¢sracognized for deductible temporary differencas @perating loss carryforwards. Deferred
tax liabilities are recognized for taxable tempgrdifferences. Temporary differences are the diffiees between the reported amounts of ¢
and liabilities and the tax bases. Deferred tartasare reduced by a valuation allowance wherhdropinion of management, it is more-likely-
than-not that some portion or all of the defereddssets will not be realized. Deferred tax assaddiabilities are adjusted for the effects of
changes in tax laws and rates on the date of eeattm

Critical Accounting Polices and Significant Judgmets and Estimates
Revenue

We recognize revenue from product sales and cdrare@ngements, net of discounts and sales refated. We recognize revenue from
product sales when there is persuasive evidentatharrangement exists, delivery has occurredptice is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. Where appleaall revenue is stated net of sales taxes rade tiscounts.
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We offer customers the choice to either purchasgstem outright or to receive a system free ofgdam exchange for an annual minimum

purchase commitment for test cartridges. When geBsyss sold, revenue is generally recognized upgmsent of the unit. When a system is
placed free of charge under a “reagent reragfeement, we retain title to the equipment andiséem remains capitalized on the balance

under property and equipment. Under our reagemalragreements, we retain the right to accesspace the systems at any time and our

customers pay an additional system rental feedoh e¢est cartridge purchased. The reagent remaldides based on the monthly volume of
cartridges purchased.

We sell our durable systems and disposable tesidgges through a direct sales force in the Un&ates. Components are individually priced
and can be purchased separately or together. Btensyrice is not dependent upon the purchaseyodimiount of disposable test cartridges.
Revenue on system and test cartridge sales ismasatjupon shipment, which is when title and tlsk df loss and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the customer and there ar¢heo post-shipment obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we sal&XTe8 systems to customers which included the shthirteen analyzers.

Revenue related to royalties received from licesescognized evenly over the contractual periodhich the license relates. Revenue from
service agreements is recognized using the prapaitperformance method of accounting.

Shipping and handling costs are expensed as irttarrd included in cost of product sales. In th@ses where we bill shipping and handling
costs to customers, the amounts billed are clasisis revenue.

Property and Equipment

Property, equipment and leasehold improvementseai@ded at cost and depreciated using the striighinethod over the assets’ estimated
useful lives, which are noted below. We generadigitalize our XT-8 systems, and previously the poegsor eSensor 4800 systems, and
provide these to customers for no charge. Eaclyogtef property and equipment is analyzed to aeiee its useful life. We look at the
manufacturers’ estimates of useful life and adjluste for actual experience in our operating enwivent. Useful lives are reviewed
periodically and shortened if circumstances dictatdange.

Machinery and laboratory equipme - 3-5years

Systems at customer locati - 3years

Office equipmen - 2-4years

Leasehold improvements - over the shorter period of the life of the leas¢heruseful economic life of the
asse

During 2009, our estimate of the useful life of aystems was changed from five years to three y&ars estimate was revised due to a chi
in our strategy to accelerate the development oheut-generation system and did not have a sigifiimpact on the results for the period.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

We assess the recoverability of long-lived as$et$iding intangible assets and systems at custtooations by periodically evaluating the
carrying value of such assets whenever eventsarggs in circumstances indicate that the carryinguent of such assets may not be
recoverable. If impairment is indicated, we writeach the carrying value of the asset to the estichfdi value. This fair value is usually
determined based on an estimate of future discdwash flows. The primary cause for us to conssgietems at customer locations for
impairment is evidence that customers are not orge¢he minimum quantities set forth in their reaigeental agreement. For impairment of
systems at customeiigcations, which are assessed separately for assthroer, we analyze the recoverability based diotidisl and estimate
future sales of test cartridges to each customer. |
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the year ended December 31, 2010, no impairmemgebavere recorded. In the year ended Decemb&0B®, we recorded an impairment
against systems of $865,389, which was recordedmibst of sales ($665,718), sales and marke$tg9,712) and research and development
($69,959).

Share-Based Compensation

We have granted our options with an exercise mripeal to the closing price of GenMark’s common ktoe the NASDAQ Global Market on
each grant date. We use the Black-Scholes optimmpgrmodel as the method for determining the estid fair value of stock options. The
Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly esttbje and complex assumptions which determindainealue of share-based awards,
including the option’s expected term and the pvickatility of the underlying stock. These assumpsianclude:

» Expected Terr. Our expected term represents the period thastoam-based awards are expected to be outstanding i
determined by evaluating past experiet

» Expected Volatility. Expected volatility represents the volatilitydar stock price expected over the expected tertheobption.

» Expected Dividen. The Blacl-Scholes valuation model calls for a single expedigitlend yield as an input. We assumec
dividends as we have never paid dividends and hexairrent plans to do s

* RiskFree Interest RateThe risk-free interest rate used in the Blackeeh valuation method is based on published goventm
rates in effect at the time of grant for periodsresponding with the expected term of opti

» Estimated Forfeiture. The estimated forfeiture rate is determined basedur historical forfeiture rates. We will momnitactual
expenses and periodically update the estin

* Valuation. Our board of directors determined the fair vadieur common stock to be equivalent to the clogiriges on the
NASDAQ Global Market. GenMa's shares trade on the NASDAQ on a daily basisrafidct prices that investors are willing to
pay for GenMar’s shares

Income Taxes

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets duititiess and reserves for unrecognized tax benedfiect management’s best assessment of
estimated future taxes to be paid. We are subjeiccbme taxes in both the United States and theetdiKingdom. Significant judgments and
estimates are required in determining the constgdlancome tax expense.

We believe that it is more likely than not that thenefit from certain U.S. federal and U.S. stateaperating loss carryforwards will not be
realized. In recognition of this risk, we have pgd®d a valuation allowance of approximately $13illiom on the deferred tax assets relating to
these net operating loss carryforwards and othieridel tax assets. If our assumptions change andetezgmine we will be able to realize these
net operating losses, the tax benefits relatirgnyoreversal of the valuation allowance on defetagdassets at December 31, 2010 will be
accounted for as a reduction of income tax expense.

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affecrdec deferred tax assets and liabilities in therfs Management is not aware of any such
changes that would have a material effect on aultg of operations, cash flows or financial paositi

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with AB@pic 740 and we adjust these liabilities whenjadgment changes as a result of the
evaluation of new information not previously avhle Due to the complexity of some of these unaatitss, the ultimate resolution may result
in a payment that is materially different from aurrent estimate of the tax liabilities. Theseali#nces will be reflected as increases or
decreases to income tax expense in the period ichwhey are determined.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, authoritative guidance was pravioe revenue arrangements with multiple delivermblidne guidance amended the
accounting standards for multiple deliverable rexearrangements to: (i) provide updated guidanostwther multiple deliverables exist, hi
the deliverables in an arrangement should be segghrand how the consideration should be allocdtgdequire an entity to allocate revenue
in an arrangement using estimated selling pricESP”) of deliverables if a vendor does not havedeerspecific objective evidence of selling
price (“VSOE") or third-party evidence of sellingige (“TPE”); and (iii) eliminate the use of thesrdual method and require an entity to
allocate revenue using the relative selling priethud.

Arrangements that contain multiple deliverabledude sales of systems and test cartridges. Thesacapunted for as separate units of
accounting if the following criteria are met: (iJet delivered item or items have value to the customn a standalone basis and (ii) for an
arrangement that includes a general right of rettellattive to the delivered item(s), delivery orfoemance of the undelivered item(s) is
considered probable and substantially in our cdnifee Company considers a deliverable to havedsiane value if the item is sold separa
or if the item could be resold by the customer. Teenpany’s revenue arrangements generally do obtde a right of return relative to
delivered products. The Company sold its firstayst in 2010. The Company elected to early adoptélmeaccounting guidance because it is
able to meet the new separation criteria and hpliegiit to all applicable revenue arrangementgd into or materially modified beginning
January 1, 2010.

Results of Operations—2010 compared to 2009
Revenue

Revenue increased $1.5 million, or 151%, to $2 Mianifor the year ended December 31, 2010 comptarék®98,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. Product sales increased $1lidmibr 157%, to $2.3 million for the year endedd@mber 31, 2010 compared to $911,
for the year ended December 31, 2009. License Hrat cevenue increased $76,000 to $164,000, or 8&@%he year ended December 31,
2010, due to increased service revenue, compar@8@00 for the year ended December 31, 2009ifnease in product revenue was
primarily driven by increased reagent revenuesebas system sales and other product revenue asdlue to an increase in our installed |
of systems and an expanded menu of tests avaftabdale. License revenue increased predominaniytd a collaboration agreement exec
in conjunction with a clinical trial for Warfarin.

Cost of Sales and Gross Loss

Cost of sales increased $46,000, or 1%, to $4 Homilor the year ended December 31, 2010 compiar&d .3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily ddkd increase in reagent and system shipmentss@ss decreased $1.5 million or 44%
to $1.9 million for the year ended December 31,@6dmpared to a gross loss of $3.3 million in 200% decrease was due to higher reve
in 2010 but not a corresponding increase in costt#s due to increased capacity utilization.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense increased $1.1 midio85% to $4.3 million for the year ended DecenBier2010, compared to $3.2 million
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increasenvas by higher payroll costs. We built our direetes force during 2010 and expect tt
costs to increase during 2011 and beyond.

Research and Devel opment

Research and development expense increased $8881Q0&%, to $6.5 million for the year ended Decentkil, 2010 compared to $5.6 milli
for the year ended December 31, 2009. The incnwaseadue to higher payroll costs, including relamatnd recruiting fees and increased u:
of project supplies.

49



Table of Contents

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense decreased $883%011%, to $7.4 million for the year ended Deber 31, 2010 compared to $8.3
million for year ended December 31, 2009. The declias due to reduced facility costs and professifees offset by relocation costs related
to our move from Pasadena to Carlsbad.

Foreign Exchange

We incurred a foreign exchange loss for the yededrDecember 31, 2010 of $1,000 as compared tmaf#304,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The gain was due to the settleafid).S. dollar liabilities during the year agth.S. dollar weakened against the British
pound combined with the benefit of maturing U.Slatdorward contracts which were held by us durihg period. There were few foreign
exchange transactions during 2010.

I nterest | ncome (Expense)

Interest income (expense), declined $34,000 todBlr@t interest expense for the year ended DeceBih@010 compared to $33,000 net
interest income for the year ended December 319,20@e to lower cash balances during the year #sawéncreased expense on a tax liability.

Other Income (Therapeutic Discovery Credit)

We recorded other income related to the Therap®isicovery Credit of $1.6 million for the year exdd@ecember 31, 2010. In July 2010, we
applied for certification of qualified investmergigible for credits and grants under the qualifytherapeutic discovery project program for
years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, PB&(1.6 million in grant applications were fapenses incurred in 2010 and 20
The company received $561,000 for 2009 expense$hddmillion for 2010 expenses.

These development projects included the NexGemrsy&ormerly the “AD-8 system”), K-ras mutation can treatment, Plavix Sensitivity
Drug, Warfarin Sensitivity Test, Thrombophilia Ri$lkst, Respiratory Viral Panel and Cystic Fibr@enotyping. In November 2010, we w:
notified that we were awarded a total of $1.6 millunder the program. As of December 31, 2010Ctm@pany recorded the $1.6 million tax
credit as an Other Current Assets on the BalaneetShith a corresponding credit to Other Incomeh@nConsolidated Statement of
Operations.

Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes

A tax provision of $15,000 was recorded for therysaded December 31, 2010, compared to a tax herfigl39,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The amount of the 2010 tax pimviconsists primarily of state income taxes. Bgi2009, a benefit was recognized
relating to a carry-back of tax losses to priorrgeallowing the enactment of the Worker, Homeovehgr and Business Assistance Act of
20009.

Results of Operations—2009 compared to 2008
Revenue

Revenue increased $351,000, or 54%, to $998,00éoyear ended December 31, 2009 compared to B8 Tor year ended December 31,
2008. Product sales increased $351,000 or 63%1ib,800 for the year ended December 31, 2009 compar®560,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008. License revenue of $88,00thioyear ended December 31, 2009 was equivalentareghpo the year ended
December 31, 2008. License revenue was predomynatttibutable to annual maintenance and minimuyalt@és from existing licensees.

Product sales consisted solely of test cartrid¢gssavhich are only available for purchase throtgggent rental agreements or through
negotiated purchase orders following purchase &8 system. The increase in
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revenue for 2009 was driven by sales of our CyA&ticosis Genotyping Test which replaced the preslmeCystic Fibrosis Carrier Detection
Test following FDA clearance of the test in July0Q0Revenue growth was hampered during this pdmjoithe lack of sufficient capital and the
use of a distributor-based sales effort insteaal difect sales force for a major portion of theryeyaded December 31, 2009. Distributors
generally do not dedicate substantial time to etucastomers and monitor the evaluation of hightetogy new products which we believe
adversely impacted our sales.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased $1.1 million, or 34%, t@$dillion for the year ended December 31, 2009 maad to $3.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The increase was due to $66&00pairment charges for systems, and $549,000pairment charges for intangibles,
partially offset by lower expenses for manufactgriupport and temporary labor as production preseissproved.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense decreased $212,00% tr $3.2 million for the year ended December28D9, compared to $3.4 million for t
year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease wan dnmower salaries and travel expenses pariidiget by $381,000 for a o-time
market research study in 2009, relocation of thely&ired commercial team and increased depreciaifoXT-8 systems used in marketing
evaluations. During 2009, we changed our estimbtieeouseful life of systems used for marketinggmses from five years to three years,
which increased our depreciation for 2009 comp&we2D08 by $38,000, and we recorded an impairmieautge of $130,000 for certain
demonstration units.

Research and Development

Research and development expense declined $7i8miblr 58%, to $5.6 million for the year ended Bmber 31, 2009 compared to $13.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Tédide was due to a substantial reduction in reeand development headcount and
expenses in 2009 after the completion of the XTs8esn development. We also consolidated our Rodklstassachusetts and Menlo Park,
California research facilities into our headquarierPasadena, California.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense decreased $ilidwnor 14%, to $8.3 million for the year endBeécember 31, 2009 compared to $9.6
million for year ended December 31, 2008. The declias due to costs during 2008 related to our faisihg activities.

Foreign Exchange

Foreign exchange gain declined $201,000, or 40%362t,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009 aedio $505,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The gain was due to the settleafd).S. dollar liabilities during the year agth.S. dollar weakened against the British
pound combined with the benefit of maturing U.Sladtdorward contracts which were held by us durihg period.

I nterest Income

Interest income declined $387,000, or 92% to $3Bf00the year ended December 31, 2009 compar$d26,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008, due to lower cash balances exithithg interest rates in 2009.
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Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes

A tax benefit of $139,000 was recorded for the yated December 31, 2009, compared to a tax poovidi$247,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008. During 2009, a benefit was neiced relating to a carry-back of tax losses tomyears following the enactment of the
Worker, Homeownership and Business Assistance A2089. During 2008, a tax provision was recordad tb amendments made to the
research and development tax credit claimed irr péoiods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date we have funded our operations primarilynftbe sale of our common stock, proceeds fromafadebusiness and revenues. We have
incurred net losses from continuing operations g@&er and have not yet achieved profitability.

At December 31, 2010, we had $18.9 million of wodktapital, including $18.3 million in cash anditagjuivalents. Net cash used in
operations increased $3.5 million to $18.9 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2010 compared3et$iillion for the year ended
December 31, 2009, primarily due to the recordifthe $1.6 million Therapeutic Discovery Creditea@ble in 2010, impairment losses
recorded in 2009 and a build-up of inventory dughrelocation of the manufacturing facility in1ZD Net cash used in investing activities
increased $801,000 to $1.9 million for the yeareshBecember 31, 2010 compared to $1.1 millionHentear ended December 31, 2009 due
to more purchases of capital assets, primarily X8ystems used for reagent rental programs andhelasienprovements for our new
manufacturing facility.

Net cash provided by financing activities decreggk& million for the year ended December 31, 2@1$22.6 million, compared to $24
million for the year ended December 31, 2009 dug stghtly smaller fund raise in 2010 as compace2009.

In March 2010, we entered into a loan and secagtgement with Square 1 Bank, pursuant to whicleltained a credit facility consisting o
revolving line of credit in the amount of up to #lion and an equipment term loan in the amournito $2 million. Based upon certain
financial covenants, interest on the revolving liieredit will be either (i) the greater of (apthank’s prime rate (3.25% as of December 31,
2010) plus 2.75%, or (b) 6%; or (ii) the greatefa)fthe bank’s prime rate plus 3.75%, or (b) 7&@&ddition, based upon certain financial
covenants, interest on the equipment term loanbgikither (i) the greater of (a) the bank’s priae plus 3.25%, or (b) 6.50%; or (ii) the
greater of (a) the bank’s prime rate plus 4.25%bdi7.50%. The revolving line matures in July 2@hH the term loan matures in July 2013.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company had not diewrfunds under this loan and security agreement.

In March 2011, the loan and security agreementamasnded, whereby the line of credit availabilitysvircreased by $1 million to $3 million
and the maturity was extended to July 2012. Tha tean was modified to allow invoices up to 360 sl&y qualify to be submitted for credit
extension. There were no other changes to theséotms

An additional loan was made available under therated loan and security agreement for up to $1 anilto finance equipment purchases.
Based upon certain financial covenants, intereshsnequipment term loan will be either (i) theater of (a) the ban&’prime rate plus 3.25¢
or (b) 6.50%; or (ii) the greater of (a) the banitane rate plus 4.25%, or (b) 7.50%. This terrmlazatures March 2014.

As of March 11, 2011, the Company had no outstanliians on the line of credit and had drawn $2iamlto finance 2010 equipment
purchases and tenant improvements to its Carlsmlity against the original term loan. The loaratsean interest rate of 7.5%.
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We believe that our current cash and cash equitsglear borrowing capacity, and the proceeds fromimitial public offering will be sufficier

to fund our business for at least the next 12 nmnit¥e expect capital outlays and operating experetitto increase over the next several years
as we grow our customer base and revenues, expaindsearch and development, commercializationnaawufacturing activities. The amo

of additional capital we may need to raise depemisiany factors, including:

» the level of revenues and the rate of revenue drc

» the level of expenses required to expand our seddsnarketing activities

» the number of systems placed on a reagent rerga;

» the level of research and development investmentired to maintain and improve our technolo

» the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending ancbecihg patent claims and other intellectual propedhts;

» competing technological and market developme

» our need to acquire or license complementary tdolgies or acquire complementary businesses

» changes in regulatory policies or laws that afteat operations
We can not be certain that additional capital bdlavailable when and as needed or that our acashlrequirements will not be greater than
anticipated. If we require additional capital dinae when investment in diagnostics companies ¢hénmarketplace in general is limited due to
the then prevailing market or other conditions,may not be able to raise such funds at the timevteadesire, on acceptable terms, or at all. In
addition, when we raise additional funds throughiisuance of equity or convertible debt securities percentage ownership of our
stockholders could be significantly diluted, andg@ newly issued securities may have rights, preées or privileges senior to those of
existing stockholders. When we obtain additionddtdimancing, a substantial portion of our opergtiash flow may be dedicated to the
payment of principal and interest on such indel#sdnand the terms of the debt securities issugld @npose significant restrictions on our

operations. If we raise additional funds throughadmrations and licensing arrangements, we mightelguired to relinquish significant rights
to our technologies or products, or grant licermeterms that are not favorable to us.

Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2010, we had contractual ohitigatrelating to our facilities leases as follows:

Payments due by perioc

Less than 4-5 After
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years 5 Years

Operating lease obligations ( $4,703,08: $992,47: $1,746,46. $1,253,87. $710,27¢

@ Included in these amounts are our facilities leagés enter into operating leases in the ordinarys® of business with respect to

facilities. Our lease agreements have fixed payrtents based on the passage of time. Certaintfalghses require payment of
maintenance and real estate taxes. Our future tipgitease obligations could change if we exitaiercontracts or if we enter into
additional operating lease

In addition to the obligations in the table abowe,periodically purchase systems from a contractufecturer. In order to guarantee delivery,
we issue purchase orders each 90 day period fivedglbf systems during that period. At DecemberZ110, we had outstanding purchase
orders for $27,860 worth of systems.

Additionally, approximately $487,000 of unrecogmzax benefits, including accrued interest and fiiseof $105,000, have been recorded as
liabilities and we are uncertain as to if or wheolsamounts may be settled.
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In November 2009, we renegotiated our lease or25f00 square foot headquarters facility in Pasad€alifornia that lowered our rent and
accelerated the termination of that lease to JOn@@L0.

In March 2008, we exercised our option to extereddperating lease of the premises at our approgign8{400 square-foot manufacturing
facility in Pasadena, California, for a three-ypariod from August 1, 2008 until July 31, 2011 aeatal cost of $21,558 per month. On
February 8, 2010, we entered into a seven-yeasaneh-month lease for a new 31,098 square fodit§eici Carlsbad, California. The facility
is part of a three-building office and research dedelopment project located at 5964 La Place C@atisbad, California, and the project
totals 158,733 rentable square feet. Monthly repagiments are $48,260 and increases 3% annuallyl§@epay our pro-rata share of the
building and project maintenance, property tax, agg@ment and other costs subject to certain liroitatiWe have paid a $55,000 security
deposit and provided a $500,000 standby letterefitas security for the future rent as well asujp to $2.0 million in landlord funded tenant
improvements. The lease also provides for expan#ibis and rights of first refusal for expansioithin our building, subject to certain
limitations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

Our exposure to market risk is limited to our casll cash equivalents, all of which have maturiieess than three months. The goals of our
investment policy are preservation of capital,ifuifent of liquidity needs and fiduciary control oésh and investments. We also seek to
maximize income from our investments without assigrsignificant risk. To achieve our goals, in tbeufe we may maintain a portfolio of
cash equivalents and investments in a variety afriies that management believes to be of higHitogality. We currently do not hedge
interest rate exposure. Because of the short-teaitanities of our cash equivalents, we do not belignat an increase in market rates would
have a material negative impact on the value ofpautfolio.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risks

Substantially all of our operating facilities aoeted within the United States. Our UK subsidisviously used the British Pound as its
functional currency; however, it is no longer areigting entity. Virtually all of our revenues araskd in the United States. A small portion of
our expenses, relating to our corporate office gagansacted in British pounds. Our U.S. basedidiabes use the U.S. dollar as their
functional currency.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeet of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. and subsaigthe “Company”) (formerly
Osmetech plc and subsidiaries) as of December@®1,2nd the related consolidated statements gatipes, comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the yéantended. These financial statements are thensigildy of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion ondbesolidated financial statements based on out.audi

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of isriral control over financial reporting.
Our audit included consideration of internal cohtreer financial reporting as a basis for desigrawnglit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgssimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimg&rnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evideopparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audit provides a reasonable basis foopiion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, tinaficial position of the Company at
December 31, 2010, and the results of its operatmal cash flows for the year then ended, in camfgrwith accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE, LLP

San Diego, CA
March 11, 2011
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Osmetech plc
London, United Kingdom

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineet of Osmetech plc and subsidiaries (the f2oyi) as of December 31, 2009, ¢
the related consolidated statements of operatemmprehensive income (loss), stockholdexglity, and cash flows for each of the two yeal
the period ended December 31, 2009. These finasizitdments are the responsibility of the Compamadaagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of isriral control over financial reporting.

Our audits included consideration of internal cohtrver financial reporting as a basis for desigranidit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compamg&rnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evideopparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, tinaficial position of Osmetech plc and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, and thetsesiutheir operations and their cash flows forreatthe two years in the period ended
December 31, 2009, in conformity with accountingpgiples generally accepted in the United State&mérica.

/s/ DELOITTE LLP

St. Albans, United Kingdom
March 19, 2010
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Current assets

Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivab—net
Inventorie—net

Other current asse

Total current assets
Property and equipme—net
Intangible asse—net

Other lon¢-term asset

Total assets

Current liabilities

Accounts payabl

Accrued compensatic
Other current liabilitie:
Total current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencie— See note ¢

Stockholders’ equity

Ordinary shares, £0.23 ($0.3634 as of Decembe2(19) par value; -0- and 7,101,928 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 201@andmber 31, 2009, respectivi

Deferred share:£0.0099 ($0.01709 as of December 31, 2009) par y-0- and 689,478,30
shares issued and outstanding as of December 3Q,£2® December 31, 2009, respecti\

Common stock, $.0001 par value; 100,000,000 awtbdrill,728,233 and -0- issued and

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and Decemh&(08®, respectivel
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 aizéxd, none issue

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2@hd 2009

As of December 31,

2010

$ 18,329,07
677,64t
896,80¢

2,193,16!
22,096,69
2,702,47
70,98(
55,35¢

$ 24,925,50

$ 823,24.
1,171,98!
1,249,92!
3,245,15!

612,93:
3,858,09.

1,172

166,009,08
(144,492,88)
(449,95)
21,067,41

$ 2492550

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2009

$ 16,482,81
169,84:
136,96
992,18:

17,781,80
1,381,61
170,05:

$ 19,333,47

$ 1,504,90!
822,38t
886,03:

3,213,32!
795,33«
4,008,65!

2,573,85

11,780,70

127,475,45
(126,089,88)
(415,309)
15,324,81

$ 19.333,47
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GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

Revenue

Product revenu

License and other reven
Total revenue

Cost of sale:

Gross loss

Operating expense:

Sales and marketir
Research and developmt
General and administrati\
Total operating expense:!
Loss from operations
Other income

Foreign exchange gain (los
Interest income (expens
Therapeutic discovery crec
Total other income

Loss before income taxe
(Provision) benefit for income tax
Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and dilu
Weighted average number of shares outstar

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss Fdre Years endec
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Net loss

Foreign currency translation adjustm:

Comprehensive los

Year ended December 31,

2010

2009

2008

$ 2,34099 $ 910520 $ 559,59
163,87: 87,88¢ 87,50(
2,504,86: 998,41 647,00:
4,377,70. 4,332,29! 3,237,86!
(1,872,83) (3,333,88) (2,590,77)
4,282,52, 3,181,76: 3,393,66!
6,522,11; 5,633,71 13,423,67
7,353,80: 8,288,76: 9,632,70:
18,158,43 17,104,24 26,450,05
(20,031,26) (20,438,12) (29,040,82)
(1,110 303,52 504,92:

(582) 33,22: 420,01

1,645,29; — =

1,643,601 336,74 924,93
(18,387,66) (20,101,37) (28,115,89)
(15,32 138,77 (246,73
$(18,402,99)  $(19,962,60)  $(28,362,63)
$ (1.8  $ @41 $ (28.1)
9,796,58; 4,526,75 1,008,381

$(18,402,99)
(34,649

$(19,962,60)
(93,687

$(28,362,63)
(1,157,70)

$(18,437,64)

$(20,056,29)

$(29,520,34)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 200

Ordinary Shares

Deferred Stock

Accumulated

other
Common Additional compreh- Accumulated
Stock Par paid-in ensive
Shares Par value Shares Par value Shares value capital income (loss deficit Total

Balanc—January 1, 200 203,056,63 $ 360,43¢ 689,478,30 $11,780,70 — $ — $94,75510 $ 836,08( $ (77,764,64) $29,967,68
Share-based compensation

related to stock optior — — — — — — (256,219 — — (256,219
Exercise of share optiol 60,00( 11¢ — — — — 22,84( — — 22,95¢
Issuance of ordinary shares, net

of offering expense 688,490,51 1,006,50. — — — — 8,716,67 — — 9,723,18
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen — — — — — — — (1,157,70) — (1,157,70)
Net loss — — — — — — — — (28,362,63) (28,362,63)
Balanc— December 31, 200 891,607,15 $1,367,06. 689,478,30 $11,780,70 — $ — $103,238,40 $ (321,62) $(106,127,28) $ 9,937,26!
Share-based compensation

related to share optiol — — — — — — 1,311,03: — — 1,311,03:
Issuance of ordinary shares, |

of offering expense 741,836,19 1,206,79! — — — — 22,926,01 — — 24,132,80
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen — — — — — — — (93,687) — (93,68
Net loss — — — — — — — — (19,962,60) (19,962,60)
Balanc— December 31, 200  1,633,443,35 $2,573,85° 689,478,30 $11,780,70 — $ — $127,47545 $ (415,309 $(126,089,88) $ 15,324,81
Share-based compensation

related to share optiol — — — — — — 1,552,87. — — 1,552,87
Exercise of share optiol 4,964,40: 7,482 — — — — — — — 7,482
Reorganizatiot (1,638,407,75) (2,581,33) (689,478,30) (11,780,70) 7,128,23: 712 14,361,33 — — —
Issuance of common stock, net

of offering expense — — — — 4,600,001 46C 22,619,42 — — 22,619,88
Foreign currency translation

adjustmen — — — — — — — (34,649 — (34,649
Net loss — — — — — — — — (18,402,99) (18,402,99)
Balanc— December 31, 201 — 3 — — 3 — 11,728,23 $1,172 $166,009,08 $ (449,95) $(144,492,88) $ 21,067,41

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 300

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss from disposal of property and equipm
Impairment losse
Shar-based compensatic
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Other current asse
Accounts payabl
Accrued and other current liabilitir
Net cash used in operating activitie
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipmehtraangible asse
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares @mdnon stocl
Costs incurred in conjunction with initial publiéfering
Proceeds from stock option exerci:
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate chani
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale
Cash and cash equivalen—Beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalen—End of year

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash received for income tax

Cash received for intere
Noncash investing and financing activities

Reclassification of deposits on systems in otherectt assets, and inventory to

property and equipment in 2010 and 2009, respdgt
IPO Costs incurred but not pe
VAT tax refund related to IPO costs recorded butreoeivec
Transfer of systems from property and equipmerat iimgentory
Fixed asset acquisitions included in accounts pay

Year ended December 31,

2010

2009

2008

$(18,402,99)

$(19,962,60)

$(28,362,63)

1,063,31. 1,569,07- 1,157,65!
— 8,46: 31,33

— 1,505,64: —
1,552,87. 1,311,03: (256,219
(507,80¢) (51,06¢) (21,05¢)
(651,13 1,227,38: (736,12)
(1,404,30) 315,98 (172,49))
(1,058,34) (857,30) 1,365,33
547,67 (510,16) 825,59
(18,860,72) (15,443,57) (26,168,60)
— 10,00( 160,00(
(1,859,87) (1,068,67) (1,592,71)
(1,859,87) (1,058,67) (1,432,71)
27,600,00 24,132,80 9,723,18;
(4,990,93) — —
4,73¢ — 22,95¢
22,613,79 24,132,80 9,746,14
(46,93¢) 29,79; (942,079
1,846,26 7,660,361 (18,797,25)
16,482,81 8,822,45: 27,619,71
$ 18,329,07 16,482,81  $ 8,82245
$ 504¢ $ 181,16. $  391,08(
$ 25028 $ 33220 $ 420,01
$ 28896 $ 256,90 _
$ 103,62 _ _
$  114,45( _ _
$ 108,71 _ _
$ 275,79 _ _

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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GenMark Diagnostics, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and basis of presentation

GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company” or “GenlMaris a molecular diagnostics company focused on deugl and commercializing tt
Company'’s proprietary e-sensor technology. On Falyri2, 2010, the Company was established to sextlee parent company of Osmetech
plc (“Osmetech”) upon a corporate reorganizatiod iaitial public offering (“IPO”). On June 3, 201the Company completed an IPO for
4,600,000 shares. Immediately prior to the comptetif the IPO, the Company underwent a corporaigyemization whereby the ordinary
shares of Osmetech were exchanged by its sharebdtdehe common stock of the Company on a 230 fbasis.

As the reorganization was deemed to be a transagtider common control, GenMark accounted for #zeganization in a manner similar t
pooling-of-interests, meaning:

(i) assets and liabilities were carried over at trespective carrying value
(i) common stock was carried over at the nominal vafuee shares issued by GenMe

(i) additional paid-in capital represented th&atience between the nominal value of the shaseeis by GenMark, and the total of the
additional pai-in capital and nominal value of Osmet’s shares cancelled pursuant to the reorganizatiut

(iv) the accumulated deficit represented the aggreddtee@accumulated deficit of Osmetech and GenM

Once the reorganization became effective, all stgtlons granted under the Osmetech plc 2003 WyBitfECompensation Plan, Long Term
Incentive Awards and all warrants issued were exgld for options and warrants exercisable for traraon stock of the Company.

The preferred stock may be issued from time to fim@ne or more series.
In these consolidated financial statements, the izmy means Osmetech when referring to periods fwitire 1PO.
Subsequent events have been evaluated through Nlar@®11, being the date that the financial statémwere available to be issued.

The accompanying financial statements have begraped on a going-concern basis, which contempthtesealization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal coursehafsiness. The Company has incurred net lossesdparations since its inception and has an
accumulated deficit of $144,492,881 at Decembef810. Cash and cash equivalents at December 30,\26re $18,329,079.

Management expects operating losses to continoagdhrthe foreseeable future until the Company kparmded its product offering and
consequently increased its product revenues taxtamito cover the fixed cost base of the businBlss.Company’s management has prepared
cash flow forecasts which indicate, based on tmeeaticash resources available and the availalifigredit facilities of up to $4,000,000, that
the Company has sufficient capital to fund its egiens for at least the next twelve months.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemleawe been prepared in accordance with United Sgetesrally accepted accounting
principles and applicable regulations of the Semsgiand Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The Compaap&rating results for the year ended
December 31, 2010 are not necessarily indicativbefesults that may be expected for any futurgs.
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Principles of Consolidation —The consolidated financial statements includeatteunts of the Company and its wholly owned sudses.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have leéisinated in consolidation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenitth an original maturity of three months or leasdate of purchase, to be cash
equivalents. The majority of these funds are helitherest-bearing money market and bank checkiegunts. Interest income is recorded on
the accrual basis as earned.

Receivables

Accounts receivable consists of amounts due t&€ttrapany for sales to customers and are recordeaf et allowance for doubtful accounts.
Prior to 2010, the Company did not reserve or woffeany receivables.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (finsfirst-out) or market and include direct laboraterials, and manufacturing overhead. The
Company periodically reviews inventory for evidemteslow-moving or obsolete parts, and writes irreep down to market. This write down
is based on management’s reviews of inventoridsamal, compared to estimated future usage and salel§life assumptions, and assumpti
about the likelihood of obsolescence. During 2@l to a change in business strategy, the Comgeamged the intention to sell its systems,
and determined that the systems would be placedstdmer sites pursuant to reagent rental agresmmEmerefore, $256,909 was transferred
from inventory to property and equipment-net.

Property and Equipment-net

Property, equipment and leasehold improvementseai@ded at cost and depreciated using the striighinethod over the assets’ estimated
useful lives, which are:

Machinery and laboratory equipme - 3-5years

Systems at customer locatic - 3years

Office equipmen - 2-4years

Leasehold improvemen - over the shorter period of the life of the leaséheruseful economic life of tt
asse

Maintenance and repair costs are expensed aseacurr

I ntangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of licenses oicandes to technology covered by patents ownedily parties, and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful lvethese assets, generally five years. Amortizatiblicenses begins upon the Company
obtaining FDA clearance to sell products contairthglicensed technology and is recorded in costtss.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of lmegh assets, including intangible assets, by pieally evaluating the carrying value whene
events or changes in circumstances indicate teatalrying amount may not be recoverable. If impaint is indicated, the Company writes
down the carrying value of the asset to its estahdair value. This fair value is primarily determad based on estimated discounted cash fl
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfietttae amounts reported in the financial statet®@nd the notes thereto. The
Companys significant estimates included in the preparatibthe financial statements are related to invéeso plant and equipment, intangi
assets, certain accrued liabilities related toGbmpany’s former facilities and share-based comga@ s Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from product sal@ésantract arrangements, net of discounts ang salated taxes. The Company
recognizes revenue from product sales when thgrer®&iasive evidence that an arrangement exidigeigehas occurred, the price is fixed or
determinable and collectability is reasonably asduwWhere applicable, all revenue is stated nealefs taxes and trade discounts.

The Company’s XT-8 systems are placed free of @éafith customers in exchange for an annual minirpunchase commitment of products
from the customer, while the Company retains thbtrio access or replace the systems at any titrereTore, the systems remain capitalized
on the balance sheet. Revenue from sales of theagsdges and related products are recognizezhwite risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the customer, which is generalyhattime of product shipment.

Revenues related to royalties received from licease recognized evenly over the contractual pedathich the license relates. Services
provided are recognized evenly over the contragigebd to which the services relate.

Shipping and handling costs are expensed as irttarre included in cost of product sales. In th@ses where the Company bills shipping
handling costs to customers, the amounts billedlassified as revenue.

Product Warranties

The Company generally offers a one-year warrantytécsystems sold to customers and provides fesitimated cost of the product warranty
at the time the system sale is recognized. Fatitatsaffect the Company’s warranty reserves incthéenumber of units sold, historical and
anticipated rates of warranty repairs and the pgestepair. The Company periodically assessesdbguacy of the warranty reserve and adj
the amount as necessary. Because there were monsyates in 2009 or 2008, the product warrantyrvedgas been zero prior to 2010.

Product warranty reserve activity for the year ehBecember 31, 2010 is as follows:

2010
Beginning balanc $ —
Provisions 25,00(
Ending balanci $25,00(

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed asthcu

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for deferred tax assets ahilities for the expected future tax consequenéevents that have been included in the
financial statements or tax returns. Deferred &pets and liabilities are determined based oniffesehces between the financial reporting and
tax bases of assets and liabilities using enaetedates in effect for the year in which the diéieces are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is provided to reduce deferred tax agedtee amount management believes will, moreyikiehn not, be recovered.
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A tax position that is more likely than not to lealized is measured at the largest amount of tagftighat is greater than 50% likely of being
realized upon settlement with the taxing authdtigt has full knowledge of all relevant informatidvieasurement of a tax position that meets
the more likely than not threshold considers theamts and probabilities of the outcomes that cheldealized upon settlement using the fe
circumstances and information available at the mappdate.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiensxpelated to share options and warrants issuemployees and directors in
exchange for services. The compensation expetresed on the fair value of the share-based comfiensailizing various assumptions
regarding the underlying attributes of the optiand shares. The estimated fair value of optionstgca net of forfeitures expected to occur
during the vesting period, is amortized as comp@nsaxpense on an accelerated basis to reflectebiing as it occurs. The share-based
compensation expense is recorded in cost of ssdé=s and marketing, research and developmentearetag and administrative expenses b
on the employee’s respective function. The exp&nderived from the Black-Scholes Option Pricingdébthat uses several judgment based
variables to calculate the expense. The inputsidiecthe expected life of the option or warrant,ekpected volatility and other factors.

Fair Value of Financial I nstruments

The carrying amount of the Company’s financialiastents, including cash and cash equivalents, atsaaceivable and accounts payable
approximate their fair values.

Foreign Currency Translation

During 2010, the Company changed its functionateny from the British Pound to the U.S. DollarioPto this change, monetary assets and
liabilities of the Company entities outside of the U.S. were translated th$®. dollars based on foreign currency exchantgsiia effect at th
end of each period, and revenues and expensednapstated at weighted average exchange ratesgdilmnperiods. Gains or losses resulting
from these foreign currency translations of the @any’s assets and liabilities were recorded in exdated other comprehensive income in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Transactions in foreign currencies were translaigglthe relevant functional currency at the rétexchange prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency transaction gainss@s), which are included in the results of opanatitotaled $(1,110), $303,523 and $504,
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, ad8, 28spectively, and relate primarily to transadidenominated in U.S. dollars which
were undertaken by Osmetech.

Derivative Financial | nstruments

In 2008, derivative financial instruments were upddcipally in the management of foreign curreacy interest rate exposures and were
recorded in the consolidated balance sheets atdhie. Derivative instruments not designated agbe were marked-to-market at the end of
2008 with the results included in results of operat. The effect on earnings was not material. Chmpany did not use derivative financial
instruments in 2010 or 2009.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividisg kvailable to common shareholders (the numerayat)e weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period (theméator). Shares issued during the period anceshaacquired during the period are
weighted for the portion of the period that theyreveutstanding. Diluted loss per share is calcdlatea similar way to basic loss per share
except that the denominator is increased to inctbdenumber of additional shares that would haenlritstanding if the dilutive potential
shares had been issued unless the effect wouldtbdilative. As the Company had a net loss in eadhefperiods presented, basic and dill
net loss per ordinary share are the same.
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The computations of diluted net loss per shareiferyears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 260&tlinclude the effects of the
following options and warrants to acquire ordinatyck which were outstanding as of the end of gaeln as the inclusion of these securities
would have been anti-dilutive.

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Share option 1,107,92 993,21« 108,59(
Warrants 88,317 220,79: —
Restricted Stoc 204,11¢ — —

1,400,35: 1,214,00! 108,59(

Segment I nformation

The Company operates in one reportable segmensudsdantially all of the Company’s operations assets are in the United States of
America.

Concentration of Risk
The Company had sales to customers representiagegthan 10% of the total as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Customer A 12% — —
Customer E — 15% 13%
Customer C — 12% 23%
Customer C — 11% —
Customer E — — 18%

The Company’s XT-8 system is manufactured by alsiagurce supplier that specializes in contracigsesnd manufacturing of electronic and
electromechanical devices for medical use.

Comprehensive | ncome (Loss)

U.S. GAAP requires that all components of compreha&nincome (loss), including net income (loss)réggorted in the financial statements in
the period in which they are recognized. Compreilverincome (loss) is defined as the change in galiting a period from transactions and

other events and circumstances from non-owner sgunecluding accumulated translation adjustméertie. Company reports comprehensive
income (loss) as a separate component of stockisdleiguity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, authoritative guidance was pravide revenue arrangements with multiple delivemblée guidance amended the
accounting standards for multiple deliverable rexearrangements to: (i) provide updated guidanocetwther multiple deliverables exist, hi
the deliverables in an arrangement should be segghrand how the consideration should be allocdtgdequire an entity to allocate revenue
in an arrangement using estimated selling pricESP”) of deliverables if a vendor does not havedeerspecific objective evidence of selling
price (“VSOE") or third-party evidence of sellingige (“TPE"); and (iii) eliminate the use of thesidual method and require an entity to
allocate revenue using the relative selling prieghnd.

Arrangements that contain multiple deliverabledude sales of systems and test cartridges. Thesgcaounted for as separate units of
accounting if the following criteria are met: (ijet delivered item or items have value to
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the customer on a standalone basis and (ii) f@areangement that includes a general right of retelative to the delivered item(s), delivery or
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considgmbable and substantially in our control. Thenpany considers a deliverable to have
standalone value if the item is sold separatel§ thie item could be resold by the customer. Then@any’s revenue arrangements generally do
not include a right of return for delivered prodiict

The Company sold its first systems in the year dridiecember 31, 2010. The Company elected to eddptahe new accounting guidance
because it is able to meet the new separationrierii@d has applied it to all applicable revenuaragements entered into or materially modi
beginning January 1, 2010. The adoption of the geidance had an immaterial effect on the finarsialements and on loss per share for the
year ended December 31, 20

The adoption of this guidance did not result irhargye in the Company’s units of accounting or iw lee Company allocates arrangement
consideration to its units of accounting, as thharsgements to which the new accounting guidanagjpdicable were first entered into during
the year ended December 31, 2010.

3. Intangible assets
Intangible assets, consisting of purchased intelidroperty, as of December 31, 2010 and 200%cise the following:

December 31, 201/ December 31, 200!

Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
amount amortization amount amount amortization amount

Patents and tradematr $ 438,03 $ (438,03) $ — $ 438,03. $ (438,03) $ —
Intellectual propert 877,14 (877,140 — 877,14 (877,140 —
Licenses 1,251,511 (1,180,53) 70,98( 1,251,51 (1,081,46) 170,05

$2,566,690 $(2,495,71) $70,98C $2,566,69 $(2,396,63) $170,05:

Licenses have a weighted average remaining ambetizgeriod of 7.5 months as of December 31, 2@H0ortization expense for intangible
assets amounted to $68,247, $164,662 and $1050455%f years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, arl #8&€pectively. Additionally, during
2009, licenses that were used for the manufactucertain of the Company’s consumables were implaitige to the Company outsourcing this
manufacturing process. This resulted in an impamoharge of $549,148 charged to cost of saleadttition, an impairment of $91,105 was
recorded as a general and administrative expessimdied future amortization expense for thesanlies is as follows:

Years Ending December 31

2011 $61,74¢
2012 9,231
Total $70,98(

4. Share-based compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiengxpelated to share options, warrants and riestrétock issued to employees and
directors in exchange for services. The compensatipense is based on the fair value of the awaitish are determined by utilizing various
assumptions regarding the underlying attributethefoptions and shares. The estimated fair valuptibns granted and restricted stock, net of
forfeitures expected to occur during the vestingqak is amortized as compensation expense oragktrine basis over the period the vesting
occurs. The share-based compensation expenseisleeldn cost of sales, sales and marketing, relseard development and general and
administrative expenses based on the employee’s
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respective function. The option and warrant-relaegense is derived from the Black-Scholes Optidcirgy Model that uses several judgment
based variables to calculate the expense. Thedrnipciude the expected life of the option or watrétme expected volatility and other factors.
The compensation expense related to the restrittetl is calculated as the difference betweenahenfarket value of the stock on the date of
grant, less the cost to acquire the shares, whi#0.0001 per share.

On June 3, 2010, the Company exchanged all ofutstanding options under the Osmetech plc 2003 Eg8ity Compensation Plan (the.'S.
Plan”) for options under the 2010 Equity IncentiRlan (the “Plan”). The options were exchanged uamgxchange ratio of 230 options to
purchase shares of Osmetech plc to one share @fdimpany and was accounted for as a modificaticheghare-based payment arrangement
There was no additional compensation cost recorelated to the exchange as there was no change cbnomic value of the options
exchanged.

Employee participation is at the discretion of thenpensation committee or senior management aEtmpany. All options are exercisable at
a price equal to the average closing quoted market of the Company’s shares on the NASDAQ ondéie of grant and generally vest
between 1 and 4 years.

Options are generally exercisable for a periodoup® years after grant and are forfeited if the leyge leaves the Company before the options
vest. As of December 31, 2010, 687,965 shares resdaivailable for future grant of awards underRlen. Restricted stock grants reduce the
amount of stock options available for grant unther2010 Plan and are excluded from the table below.

The following table summarizes stock option acyivtiring the year ended December 31, 2010:

Weighted
average
exercise prict

(translated to

Number of
shares dollars)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 993,21 $ 6.9¢€
Granted 429,30( 5.2¢
Exercisec (21,589 0.37
Cancellec (293,009 (5.4%)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,107,921 $ 6.4(
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 437,39¢ $ 7.1€

The weighted average fair value of options graniieihg 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $5.29, $3.68 andB32iespectively. The intrinsic value
options exercised in 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $536H0 and $3,116, respectively. No options werraged in 2009. As of December 31,
2010, there were 992,565 options that are vestedmected to vest and these options have a rengaiveighted average contractual term of
8.56 years, and an aggregate intrinsic value oO§ions that are exercisable as of December 31) B@ve a remaining weighted average
contractual term of 7.52 years, and an aggregé#iesic value of $0.

Valuation of Share-Based Awards—The Black-Scholes option pricing model was usedegiimating the grant date fair value of stockan
granted during the years ended December 31, 2@09, &nd 2008 with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility (% 70.C 66.7 49.C
Expected life (years 5.91 04 3.C
Risk free rate (% 2.1 2.2 4.6
Expected dividend yield (% 0 0 0
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Share Warrants —During 2009, the Company issued warrants to puehla®2,475 of Osmetech’s ordinary shares with ancése price of
£4.60 per share, and warrants to purchase 88,308mktech’s ordinary shares with an exercise @fid®.90 per share to a director for
services to the Company in connection with theesloffiering completed in 2009. Pursuant to the tesfrthe warrant, the warrant to purchase
132,475 was cancelled upon the closing of the li@he same time, the warrant to purchase 88,3 Jsofietech’s ordinary shares was
converted to a warrant to purchase 88,317 shargedfompany’s common stock at an exercise pri9@&8. These warrants were fully
vested and exercisable upon issue, and shall emntinbe exercisable up to and including the eadi®@ccur of (i) 60 days after the director
leaving the Company'’s board of directors (for whatereason) and (ii) June 30, 2012.

Additionally, Osmetech’s deferred shares, whichenaeated at the time of a 10-for-1 consolidatibardinary shares on September 30, 2005
are excluded from basic and diluted net loss pdinary share. Management considers these shabesdbminimal value. The deferred shares
do not entitle the holder to payment of any dividen other distribution or to receive notice oeatl or vote at any general meeting of
Osmetech. The deferred shares are non transferatitee event of a return of assets on winding UPsmetech, the deferred shareholders
receive 1 pence in respect of their shareholdiritsiantirety.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the coyngiaamted 161,329 shares of restricted stock tolteard members.

The restricted stock granted to the Interim Chieé&itive Officer vests over the twelve month pegoding July 2011 and the restricted stock
granted to our new board member vests over theyfearr period of his board of director’s duties awdr the twelve month period ending
August 2011, for his initial and annual board comgaion grants, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation —Share-based compensation, was recognized in tisolidated statements of operations as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Cost of sale: $ 18,91¢ $ 19,36/ $ 23,24:
Sales and marketir 260,82! 37,34« 44,82¢
Research and developmt 162,06¢ 48,40¢ 58,107
General and administrati\ 1,111,06 1,205,911 (382,395
$1,552,87: $1,311,03: $(256,219

No shar-based compensation was capitalized during thegepresented, and there was no unrecognized teefibeelated to share-based
compensation for the years ended December 31, 2009, and 2008. During 2008, the Company determiingdcertain performance based
criteria for options previously issued to certaxeeutives would not be met. Accordingly, all expesnthat had previously been recognized
reversed. No other options with performance basaditions have been outstanding during the penwdsented. At December 31, 2010, the
estimated total remaining unamortized compensatigrense, net of forfeitures, associated with shased awards was $2,728,305 which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 1.42 years.
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5. Income Taxes
The components of loss before income taxes wefallas/s:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Domestic (U.S. Entities $(18,387,66) $(18,332,64) $(25,585,48)
Foreign (Non U.S. Entities 0 (1,768,73) (2,530,40)

$(18,387,66) $(20,101,37) $(28,115,89)

The components of the income tax expense (beffefifontinuing operations are as follows for thangeended December 31:

2010 2009 2008
Current expense (benefi

U.S. Provisior $ — $(165,339 $ —
State 15,32« 2,872 8,58:
Foreign (Noi-U.S. entities’ — — 180,02:
Total Current 15,32 (162,467 188,60t
Non-current expens

U.S. Provisior — — —
State — 23,691 58,13(
Foreign (Noi-U.S. Entities) — — —
Total Nor-current expens — 23,69 58,13(
Deferred expens

U.S. Provisior — — —
State — — —
Foreign (Noi-U.S. Entities) — — —
Total Deferred Expens — — —
Total Expenst $15,32¢ $(138,770 $246,73¢

The components of net deferred income taxes coofsibe following as of December 31:

2010 2009 2008
Current deferred income tax assets (liabiliti
Compensation Accrua $ 676,35 $ 82,26: $ 95,13¢
Accruals and Reservi 304,70« 568,18 837,66!
State Tax Provisio 10,587 1,251 8,09¢
Federal Benefit of State UT 165,58( — —
Valuation allowanct (1,157,22) (651,709 (940,899
Total current deferred income tax — — —
Noncurrent deferred income tax assets (liabiliti
Depreciation and Amortizatic 960,80¢ 1,068,09 (98,717
Intercompany Interest Expen 1,980,23: 2,140,07! 2,006,30!
NOL and Credit: 8,996,73 34,941,64 26,949,14
Valuation allowanct (11,937,77) (38,149,82) (28,856,74)
Total noncurrent deferred income ta: — — —
Net deferred income tax: $ — $ — $ —
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A reconciliation of income tax (expense) / benffitcontinuing operations to the amount computedjglying the statutory federal income
rate ( the federal rate has been utilized as thmegaay’s main operation are taxed at the federa) tatthe loss from continuing operations is
summarized as follows:

2010 2009 2008
U.S. Federal statutory income tax r 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
Permanent Difference 0.4% (0.1%) (1.€%)
State Taxe (0.1%) (0.1%) (0.2%)
Effect of nor-U.S. Operation (0.C%) (0.5%) (0.5%)
Effective Rate Change n- U.S. (0.C%) (0.7%) (2.1%)
Valuation allowanct (34.4%) (31.£%) (30.5%)
Total tax provisior (0.1%) 0.7% (0.€%)

As of December 31 2010, the Company had net operédss carryforwards of approximately $77.9 milliand $72.6 million for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively. Theselmajsed to offset future taxable income and wifibéo expire in varying amounts through
2030. In addition, the Company has non-U.S. netaijray loss carryforwards of $30.4 million. Becatise Company intends to restructure its
operations during 2011, the non-U.S. net operdtiages and other deferred tax assets have beernedrfrom the Compang’table of deferre
income taxes above.

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places a liraitadn future utilization of the federal and stag¢ operating losses, to the extent that the
Company incurs an ownership change as defined biyoBe382. The Company has determined that it kpergeenced multiple ownership
changes under Section 382. Management has estithateapproximately $24.7 million and $9.5 milliohfederal and state net operating
losses, respectively, can be utilized in the fuhased on limitations that it has calculated urkstion 382. As of December 31, 2010
approximately $10 million of federal net operatingses are available immediately. Additionally,d&al net operating losses ranging from §
million to $2.3 million become available each yddanagement is currently analyzing alternative f@s$ and additional factual information
that may increase the amount of net operating $oss# could subsequently be utilized up to $4lilbam and $24.7 million of federal and
state net operating losses, respectively. To thenéxhat this additional information becomes alal#¢ and could increase net operating losses
available for use, the Company would adjust itedefl tax assets accordingly, with a corresponddjgstment to its valuation

allowance. Utilization of net operating losseslgalependent upon sufficient taxable income geednaithin the appropriate carryforward
periods.

The Company has established a full valuation altoedor its deferred tax assets due to uncertaithiat preclude it from determining that it is
more likely than not that the Company will be atugyenerate sufficient taxable income to realizzhsassets. Management assesses the
available positive and negative evidence to es#nfegufficient future taxable income will be geatd to utilize the existing deferred tax
assets. A significant piece of objective negatividence evaluated was the cumulative loss incuskent the three year period ended
December 31, 2010. Such objective evidence lirhisatility to consider other subjective evidencehsas our projections for future growth.
Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 28%@Juation allowance of $13.1 million has beerorded in order to measure only the
portion of the deferred tax asset that more likkn not will be realized. The amount of the defértax asset considered realizable, however,
could be adjusted if estimates of future taxabé®ime during the carryforward period are reduceifl @jective negative evidence in the form
of cumulative losses is no longer present and gt weight may be given to subjective evidenaghsas our projections for growth.

The Company adopted certain provisions of ASC 7THi@pme Taxes” (previously reported as InterpretatNo. 48 “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—anterpretatiorof FASB Statement No. 10@ich contains a two-step approach to recognizimdyraeasuring
uncertain tax positions. The first step is to eatdu
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the tax position for recognition by determinindgh& weight of available evidence indicates it igenlikely than not, that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of relapgeals or litigation processes, if any. The sé@tap is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount, which is more than 50% likely ahgerealized upon ultimate settlement. Income tasitipns must meet a more likely than
recognition threshold at the effective date todmognized upon the adoption of ASC 740 and in syesg periods. This interpretation also
provides guidance on measurement, derecognitiassiication, interest and penalties, accountingtierim periods, disclosure and transition.

Upon adoption of ASC 740 on January 1, 2007, thexgamy did not have any unrecognized tax benefitactordance with the adoption, a
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amouUnircecognized tax benefits, exclusive of accrurdrest and penalties, is as follows:

2010 2009 2008
Balance at January $382,00( $382,00( $382,00(
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal — — —
Additions for tax positions of prior yea — — —
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: — —
Lapse of statut — — —
Settlement: — — —
Balance at December . $382,00( $382,00( $382,00(

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company clags##86,770 and $463,000, respectively, of totetemgnized tax benefits, which
includes accrued interest and penalties of $104arid0$81,000 for 2010 and 2009, respectively, @mgonent of other long-term liabilities.
This represents the amount of unrecognized taxfiigtieat would, if recognized, reduce the Comparsffective income tax rate in any future
periods. The Company does not expect its unrecednix benefits to change significantly over theti® months. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to uncertain takipas in income tax expense.

The Company is subject to taxation in the UK, U8 warious states jurisdictions. As of December28,0 the Compang’'tax years after 20(
are subject to examination by the UK tax authasitiexcept for net operating losses generated ar pears carrying forward to the current
year, as of December 31, 2010, the Company ismgelosubject to U.S. federal, state, local or fmedxaminations by tax authorities for ye
before 2006.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has various operating lease agreerfwernts office, manufacturing, warehousing and lettory space. Rent and operating
expenses charged were $958,607, $1,124,655 ana8173 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 20@B2008, respectively. Pursuant to
the Companys lease agreements, a portion of the monthly réwatebeen deferred. The balance deferred as ahibece81, 2010 and 2009 w
$133,542 and $186,949, respectively.

Annual future minimum obligations for operatingdea as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Operating
Years Ending December 31, leases
2011 $ 992,47:
2012 565,36:
2013 582,15!
2014 598,94°
2015 617,60t
Thereaftel 1,346,54.
Total minimum lease paymer $4,703,08:
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7. Inventory
Inventory on hand as of December 31, 2010 and 2@239comprised of the following:

2010 2009
Raw material $396,95t $ 38,97
Work-in-proces: 103,01 31,06
Finished good 396,84( 66,93
$896,80¢ $136,96°

The increase in raw materials and finished goodaritory is due to incremental revenue growth aneéritory build-up in anticipation of the
move of the manufacturing facility from PasadenaljfGrnia, to Carlsbad, California.

8. Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment was comprised of the folhgwas of December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Property and equipme—at cost:
Plant and machinel $2,451,77! $2,201,03:
Rental system 2,821,66! 2,073,08:
Office equipmen 1,541,54. 1,079,21.
Leasehold improvemen 597,52: 74,39
Total property and equipmeé—at cosi 7,412,501 5,427,72.
Less accumulated depreciati (4,710,02) (4,046,10)
Net property and equipme $2,702,47 $1,381,61

The depreciation expense amounted to $995,06408442 and $1,052,200 for the years ended Dece&ih&010, 2009 and 2008
respectively.

During 2010, $288,962 of deposits on systems waresterred from other current assets to propertyezjuipment, net. During 2009, $256,909
of systems were transferred out of finished goadsiitory into property and equipment, net. Thesedsfiers were as a result of a change in the
Company'’s strategy from outright sales of system@acing systems with customers for no initialrggaand recovering that cost through the
sale of test cartridges pursuant to reagent ragt@ements.

In 2009, due to the anticipated acceleration ofréhease of future generations of the Company’syets, in particular the NexGen system, the
Company assessed all systems for impairment. Bbesys placed with customers the carrying amountwyiiten down to fair value based on
the projected discounted net cash flows to be geaeéifrom the sale of test cartridges. Systemsikat not expected to generate any future
revenues were impaired to $0. The Company recaadeagregate impairment charge of $865,389 of wb&85,718 was charged to cost of
sales in respect of systems placed with custorfié85959 was charged to research and developmeahsap in respect of systems being used
for research purposes, and $129,712 was chargedes and marketing expenses in respect of sydteimg used for demonstration purposes
only. Additionally in 2009, the Company revised #stimated useful life of systems from 5 to 3 yealthough this did not result in a material
increase in the depreciation charge during the.year

9. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plaareby eligible employees may contribute a peeganof their eligible compensation.
Company contributions are discretionary. Includaagninistrative fees, the
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expense was $78,572, $172,668 and $304,449 foregns ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 ctespye. Additionally, the Company
has made contributions to other defined contribugitans on behalf of its employees amounting to$58,004 and $98,325 for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivelys& bther defined contribution plans were terminétezD10.

10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of caghivalents, accounts receivable, and accountly@yThe carrying amounts of accounts
receivable and accounts payable are considerednalale estimates of their fair value, due to thartsmaturity of these instruments.

Accounting literature provides a fair value hiergrcwhich classifies fair value measurements basetthe inputs used in measuring fair value.
These inputs include: Level 1, defined as obseevatguts such as quoted prices for identical imsénots in active markets; Level 2, defined as
inputs other than quoted prices in active markweds are either directly or indirectly observabledad.evel 3, defined as unobservable inputs for
which little or no market data exists, thereforguieing an entity to develop its own assumptions.

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts reported in the balance slieetash and cash equivalents are stated atfdiemarket
value. Cash and cash equivalents are classifice\ad 1.

Foreign exchange contracts: The Company does not use derivative financial imsénts for speculative or trading purposes. Pa@009, the
Company entered into foreign exchange forward eetdrto hedge certain balance sheet exposuresi@ndampany balances against
movement in foreign exchange rates. Gains anddams¢he foreign exchange contracts were includectérest and other income, net, which
offset foreign exchange gains or losses from ratan of foreign currency-denominated balance shegts and intercompany balances.

The foreign exchange forward contracts requireddbmpany to exchange foreign currencies to U.Sadobr vice versa, and generally mai
in one month or less. As of December 31, 2010, 20@D2008, the Company had outstanding foreignang forward contracts with
aggregate notional amounts of $0, $0 and $6.0anijlliespectively, which had remaining maturitieest than six months. The fair value
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets feigfoexchange contracts is not material.

Non-recurring measurements: The Company measures the fair value of its longdiassets on a periodic basis when it appearshtrat may
be requirement to do so, such as an indicatiompiirment. During the year ended December 31, Z@@®airment indicators required that an
assessment of the fair value of certain intangilslgets and systems. These fair value measuremergsiane on the basis of unobservable
Level 3 inputs, for which little or no market dateists. These inputs included the assumptionstafdicash flows related to the items, and a
discount rate applied to these cash flows. Therasdwcash flows were projected based on managentesstsestimates for the remaining net
cash flows for each item over its the estimatedaieing useful life. Due to the relatively shortfteperiod of future cash flows on these items,
the use of a discount rate did not have a maten&ct on the valuation of these items. Impairmeaterded during the period as a result of
these fair value measurements were $640,253 fangiltle assets (note 3), and $865,389 on the ladygraystems (note 8).

There were no transfers of items between Levelbsdt,3.
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11. Other current assets and liabilities, and othenon-current liabilities consisted of the followingas of December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009

Other current asse

Therapeutic discovery credit receiva $1,645,29: $ —

Deposits and prepaid expen: 290,92( 344,55¢

Tax receivable 256,94 —

Other — 647,62:
Total $2,193,16! $992,18:
Other norcurrent assel

Deposit $ 55,35¢ $ —
Total $ 55,35t $ —
Other current liabilitie:

Accrued professional fet $ 350,09 $544,52:

Rental related liabilitie 330,42 188,07(

Accrued warrantie 179,59: —

Other 389,81 153,43t
Total $1,249,92i $886,03:
Other nor-current liabilities

Liability pertaining to uncertain tax positic $ 486,77( $463,00(

Tax payable 10,51¢ —

Rental related liabilitie 115,64¢ 332,33«
Total $ 612,93 $795,33¢

In July 2010, the Company applied for certificatmfrqualified investments eligible for credits amnts under the qualifying therapeutic
discovery project program for the years ending Dduer 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010. The $1.6omiili grant applications were for
$561,000 of expenditures in 2009 and $1.1 millibexpenditures in 2010.

These development projects included the NexGereB8y&ormerly the “AD-8 system”), K-ras mutation can treatment, Plavix Sensitivity
Drug, Warfarin Sensitivity Test, Thrombophilia Ri$kst, Respiratory Viral Panel and Cystic Fibr@aenotyping. In November 2010, the
company was notified that it had been awardedad ¢6t$1.6 million under the program. As of Decem®g, 2010, the Company recorded the
$1.6 million tax credit as an Other Current Assetthe Balance Sheet with a corresponding credittter Income on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

In February 2011, the Company requested paymemt firne U.S. Department of Treasury, and $1.6 millionash was received.
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12. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2010 Quarters
(in thousands, except per share date

First Second Third Fourth
Total revenue $ 39¢ $ 651 $ 667 $ 787
Gross los: $ (168 $ (212) $ (554 $ (939
Loss from operation $(4,847)  $(5,147)  $(4,929)  $(5,11¢
Net loss $(4,849  $(5,137)  $(4,917)  $(3,500
Per share dati
Net loss per common sh—basic and dilute: $(0.68 $ (060 $(0.42 $(0.30

2009 Quarters
(in thousands, except per share data)

First Second Third Fourth
Total revenus $ 18¢ $ 24¢ $ 25t $ 30¢€
Gross los: $(1,18¢ $ (484 $ (506)  $(1,15%)
Loss from operation $(4,62¢)  $(4,262)  $(5,64¢)  $(5,89¢)
Net loss $(4,144)  $(4,267)  $(5.659  $(5,62¢)
Per share dati
Net loss per common sh—basic and dilute: $ (119 $(10f $ (1139 $(1.09

13. Subsequent Events

In March 2010, the Company entered into a loansaudirity agreement with Square 1 Bank, pursuawhioh the Company obtained a credit
facility consisting of a revolving line of credit the amount of up to $2 million and an equipmenttloan in the amount of up to $2 million.
Based upon certain financial covenants, intereshemevolving line of credit will be either (i)etgreater of (a) the bank’s prime rate (3.25% as
of December 31, 2010) plus 2.75%, or (b) 6%; Qrtkie greater of (a) the bank’s prime rate plu®%yor (b) 7%. In addition, based upon
certain financial covenants, interest on the eqeipnterm loan will be either (i) the greater of {ta@ bank’s prime rate plus 3.25%, or

(b) 6.50%; or (ii) the greater of (a) the bank’sy rate plus 4.25%, or (b) 7.50%. The revolvimglmatures in July 2011 and the term loan
matures in July 2013. As of December 31, 2010Cbmmpany had not drawn any funds under this loansacdrity agreement.

In March 2011, the loan and security agreementamasnded, whereby the line of credit availabilitysvircreased by $1 million to $3 million
and the maturity was extended to July 2012. Tha tean was modified to allow invoices up to 360 sl&y qualify to be submitted for credit
extension. There were no other changes to theséoams.

An additional loan was made available under therated loan and security agreement for up to $1 anilto finance equipment purchases.
Based upon certain financial covenants, intereshisnequipment term loan will be either (i) thegter of (a) the ban&’prime rate plus 3.259
or (b) 6.50%; or (ii) the greater of (a) the banitane rate plus 4.25%, or (b) 7.50%. This terrmlazatures March 2014.

As of March 11, 2011, the Company had no outstanliians on the line of credit and had drawn $2iamlto finance 2010 equipment
purchases and tenant improvements to its Carlsimlkity against the original term loan. The loaratsean interest rate of 7.5%.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Interim Chief Execai®fficer, evaluated the effectiveness of ourldsare controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2010. The term “disclosure controtsocedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) anidl5%e) under the Exchange Act, me
controls and other procedures of a company thatesigned to ensure that information required tdibelosed by us in the reports that we file
or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, meeeé, summarized and reported within the time dergpecified in the SEC’s rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures includthout limitation, controls and procedures desjjteeensure that information required tc
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or siilumder the Exchange Act is accumulated and conicated to our management, including
our Interim Chief Executive Officer, as appropriateallow timely decisions regarding required thsare. In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, managemengmess that any controls and procedures, no miatisrwell designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, asseraihachieving the desired objectives. In reaclimgasonable level of assurance,
management necessarily applies its judgment iruatialy the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatoals and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our Interim Chief Executive Officer etuded that our disclosure controls and procedwese effective as of December 31, 201
the reasonable assurance level.

Exemption from Management’s Report on Internal Contol Over Financial Reporting for the Fiscal Year Erded December 31, 2010

This annual report does not include a report ofagament’s assessment regarding internal contralfowancial reporting or an attestation
report of the Compang'registered public accounting firm due to a tidmsiperiod established by rules of the SEC for lgygwblic companies

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control ovwsairicial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 46d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the quarterly period ended DecerBbeR010 that has materially affected, or is reabty likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting. In theufth quarter of 2010, the Company enhanced igsfifal close and reporting procedures.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 9, 2011, we entered into an amendmentitdoan and security agreement with Square 1 Bank“(oan Agreement”), pursuant to
which we amended the terms of our initial availadd@ipment loan (the “Initial

Equipment Loan”). Under the new terms of the Ihiiguipment Loan, we may request advances for tiehase of equipment and software
approved by Square 1 Bank at any time though J2lY?@11 in an amount not to exceed $2 million sttifi@ certain restrictions.

Pursuant to the amendment, we also agreed to tamrassecond available equipment loan (the “SecapdpEent Loan”). Under the terms of
the Second Equipment Loan, we may request advdoctse purchase of equipment and software apprbyesiquare 1 Bank at any time
through March 9, 2012 in an amount not to exceethiflion subject to certain restrictions.

Interest on any advances under the Initial Equigrhean and the Second Equipment Loan will accrue\ariable annual rate equal to the
greater of (i) the bank’s prime rate plus 3.25%iip16.50%, unless we are not in compliance withtain of our financial covenants under the
Loan Agreement, in which case interest shall acatube greater of (i) the bank’s prime rate plt&5%6, or (ii) 7.50%. Interest on the Initial
Equipment Loan is payable at the beginning of eaohth prior to July 12, 2011, after which principald interest is payable in 24 equal
monthly installments beginning on August 12, 20drbtigh the maturity date. Interest on the Second

Equipment Loan is payable at the beginning of eaohth prior to March 9, 2012, after which principald interest is payable in 24 equal
monthly installments beginning on April 9, 2012dhgh the maturity date.
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PART III.

Certain information required by Part Il is omittdm this report because the Company will fileedinitive proxy statement within 120 days
after the end of its fiscal year pursuant to Retipital 4A (the “Proxy Statement”) for its annual rtieg of stockholders to be held on May 25,
2011, and certain information included in the Pr&tgtement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE
(a) The information required by this item will bet $orth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporéteithis report by reference.

(b) Identification of Executive Officers. Informati concerning our executive officers is set fontlder “Executive Officers” in Part | of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporatedein by reference.

(c) The information required by this item will betgorth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporétetthis report by reference.
(d) The information required by this item will betdorth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporatetthis report by reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our directifficers and employees, which is available onwebsite at www.GenMarkdx.com in the
Investor Information section under “Corporate Gonagrce.” The information on, or that can be accef®ed, our website is not incorporated
by reference into this report.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporatetthigireport by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATERS

The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporateithisireport by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporatetthigireport by reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be setth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporatetthigi report by reference.

Item 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
1. Financial Statements: S“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part Il, ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Forir-K.

2. Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompaigyindex to exhibits are filed or incorporated bference as part of this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 15¢d)lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thgi&eant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, on March 11, 2011.

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

By: /'s/ CHRISTOPHERG LEESON

Name: Christopher Gleeson

Title:  Chairman and Interim Chief Executive
Officer (principal executive officer and
principal financial officer)

March 11, 2011

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgppChristopher

Gleeson, his or her attorneys-fact, each with the power of substitution, for Famher in any and all capacities, to sign any amerts to thi
Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, withibith thereto and other documents in connectioretugh with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming alltteach of said attorneys-in -fact, or his or hdrssitute or substitutes may do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10as been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in thea#ipa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/ s/ CHRISTOPHERG LEESON Chairman of the Board and President and Int March 11, 2011
Christopher Gleeson Chief Executive Officer (principal executive

officer and principal financial officel

/s/ DARYL J. FAULKNER Director March 11, 2011
Daryl J. Faulkner
/sl JAMmESF ox Director March 11, 2011
James Fox
/sl JoNF Az K AYYEM Chief Scientific Officer and Director March 11, 2011

Jon Faiz Kayyem

/s/ KEeviNC C'BoyLE Director March 11, 201:
Kevin C O'Boyle
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Exhibit

Number

11

3.1

3.2

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description of Exhibits
Form of Underwriting Agreement. (incorporated bference to our Registration Statement on Fo-1 (File No. 33-165562
filed with the Commission on May 13, 201

Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refiece to our Registration Statement on Fo-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed
with the Commission on March 19, 201

By-Laws (incorporated by reference to our RegigimaStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562)filvith the
Commission on March 19, 201(

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to oegiRtration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333582 filed with the
Commission on May 13, 201(

Lease between The Campus Carlsbad, LLC and CliMzab Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Diatiossdatec
February 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference toRmgistration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338582) filed with the
Commission on March 19, 201(

Commercial Lease Agreement between Collis P. andafd Huntington Memorial Hospital Trust and Osmat&echnology
Inc., dated March 24, 2008 (incorporated by refeegio our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Rde333-165562) filed
with the Commission on March 19, 201

First Amendment to Commercial Lease Agreement betw@ollis P. and Howard Huntington Memorial Hoslpltaust and
Osmetech Technology Inc., dated February 1, 20@®(porated by reference to our Registration Statgron Form S-1 (File
No. 33:-165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 201

Second Amendment and Termination of Commercial €&aggeement between Collis P. and Howard Huntingfiemorial
Hospital Trust and Osmetech Technology Inc., dtedember 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference toRmgistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 201

Commercial Lease Agreement between Kandamericg,dnd Osmetech Inc., dated August 1, 2005 (incatpd by
reference to our Registration Statement on Fc-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 201

Amendment to Commercial Lease Agreement betweer#maerica, Inc., and Osmetech Inc., dated Marct2Q@8
(incorporated by reference to our Registratione®tgnt on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed wita Commission on
April 20, 2010).

License Agreement by and between California Inttiaf Technology and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inbadsmetec
Molecular Diagnostics, dated February 8, 1995 (ipomated by reference to our Registration Staterorrorm S-1 (File No.
33:-165562) filed with the Commission on May 21, 20164,

Amended and Restated License Agreement by and betReesident and Fellows of Harvard College andi€l Micro
Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular DiagnostatgddJuly 14, 1997 (incorporated by reference tdRmgistration
Statement on Form-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on May 21, 2016).

Exclusive License Agreement by and between Markh€@inic and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dba Osent Moleculal
Diagnostics, dated October 15, 2007 (incorporateceference to our Registration Statement on Fortn(Sle No. 333-
165562) filed with the Commission on May 25, 2016).
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Exhibit
Number

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

Description of Exhibits

Non-Exclusive Patent License Agreement by and betweetJniversity of Washington and Clinical Micro Sens, Inc. dba
Osmetech Molecular Diagnostics, dated Februarn2@87 (incorporated by reference to our Registrafitaiement on Form §-
(File No. 33:-165562) filed with the Commission on May 21, 201®)

Amended and Restated Chemically Modified Enzymedidient License Agreement by and between Rochedultar
Systems, Inc., F. Hoffmaba Roche Ltd., and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dimmetech Molecular Diagnostics, dated Febi
27, 2008 (incorporated by reference to our RedistieStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 3B85562) filed with the Commissi
on May 21, 2010).+

Non-Exclusive License Agreement by and between Theslbtapkins University and Clinical Micro Sensors;.ldba
Osmetech Molecular Diagnostics, dated Decembe2@36 (incorporated by reference to our Registrafitatement on Form S-
1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on May 25, 2016)

License Agreement by and between the Regents dftiheersity of Michigan, HSC Research and Developtiémited
Partnership and Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dben@gch Molecular Diagnostics, dated March 15, 2@@rporated by
reference to our Registration Statement on Fc-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on May 21, 201)

License Agreement by and between HSC Research anel@ment Limited Partnership and Clinical MicrenSors, Inc. db
Osmetech Molecular Diagnostics, dated March 156Z0@:orporated by reference to our Registratiate®hent on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-165562) filed with the Commission on May 25, 201®)

2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeeto our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Rde333-165562) filed
with the Commission on April 20, 2010).

Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated byrefice to our Registration Statement on Fo-1 (File No. 33-165562)
filed with the Commission on April 20, 2010)

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to our RegistraBtatement on Form-1
(File No. 33:-165562) filed with the Commission on March 19, 204!

Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 10 28y and between Osmetech Technology Inc. andrdanKayyem
(incorporated by reference to our Registrationetant on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed wiith Commission on
March 19, 2010).-

Executive Employment Agreement, dated Novembef809, by and between Clinical Micro Sensors, Iita @smetec
Molecular Diagnostics and Steven Kemper (incorpatdity reference to our Registration Statement amF®1 (File No. 333-
165562) filed with the Commission on March 19, 204(

Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 10 20y and between Osmetech Technology Inc., ankdp&inghal
(incorporated by reference to our Registratione®tgnt on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed wite Commission on
March 19, 2010).-

Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 20%@Gnd between Osmetech Technology Inc. and Beliano
(incorporated by reference to our Registratione®tgnt on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165562) filed wite Commission on
March 19, 2010).-

Compromise Agreement, dated August 10, 2009, bybatdeen Osmetech plc and James White (incorpobsteeference to
our Registration Statement on For-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on March 19, 204!
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Exhibit
Number

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

211

23.1
23.2
311

31.2

32.1

Description of Exhibits
Compromise Agreement, dated March 10, 2010, bybatdeen Osmetech plc and David Sandilands (incatedmy reference
to our Registration Statement on For-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on March 19, 204!

Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 12, 2B¢@&nd among Square 1 Bank and Osmetech TechnbiogyClinical
Micro Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Diagessand GenMark Diagnostics, Inc. (incorporateddfgrence to our
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (File No. 33-165562) filed with the Commission on March 19, 20:

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemengdi&@tugust 17, 2010, by and among Square 1 Bankanuktect
Technology, Inc., Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dbametech Molecular Diagnostics, and GenMark Diaticmdnc.

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemetgddaugust 17, 2010, by and among Square 1 BankOantetech
Technology, Inc., Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dbametech Molecular Diagnostics, and GenMark Diaticmdnc.

Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementedi&ugust 17, 2010, by and among Square 1 BanlOantktech
Technology, Inc., Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. dbametech Molecular Diagnostics, and GenMark Diaticmdnc.

Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated Februa®0Qy, by and between Aubrey Group, Inc. and Glinidicro Sensors
Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Diagnostics (incorpamtdty reference to our Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-
165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 2046

First Amendment to Manufacturing Services Agreeméated May 7, 2009, by and between Aubrey Graoup,dnd Clinical
Micro Sensors, Inc. dba Osmetech Molecular Diagosgincorporated by reference to our RegistraBtetement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-165562) filed with the Commission on April 20, 201

List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by referenceuo Registration Statement on Fori-1 (File No. 33.-165562) filed with the
Commission on May 13, 201(

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP (U<
Consent of Deloitte LLP (UK}

Certification of principal executive officer pursudo Rule 13-14(a) and 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amendec

Certification of principal financial officer pursoato Rule 13-14(a) and 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amendec

Certification of the principal executive officerdprincipal financial officer pursuant to Rule 1B4(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.@os¢1350

+ Management Compensation P
++ Confidential Treatment Grante
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Exhibit 10.25

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreen{&itendment”), is entered into as of August 171@0by and between Square 1 Bank
(“Bank”) and Osmetech Technology, Inc. (“OsmeteciClinical Micro Sensors, Inc. (“CMSI”), and Genrkdiagnostics, Inc. (“Genmark”),
(each individually and collectively known as (“Bower”).

RECITALS

Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Laxaah Security Agreement dated as of March 12, 288@Mmended from time to time, the
“Agreement”). The parties desire to amend the Agreat in accordance with the terms of this Amendment

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follo

1)

2)

3)

4)

Section 6.2(i) of the Agreement is hereby amendedrastated, as follow

(i) as soon as available, but in any event witlirddys after the end of each calendar month, a aoynprepared consolidated and
consolidating balance sheet and income statemeetiog Borrower’s operations during such perioda iform reasonably acceptable to
Bank and certified by a Responsible Officer;

Section 6.2(viii) of the Agreement is hereby amehded restated, as follow

(viii) within 45 days of the last day of each fisqaarter, a report signed by Borrower, in forms@aably acceptable to Bank, listi
any applications or registrations that Borrower imasle or filed in respect of any Patents, CopysigintTrademarks and the status of any
outstanding applications or registrations, as aeglany material change in Borrower’s Intellectualgerty Collateral, including but not
limited to any subsequent ownership right of Boreown or to any Trademark, Patent or Copyrightspscified in Exhibits A, B, and C
of any Intellectual Property Security Agreemeniveed to Bank by Borrower in connection with tligreement.

Section 6.2(a) of the Agreement is hereby amendddestated, as follow

(a) Within 45 days after the last day of each mpBthirrower shall deliver to Bank a Borrowing Baseri@ficate signed by a
Responsible Officer in substantially the form othiibit D hereto, together with aged listings by ieodate of accounts receivable and
accounts payable.

Section 6.2(b) of the Agreement is hereby amendedestated, as follow

(b) Within 45 days after the last day of each mopBitrrower shall deliver to Bank with the monthigdncial statements a
Compliance Certificate certified as of the last dayhe applicable month and signed by a Respom$§iificer in substantially the form of
Exhibit E hereto



5)

6)
7

8)

Unless otherwise defined, all initially capizd terms in this Amendment shall be as defingtlénrAgreement. The Agreement, as
amended hereby, shall be and remain in full foreeffect in accordance with its respective ternts lzereby is ratified and confirmed

all respects. Except as expressly set forth hetleinexecution, delivery, and performance of thiseldment shall not operate as a waiver
of, or as an amendment of, any right, power, oregyrof Bank under the Agreement, as in effect godhe date hereof. Borrower

ratifies and reaffirms the continuing effectivenegsll agreements entered into in connection wWithAgreement

Borrower represents and warrants that the reprasens and warranties contained in the Agreementrae and correct as of the date
this Amendment

This Amendment may be executed in two or more aparts, each of which shall be deemed an origmalall of which together she
constitute one instrumer

As a condition to the effectiveness of this A@ent, Bank shall have received, in form and sulzstaatisfactory to Bank, the
following:

a) this Amendment, duly executed by Borrow

b) payment of all Bank Expenses, including Bankganses for the documentation of this Amendmenighkvimay be debited from
any of Borrowe’s accounts; an

c) such other documents and completion of such otlatens, as Bank may reasonably deem necessarpamajate.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executedAmendment as of the first date above written.

OSMETECH TECHNOLOGY, INC

By:

g

Title:

CLINICAL MICRO SENSORS, INC

By:

R

Title:

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

By:

Doy

Title:

SQUARE 1 BANK

By:

Title:




Exhibit 10.2€

SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agre¢ifi@mendment”), is entered into as of SeptemberZ¥.0, by and between Square 1
Bank (“Bank”) and Osmetech Technology, Inc. (“Oseoét’), Clinical Micro Sensors, Inc. (“CMSI”), ande@Bmark Diagnostics, Inc.
(“Genmark”), (each individually and collectively &wn as (“Borrower”).

RECITALS

Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Laxaah Security Agreement dated as of March 12, 288@Mmended from time to time, the
“Agreement”). The parties desire to amend the Agreat in accordance with the terms of this Amendment

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follo

1) The following definitions in Exhibit A to the Agresent are hereby amended and restated, as fol

“Ancillary Services” means any of the following piacts or services requested by Borrower and apdrbyeBank under the
Formula Revolving Line, including: i) corporate ditecard services with aggregate limits equal ttess than $20,000; and ii) without
limitation, Automated Clearing House transactidms,Contracts, Letters of Credit, or other treasmgnagement services.

“Ancillary Services Sublimit” means a sublimit f8ncillary Services under the Formula Revolving Lima to exceed $520,000.

2) Unless otherwise defined, all initially capitalizetms in this Amendment shall be as defined inAgeement. The Agreement,
amended hereby, shall be and remain in full foreeffect in accordance with its respective ternts lzereby is ratified and confirmed
all respects. Except as expressly set forth hetletnexecution, delivery, and performance of thiseldment shall not operate as a waiver
of, or as an amendment of, any right, power, oredyrof Bank under the Agreement, as in effect gndhe date hereof. Borrower
ratifies and reaffirms the continuing effectivene$sll agreements entered into in connection WithAgreement

3) Borrower represents and warrants that the reptasons and warranties contained in the Agreementrue and correct as of the date of
this Amendment

4)  This Amendment may be executed in two or motentarparts, each of which shall be deemed an aligiut all of which together shall
constitute one instrumer

5) As a condition to the effectiveness of this AmendimBank shall have received, in form and substaatisfactory to Bank, tr
following:

a) this Amendment, duly executed by Borrow



b) payment of all Bank Expenses, including Banlgemses for the documentation of this Amendmentaarydrelated documents,
which may be debited from any of Borrov's accounts; an

c) such other documents and completion of such otlatens, as Bank may reasonably deem necessarpapajate.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executedAmendment as of the first date above written.
OSMETECH TECHNOLOGY, INC

| /776;71,

Title: CFO

CLINICAL MICRO SENSORS, INC

By:

75

Title:

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

By:

A7 357/@

Title:

SQUARE 1 BANK
e
]
By:

Title: SVP




Exhibit 10.27

THIRD AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreen{eéiinendment”), is entered into as of March 9, 20y and between SQUARE 1
BANK (“Bank”) and OSMETECH TECHNOLOGY, INC., CLINIEL MICRO SENSORS, INC. and GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC
(each individually, a “Borrower”, and collectivekpown as “Borrower”).

RECITALS

Borrower and Bank are parties to that certain Laxaah Security Agreement dated as of March 12, 288@Mmended from time to time, the
“Agreement”). The parties desire to amend the Agreat in accordance with the terms of this Amendment

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follo

1) Section 2.1(c) of the Agreement is hereby amendedastated in its entirety, as follov
(c) Initial EQuipment Loan .

(i) Subject to and upon the terms and conditions sfAlgreement, Bank agrees to make one (1) or mdel IEquipment
Advances to Borrower. Borrower may request Iniigliipment Advances at any time from the date hetteofigh the Initial Availability
End Date. The aggregate outstanding amount oflritjuipment Advances shall not exceed the In@lipment Loan. Each Initial
Equipment Advance shall not exceed 100% of theicezamount of equipment and software approved mkBam time to time (which
Borrower shall, in any case, have purchased wibid days of the date of the corresponding Init@liEment Advance), excluding tax
shipping, warranty charges, freight discounts awsthilation expense. Initial Equipment Advancedidi®used to support Borrower’s
Equipment purchasing needs.

(i) Interest shall accrue from the date of each InEgliipment Advance at the rate specified in Se@i@(a)(ii), and prior to
the Initial Availability End Date, interest only alhbe payable monthly beginning on the first daftéhe month next following the Initial
Equipment Advance, and continuing on the same flaach month thereafter until the Initial AvailatilEnd Date. Any Initial
Equipment Advances that are outstanding on th&aldailability End Date shall be payable in 24uatjmonthly installments of
principal, plus all accrued and unpaid interesgjitn@ing on the date one (1) month immediately folkg the Initial Availability End
Date, and continuing on the same day of each mthetieafter through the Initial EqQuipment Loan MajubDate, at which time all
amounts due in connection with any Equipment Adeamade under this Section 2.1(c) and any other ataalue under this Agreement
shall be immediately due and payable. Initial Equépt Advances, once repaid, may not be reborroBedower may prepay any Initial
Equipment Advances, in whole or in part, from titogime, without penalty or premium.

(iii) When Borrower desires to obtain an Initial Equipim&dvance, Borrower shall notify Bank (which notisleall be
irrevocable) by facsimile transmission to be reedino later than 3:00 p.m. Eastern time three Bssilbays before the day on which the
Initial Equipment Advance is to be made. Such mosiball be substantially in the form of ExhibitThe notice shall be signed by a
Responsible Officer or its designee and includepy ®f the invoice for any Equipment to be financ



2)

3)
4)

5)

A new Section 2.1(d) is hereby added to the Agregnaes follows:
(d)  Second Equipment Loar.

(i) Subject to and upon the terms and conditions sfAlgreement, Bank agrees to make one (1) or maren8eEquipment
Advances to Borrower. Borrower may request Secandpnent Advances at any time from the date heteofigh the Second
Availability End Date. The aggregate outstandingant of Second Equipment Advances shall not extdee&econd Equipment Loan.
Each Second Equipment Advance shall not exceed Hi@Be invoice amount of equipment and softwaneraped by Bank from time 1
time (which Borrower shall, in any case, have pasgu within 120 days of the date of the correspan8iecond Equipment Advance),
excluding taxes, shipping, warranty charges, frieitibcounts and installation expense. Second Ecgerpidvances shall be used to
support Borrower’s Equipment purchasing needs.

(i) Interest shall accrue from the date of each Se&mpudpment Advance at the rate specified in Se@i@a)(iii), and prior to the
Second Availability End Date, interest only shallgmyable monthly beginning on the first date efrionth next following the Second
Equipment Advance, and continuing on the same flagch month thereafter until the Second Availaplind Date. Any Second
Equipment Advances that are outstanding on ther&keAwailability End Date shall be payable in 24 algmonthly installments of
principal, plus all accrued and unpaid interesgjitn@ing on the date one (1) month immediately folltg the Second Availability End
Date, and continuing on the same day of each nthetieafter through the Second Equipment Loan Mgtlvate, at which time all
amounts due in connection with any Second Equipradméince made under this Section 2.1(d) and angr@mounts due under this
Agreement shall be immediately due and payableoi8EEquipment Advances, once repaid, may not berrelwed. Borrower may
prepay any Second Equipment Advances, in whola pait, from time to time, without penalty or premi.

(iii) When Borrower desires to obtain a Second Equiprdaance, Borrower shall notify Bank (which notideai be irrevocable)
by facsimile transmission to be received no ldtant3:00 p.m. Eastern time three Business Daysé#ie day on which the Second

Equipment Advance is to be made. Such notice bleadlubstantially in the form of Exhibit C. The metishall be signed by a Responsible

Officer or its designee and include a copy of thwice for any Equipment to be financed.
Section 2.3(a)(i) of the Agreement is hereby amdradefollows: References to Section 6.7(b) shall nefer to Section 6.7(b)(i

Section 2.3(a)(ii) of the Agreement is hereby aneehand restated, as follow

(i) Initial Equipment Advances . Except as set forth in Section 2.3(b), if the®uarers are in compliance with Section 6.7(a), then

the Initial Equipment Advances shall bear interestthe outstanding daily balance thereof, at afbég annual rate equal to the greate
(A) 3.25% above the Prime Rate then in effectB)r.50%. Alternatively, except as set forth in 8@t 2.3(b), if the Borrowers are in
compliance with Section 6.7(b)(ii) and are not@mpliance with Section 6.7(a), then, the Equipmfghtances shall bear interest, on the
outstanding daily balance thereof, at a variableuahrate equal to the greater of: (A) 4.25% aktbreePrime Rate then in effect; or
(B) 7.50%.

A new Section 2.3(a)(iii) is hereby added to thegfgment, as follows

(i) Second Equipment Advances Except as set forth in Section 2.3(b), if the®uarers are in compliance with Section 6.7(a),
then the Second Equipment Advances shall beaestiesn the outstanding daily balance thereof varable annual rate equal to the
greater of: (A) 3.25% above the Prime Rate thesffiect; or (B) 6.50%. Alternatively, except as f&®th in Section 2.3(b), if the
Borrowers are in compliance with Section 6.7(b}id are nc



6)

7

8)

in compliance with Section 6.7(a), then, the Sedagdipment Advances shall bear interest, on thetantling daily balance thereof, at a
variable annual rate equal to the greater of: (b% above the Prime Rate then in effect; or (BD%.

Section 2.5(c) of the Agreement is hereby amendeddastated, as follow

(c) Unused FeePaid quarterly in arrears, a fee in the amount25®% of the following calculation: (i) the maximwggregate
amount of the Formula Advances, Initial EquipmedivAnces and Second Equipment Advances availaldertower; less (i) the
amount of the Formula Advances, Equipment AdvaacesSecond Equipment Advances outstanding; pro\idegever, that no fee sh
be due based upon the Initial Equipment AdvancdsSatond Equipment Advances after the Initial Aakaility End Date and the Seco
Availability End date, respectively.

Section 6.6 of the Agreement is hereby amendedestdted, as follow:

6.6“ Primary Depository”. Subject to the provisions of Section 3.1(k) andt3.2prior to December 31, 2010, Borrower shall
maintain all its operating accounts with Bank ahttast 50% of Borrower’s total Cash shall be rmaiimed in accounts with Bank.

Section 6.7 of the Agreement is hereby amendedestdted, as follow:
6.7 Financial CovenantsBorrower shall at all times maintain the financiios and covenants, as follows:
(a) Liquidity Ratio . A Liquidity Ratio of at least 1.50 to 1.00R

(b)(i) Current Ratio . At all times when any amount is outstanding parguo the Formula Revolving Line, a minimum
Current Ratio of at least 1.50 to 1.G0ND

(if) Cash Burn. At all times when any amount is outstanding purst@the Initial Equipment Loan or the Second
Equipment Loan, measured on a trailing three-mobésss, a Cash Burn of not more than the amountsrsin the table
immediately below for the corresponding monthlyaetimg period. Amounts required by this covenamtX012 shall be reasonably
set by Bank (and incorporated herein by an amenthereto, which Borrower hereby agrees to promgtigcute) based upon
Borrowers’ 2012 budget, which shall be approvedbyrowers’ boards of directors, as applicable, delivered to Bank no later
than November 30, 2011.

Jar-11 $7,611,82!
Fek-11 $7,072,67.
Mar-11 $7,293,39;
Apr-11 $7,102,14!
May-11 $7,358,12.
Jur-11 $6,768,76!
Jul-11 $6,752,99.
Aug-11 $6,282,01.
Sef-11 $5,703,00:
Oci-11 $4,599,70:
Nov-11 $4,272,00!
Dec-11 $3,652,23!




9) The following definitions in Exhibit A to the Agregent are hereby amended and restated, as fol

“Formula Revolving Line” means a Credit Extensidrup to $3,000,000 (inclusive of any amounts oudiiag under the Ancillary
Services Sublimit).

“Formula Revolving Maturity Date” means July 12120

10) The following definitions are hereby added to Extwbto the Agreement
“Initial Availability End Date” means July 12, 2011
“Initial Equipment Advance(s)” means a cash advamceash advances under the Initial Equipment Loan.

“Initial Equipment Loan” means a Credit Extensidrup to $2,000,000 in the aggregate, subject taeh#ictions that: (i) no more
than $800,000 may be advanced to finance licensedtig bio-markers; (ii) no more than $1,500,00§¢ ima advanced to finance
leasehold improvements or other new building-relat@pital expenditures.

“Initial Equipment Loan Maturity Date” means Julg,12013.
“Second Equipment Advance(s)” means a cash adwancash advances under the Second Equipment Loan.

“Second Equipment Loartheans a Credit Extension of up to $1,000,000 iratigregate, subject to the restrictions that: dijnmore
than $500,000 may be advanced to finance licensadtg bio-markers; (ii) no more than $1,000,00¢ i advanced to finance
leasehold improvements or other new building-relat@pital expenditures.

“Second Availability End Date” means March 9, 2012.
“Second Equipment Loan Maturity Date” means MarcB@®@L4.

11) The following definitions in Exhibit A to the Agregent are hereby delete

“Availability End Date”
“Equipment Loan”
“Equipment Maturity Date”
“Equipment Advances”

12) Unless otherwise defined, all initially capited terms in this Amendment shall be as defingtiénAgreement. The Agreement, as
amended hereby, shall be and remain in full formeffect in accordance with its respective ternmd lzereby is ratified and confirmed
all respects. Except as expressly set forth hetieinexecution, delivery, and performance of thiselhdment shall not operate as a waiver
of, or as an amendment of, any right, power, oredyrof Bank under the Agreement, as in effect gndhe date hereof. Borrower
ratifies and reaffirms the continuing effectivenegsll agreements entered into in connection withAgreement

13) Borrower represents and warrants that the septations and warranties contained in the Agreéearertrue and correct as of the date of
this Amendment

14) This Amendment may be executed in two or moreterparts, each of which shall be deemed annadigbut all of which together shall
constitute one instrumer



15) As a condition to the effectiveness of this Awiment, Bank shall have received, in form and sulzst satisfactory to Bank, the
following:

a) this Amendment, duly executed by Borrow

b) an officer’s certificate of each Borrower wittspect to incumbency and resolutions authoriziegettecution and delivery of this
Amendment

c) a Facility Fee of $10,00(

d) payment of all Bank Expenses, including B's expenses for the documentation of this Amendmedtany related documen
which may be debited from any of Borrov's accounts; an

e) such other documents and completion of such otlatens, as Bank may reasonably deem necessarpmpajate.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executedAmendment as of the first date above written.

OSMETECH TECHNOLOGY, INC

By: /s/ Jon Faiz Kayyer

Title: Presiden

CLINICAL MICRO SENSORS, INC

By: /s/ Jon Faiz Kayyer

Title: Presiden

GENMARK DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

By: /s/ Christopher Gleesc

Title: Chief Executive Office

SQUARE 1 BANK

By: /s/ Scott Foot

Title: Senior Vice Presider




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®esgion Statement No. 333-168892 on Form S-8uwfreport dated March 11, 2011,
relating to the consolidated financial statemeftS@nMark Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries (folgpn®smetech plc and subsidiaries),

appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of @ank Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries (formerfgnt@tech plc and subsidiaries) for the
year ended December 31, 20

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Diego, CA
March 11, 2011



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-168892 on Form S-8uwfreport dated March 19, 2010
relating to the consolidated financial statemefit®g&metech plc, and subsidiaries, appearing inAhisual Report on Form 10-K of Genmark
Diagnostics, Inc. and subsidiaries for the yearedndecember 31, 2010.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

St. Albans, United Kingdom
March 11, 2011



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, Christopher Gleeson, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitade a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this
report;

4. | am responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as definékahange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isig prepared

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period covgyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during tht
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesigethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a sgmifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 11, 2011

/s Christopher Gleeson
Christopher Gleesao

Interim Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Christopher Gleeson, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of GenMark Diagnostics, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitade a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe@ periods presented in this
report;

4. | am responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as definékahange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isig prepared

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period covgydhis report based on
such evaluation; an

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regi’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during tht
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesigethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrbgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a sgmifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 11, 2011

/sl Christopher Gleeson
Christopher Gleesao

Interim Chief Executive Officer
(principal financial officer’




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GenMark ghastics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for fireral year ended December
31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchadgmmission (the “Report”), Christopher Gleesometim Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section B Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

The information in the Report fairly presents, inaaterial respects, the financial condition aaduits of operations of tt
Company.

Date: March 11, 2011

/sl Christopher Gleesc
Christopher Gleeson

Interim Chief Executive Officer (principal execugiv
officer and principal financial officel




